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CLARKE, Mr Colin F, Private Capacity 

CURNOW, Mr Bill, President, Cyclists' Rights Action Group 

GILLHAM, Mr Christopher Raymond, Private Capacity 

RISSEL, Professor Chris, Private Capacity 

Committee met at 09:01 

Evidence from Mr Gillham and Professor Rissel was taken via teleconference— 

CHAIR (Senator Leyonhjelm):  I declare open this hearing of the Senate Economics References Committee's 

inquiry into personal choice and community impacts. The committee has appointed a subcommittee for the 

purpose of inquiry hearings. The Senate referred this inquiry to the committee on 25 June 2015 for report by 13 

June 2016. The committee has received and published 432 submissions as of today, which are available on the 

committee's website. These are public proceedings, although the committee may determine or agree to a request 

to have evidence heard in camera. I remind all witnesses that in giving evidence to the committee, they are 

protected by parliamentary privilege. It is unlawful for anyone to threaten or disadvantage a witness on account of 

evidence given to a committee. Such action may be treated by the Senate as a contempt. It is also a contempt to 

give false or misleading evidence to a committee. If a witness objects to answering a question, the witness should 

state the ground upon which the objection is taken and the committee will determine whether it will insist on an 

answer, having regard to the ground which is claimed. If the committee determines to insist on an answer, a 

witness may request that the answer be given in camera. Such a request may also be made at any other time. I ask 

everyone to ensure they have switched off or turned to silent their mobile phones. 

I now welcome Mr Colin Clarke; Mr Bill Curnow, from Cyclists' Rights Action Group; Professor Chris Rissel, 

via teleconference; and Mr Chris Gillham, via teleconference. Mr Clarke, I would like to remind you that 

protection of parliamentary privilege in the Australian Parliament cannot be guaranteed to jurisdictions outside of 

Australia. Your evidence should be made knowing the inability of the Australian Senate to protect you outside of 

the Australian jurisdiction. Is there anything any of you would like to add to the capacity in which you appear 

today? 

Mr Clarke:  I am an experienced cyclist who has written several reports on cycle helmets; I have investigated 

it for a period of about 25 years. The New Zealand Medical Journal published an article that I produced 

evaluating New Zealand's helmet laws, and I have also done an evaluation of the Australian helmet laws. This 

was provided to a conference in London this year. 

Mr Curnow:  I am the author of five papers published in reputable journals concerning the law that compels 

cyclists to wear helmets. 

Prof. Rissel:  I have been an active public health researcher and have published approximately 50 research 

papers and commentaries around cycling in general, a number of which are specifically focused on the helmet 

legislation. 

Mr Gillham:  I have been a journalist throughout my life. I set up one of the main helmet law websites, about 

20 years ago, and have had a couple of published papers on the issue. 

CHAIR:  Thank you each for appearing today. I will now ask each of you to make, if you wish to, a brief 

opening statement before we proceed to questions. Please keep your statements relatively brief so that we can 

then get into asking you about aspects that are relevant to the committee.  

Mr Clarke:  My cycling experience goes back to about 1960. I was a racing cyclist and then I did about 30 

years experience of cycling in many countries prior to Australia introducing the legislation. I was living in 

Victoria at the time, so I took a keen interest in the effects of the legislation. In principle, I was opposed to 

reducing choice. I was very much in favour of allowing people choice. That was based on my experience as a 

cyclist. From the legislation being introduced, I have followed it in some detail, roughly up to today. So I have 

followed it for 25 years, through the research papers published. So I have a fairly good understanding of prior to 

legislation and after legislation and the consequences of such. 

Mr Curnow:  Few people in Australia understand that laws to compel them to protect themselves, with no 

harm to others, contravene longstanding practice. Liberal democracies generally leave protection of one's own 

person to the instinct of self-preservation, the functions of public authority being to advise and to set safety 

standards. We ask how well Australian authorities have performed these functions. We identify three critical 

requirements for enacting the world's first bicycle helmet laws. First is evidence of worsening risk of severe head 

injury. But, in the three years before the laws, serious casualties did not keep up with the strong increase in 
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cycling. Second is certain knowledge that helmets prevent and never aggravate head injury. A 1985 federal 

parliamentary report emphasised the dreadful consequences of death or permanent incapacity from head injury, to 

use their words. It recommended compulsory helmets and a mandatory standard for them, subject to research on 

their capabilities for ventilation. But the research, by Corner et al in 1987, reported that the standard tests of 

helmets were deficient in merely protecting against a direct blow but not reducing rotation of the head from 

oblique impact, and it is the main cause of fatal and disabling brain injury. Worse, Corner's experiments found 

that a helmet on a dummy head could increase rotation. Despite similar findings since in the USA and UK, this 

defect in standard helmets remains. Helmets are therefore likely to increase the risk of severe brain injury, and 

statistics for fatal head injuries to cyclists suggest that this did occur after the helmet laws. 

Third is monitoring for adverse effects such as discouragement of cycling. Official monitoring has focused on 

helmet wearing and has varied from state to state. No effort has been made to measure discouragement of cycling, 

but evidence of it has emerged. One published estimate is that child cycling in Australia declined by 40 per cent. 

The data are insufficient to make a similar estimate for adult cyclists, but 29 per cent fewer were observed in 

Melbourne after the law. This completes my opening statement. 

CHAIR:  Thank you Mr Curnow. Professor Rissel? 

Prof. Rissel:  Thank you. My interest is around the health benefits associated with physical activity from 

cycling. My research into the legislation led me to believe that the legislation was a deterrent to more people 

cycling and did not achieve the health benefits from injury reduction over and above downward trends that had 

occurred long before the legislation had been introduced, and that the legislation was ineffective in reducing head 

injuries to the extent that it would be desirable from public policy and had a negative effect in terms of the health 

impact on the population's level of physical activity by discouraging cycling. These are both negative 

consequences from a health perspective. 

CHAIR:  Is that the end of your statement? 

Prof. Rissel:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Mr Gillham? 

Mr Gillham:  I would like to thank the committee for allowing me to comment on how government regulation 

of personal choice can cause collateral damage and harm the public, in this case through bike helmet laws. I have 

been researching the laws for well over 20 years because, in the mid-1990s, it became clear in WA, the eastern 

states and overseas helmet jurisdictions that compulsion both severely discouraged regular recreational exercise 

and led to an approximate 30 per cent increase in the ratio of all body injuries per cyclist. Participation numbers 

had plunged in WA, and it became clear this was not just an issue of liberty; it was also a question of public 

health and road safety.  

Helmet law supporters are constantly ignoring or cherry picking the participation data, usually with what I 

would call questionable survey findings from South Australia and Melbourne. But most legitimate surveys in 

Australia and New Zealand show big downturns. The charts in my submission show ABS estimates of the 

recreational cycling decline, which was particularly significant in 1994. Senators who have read submissions 

claiming that Australians' cycling participation is increasing should understand that these are based on surveys 

since the early 1990s reduction in numbers. They simply show that we have been recovering from the huge 

downturn, albeit way below population growth.  

You should also be aware that in WA—and, I suspect, in most states—police enforcement of the helmet law 

declined around the year 2000, and many of the cyclists counted in surveys since then have not been wearing 

helmets. In other words, a fair bit of Australia's cycling growth since the year 2000 has been due to law breakers 

wanting to enjoy some exercise.  

About 30 to 40 per cent of Perth cyclists are nowadays without helmets, yet the experts say 20 to 25 per cent of 

seriously injured cyclists are not wearing a helmet when they crash. That suggests cyclists without helmets are 

less likely to suffer serious injury. In other words, they are less likely to have a crash in the first place, possibly 

because they ride more safely. Incidentally, an important new study by psychologists from the University of Bath 

in the UK has been released over just the last couple of days. Again, it shows that people take more risks when 

they ride a bike with, rather than without, a helmet. 

None of the studies concerning risk compensation is overstated or misleading. Cyclists as a proportion of all 

road crash injuries in Australia have increased by about 80 to 90 per cent over the past 20 years, and that surely 
indicates that something is wrong. The ABS data show about half a million people around Australia gave up 

cycling from 1994 until the late 1990s. So when the pro-law evidence suggests, for example, a 29 per cent 

reduction in head injuries in New South Wales in the 18 months after the law's enforcement, Senators should 
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realise that that is pretty similar to the reduction in cycling in New South Wales. In fact, students cycling to New 

South Wales schools dropped by 47 per cent from 1991 to 1993, with female high school students down by 90.6 

per cent. In Victoria child cycling dropped by 36 per cent and child cyclists head injuries dropped by 32 per cent.  

It is also important to be aware that survey results from a couple of years before and after the law are not 

particularly relevant to what has happened since then with cyclist numbers. For example, evidence in a 

submission received by this committee shows that in WA the percentage of the population that cycled at least 

once weekly was 27.7 per cent in 1993; however, the National Cycling Participation Survey for 2015 shows just 

23 per cent of West Australians are now cycling, which is the highest percentage of any Australian state. It is still 

less than the Northern Territory, where adults are exempt from the law on bike paths. The pro-law submission 

shows that in South Australia 21 per cent cycled weekly in 1993. The national cycling participation survey this 

year shows 16.6 per cent of the South Australian population cycles weekly. If you do the numbers, if the 1993 

percentages were the same this year, there would be about 195,000 more cyclists as a population percentage in 

just South Australia and Western Australia. Trends are similar in other states. If you multiply the population by 

five, it would be about one million more Australians cycling at least once a week if helmets were not required. 

Incidentally, most of these people instead drive their cars and endanger all road users through increased traffic 

density and congestion.  

Unfortunately groups such as the AMA claim cyclist numbers have recovered quickly to pre-law levels, and, 

quite simply, that is wrong. This year's National Cycling Participation Survey shows a downturn in cyclist 

numbers since 2011, yet the latest report from the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare shows national 

cyclist injuries increased from 9000 in 2011 to more than 10,000 in 2013, which is the highest ever and 34 per 

cent more than the year before Australia's first helmet law.  

There have been a huge number of public submissions to this inquiry, and the vast majority have been against 

helmet laws with many people saying they gave up cycling when the law was introduced. An eyeball estimate 

across metropolitan Perth would suggest that at least a third of cyclists do not wear helmets. They all know they 

are breaking the law and that they might be confronted by police and yet they still do it. They are the ones brave 

enough to defy the law. It is sensible to assume that many more do not want to take the risk with police and so 

they simply do not cycle. Anybody who claims that helmet laws do not turn a huge number of people off cycling, 

quite frankly, needs to have their eyesight checked. Australia's bike share failure is blamed by everybody on 

helmet laws which have been discouraging cycling exercise for 25 years. Claims to the contrary by law supporters 

are clearly nonsense. Australia's pro-law groups have been in denial about cycling participation rates for many 

years, presumably to prop up their injury figures.  

I hope that this committee will be able to see beyond that. The helmet laws are an acknowledged failure for 

personal freedom and also a total failure for public health and from road safety after 25 years. More overseas 

jurisdictions have repealed, rather than enacted, adult helmet laws and most countries have rejected helmet laws 

because of Australia's disastrous results. Yet in this country the disaster is ignored or accepted because, I suppose, 

emotional TV and newspaper stories are more powerful than a library of statistics showing the damage being 

caused. As I said in my submission, I think helmet laws are a major failure of public policy and show the damage 

caused when governments interfere with personal choices that do not affect or harm other people. I thank the 

committee for allowing me to explain just a few of the facts. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Thank you, Mr Gilham, and thank you all for your evidence. It is a very interesting 

issue. I will ask a threshold question to all of you, because all of you have read and done more research than 

David or me. Most of you seem to say you are bike riders yourselves. Individually, would you, when you go out 

for a ride, wear a bike helmet? 

Mr Clarke:  In Australia I would, to avoid being— 

Senator CANAVAN:  We are not going to prosecute you! Putting aside any laws or restrictions, knowing 

what you know about the evidence, would you were a bike helmet, if you had the choice? I am not saying 'Do 

you?' 

Mr Clarke:  I ride regularly in the UK; I do not wear a bike helmet. 

Mr Curnow:  No, I never wear a helmet. And I have not had to pay any fines. I think the police in the ACT, 

where I live, are not keen to enforce the law, perhaps because we have mounted resistance to it—demonstrations 

and writing lots of letters to ministers and so on. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Professor Rissel, would you wear a bike helmet? 

Prof. Rissel:  I stopped wearing a bike helmet in 2011 when I made public statements about it and have not 

worn a helmet since. But I recognise there might be some circumstances where it might be desirable to wear one, 
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such as if I were going mountain biking or in other fairly high-risk scenarios. No, I have not worn one for the last 

four years. 

Mr Gilham:  I cycled, regularly, as a child. I think I was 29 when the helmet law came in. I have not ridden a 

bike since then. Bike helmets, I simply found, were too uncomfortable and too inconvenient and I respect my own 

liberty. No, I have not ridden a bicycle since the law was introduced. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I go to Mr Curnot's evidence about mandatory laws increasing traumatic brain injuries. 

I think you are saying it is not the inherent design feature of a particular helmet causing more injuries but the 

influence on the behaviour of the cyclists and, presumably, car drivers and others after the laws came into effect. 

Is that a fair summary of your evidence or are their design features of helmets that are contributing to injuries, in 

certain circumstances? 

Mr Curnow:  Yes, thank you. It is a national disgrace that authorities did not properly investigate the efficacy 

of helmets against brain injury before helmet laws were introduced. This is, as Senator Canavan suggested, a fault 

in the design of helmets. The reason is that helmets have traditionally been used—as everybody knows—by 

soldiers to protect themselves from bullets, by mineworkers to protect themselves from falling rocks and the like, 

and by anybody who is likely to be struck by some— 

Senator CANAVAN:  Projectiles, I would suggest. 

Mr Curnow:  projectile. The critical difference between that and cycling is that those projectiles are, 

generally, light in weight and do not have very much effect in causing rotation. It is well known that people—

soldiers, in particular, who have suffered a bullet going through the head, often do not have concussion. They 

have a punctured skull and other damage from the bullet, but they do not have concussion because they are not 

subject to rotation. This is because it is a very light, fast-moving object and it does not have much momentum. 

But when it is a cyclist, the whole weight of a cyclist is behind any fall in which the cyclist might strike his or her 

head on the pavement or whatever else. So it is a slower-moving but much heavier cause—which is the weight of 

the cyclist—of the injury and it is causing the rotation of the head. 

I have explained this sort of thing in considerable detail in my book chapter which is part of the Cyclists Rights 

Action Group's submission. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Can I just be clear, though? Are you saying that helmets are ineffective? 

Mr Curnow:  Yes they are. 

Senator CANAVAN:  They do not contribute, though? They do not make it worse—relative to not wearing a 

helmet? Does wearing a helmet— 

Mr Curnow:  They can make it worse. 

Senator CANAVAN:  They can make it worse? Explain to me how it makes it worse in a scientific way, from 

the data, or in a theoretical way. 

Mr Curnow:  Right. The first thing to realise is that the most serious brain injury is caused by rapid rotation of 

the head, not by a direct blow. For centuries it was thought to be just a direct blow that caused serious head 

injuries such as coma or severe concussion, known these days as 'diffuse axonal injury'. It is the stretching of the 

axons that link the cells in the brain. That theory was debunked in the middle of the 20th century during the time 

of World War II. Research was first done at that time. This is all explained to the best of my ability in my book 

chapter included in the submission. 

How this happened: one thing is that the addition of a helmet to a head increases the mass of the head. In 

effect, it increases the size of the head. If somebody strikes his or her head against a surface in an accident, that 

extra weight will mean an increase in rotation. And if— 

Senator CANAVAN:  What do you mean by 'rotation'? 

Mr Curnow:  An oblique blow, which instead of going directly to the head goes sideways and makes the head 

rotate. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Right. 

Mr Curnow:  Very rapidly—these things are measured in thousandths of a second. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Okay. 

Mr Curnow:  This has been ignored in the testing of helmets. They have just been tested according to 

measuring the force of a direct blow. But that is not an important factor in serious injury to the brain that leads to 

death or loss of intellectual ability. 
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CHAIR:  Mr Curnow, have you also looked at this in the context of motorcycle helmets, or is it just bicycle 

helmets that you think this applies to? 

Mr Curnow:  I have not looked into it with respect to motorcycle helmets, but the parliamentary committee 

that I referred to in my opening statement did. That was an inquiry into motorcycle and bicycle safety. They went 

into that with motorcycle helmets. There is a difference there. Motorcycle helmets have hard shells; they are 

comparatively heavy. Modern bicycle helmets are much lighter. They are composed, in the main, of polystyrene 

and plastic. And they have lots of holes for ventilation; you see people going along, and the helmet is just full of 

holes. If any of those holes happen to hit on a rough surface or a bitumen road, that will tend to grip and twist—

and it is the twisting action which causes serious brain injury. A motorcycle helmet, in particular, with its hard 

shell, will give some protection for the skull. It will save you from fracturing your skull. But that is at the cost of 

increased risk of diffuse injury to the cells of the brain, which is the very dangerous one. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Did anyone else want to say anything? 

Mr Clarke:  I would just like to add to that. Your occasional brain damage, diffuse axonal injury, is a 

combination of the high impact acceleration and the duration of the impact. The highest level of rotational 

acceleration found in one report was due to hitting the central vent on a helmet. That was 20,000 radians per 

second per second. So it is this combination. Wearing a helmet might decrease the acceleration level but it 

increases the duration of the impact, and the product of the duration of impact and the level of rotational 

acceleration leads to the brain damage. Graphs were produced on brain injury that detail that sort of information. 

The extra combination of the increased size of the helmet means you are more likely to hit the helmet when you 

do fall off, and the coefficient of the helmet is higher than your natural hair so it is tending to grip the surface 

more than natural hair would. So you have really three or four combinations there: the coefficient of friction, the 

increased diameter and the increased duration of the impact and the more likely impact. I think Dorothy 

Robinson's paper explains. She refers to information regarding the extra number of impacts helmet wearers report 

compared with non helmet wearers. So the increased risk could come about via all these combined factors. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Mr Gillham, I believe you have looked at the impact these laws have had on behaviour. 

Thanks to Mr Curnow and Mr Clarke, I am clear as to where your evidence is coming from on the design of the 

helmets. You have looked at whether or not introducing mandatory helmets has had an impact on how people ride 

and the risks they take—is that correct? Can you explain that a bit to us? 

Mr Gillham:  Yes. I have studied the many reports issued around the world looking at the question of risk 

compensation. It is simply a case of: when people put on a helmet—not just in bike riding but in many 

activities—it gives, shall we say, a subconscious level of confidence in what they do. In other words, they ride 

more quickly; they take a few more risks. Most cyclists will deny that, but unfortunately the statistics keep on 

showing it. As I mentioned earlier, the University of Bath is now having a paper published supporting exactly 

that—making the point that helmet wearing cyclists take more risks—do more 'sensation riding'; I think they 

describe it as in that the report. So it is simply a case of confidence in your own safety because the helmet will be 

there to protect you if you have an accident. That is one of various reasons and possibly the most likely reason 

why the ratio of crashes increased after the laws were introduced in the different Australian states. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Is there any evidence on what drivers of cars or what other cyclists around cyclists do? 

Is their behaviour influenced? 

Mr Gillham:  Actually, just last week a lycra-wearing cyclist pointed out to me that many discouraged 

children from the 1990s—and, as I mentioned earlier, huge numbers of children stopped cycling—have now 

grown up, and they now drive a tonne of metal. This lycra cyclist—one of those guys you see riding around in the 

pelotons and the groups that do the cafe runs, shall we say—said that these grown-up, discouraged children who 

are now driving have little knowledge of cyclist behaviour and how to drive safely or with respect near them, 

because they did not grow up understanding the dangers that are involved in riding a bicycle. Not that there are 

that many dangers in riding a bicycle, but they are not familiar with it.  

Prof. Rissel:  May I add something at this point? There was some research done in the UK by Ian Walker, who 

did trial how close drivers drove to him when he was wearing a helmet or not wearing a helmet, or even wearing a 

wig to be dressed as a female. He found that, when he wore a helmet, drivers drove closer to him and indeed he 

was hit a couple of times. The thing about helmets and driver behaviour is that it is part of the depersonalising 

uniform that you see with the whole lycra style. It is part of the set: you wear your shoes, your knicks, your 

helmet, your gloves and your glasses. You become less of a recognisable person; whereas, without a helmet and 

dressed in normal clothes the drivers relate to another human more like a pedestrian, and the interactions are far 

more polite. It is a different sort of interaction when you have not got your head covered with a helmet. 
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Mr Gillham:  It is also a question of safety in numbers. Research consistently shows that when motorists 

simply become more familiar with seeing cyclists on the road, they learn how to avoid them. I suppose that is the 

best way to put it. When the numbers are low, and participation has been very weak in this country for 20 or 25 

years, motorists just are not used to having cyclists on the road. 

CHAIR:  Mr Gillham, you make a point about the reduction in cycling, and I think your bottom line was that 

there would be a million more cyclists if there were no helmets. It is hard to disagree that cycling is no longer a 

popular way to get to school, but how much of a causation factor can you claim, rather than a correlation factor, 

given other variables that might be involved in kids not cycling to school—for example, the perception of stranger 

danger, bicycle thefts, fashion amongst teenagers, especially girls, and all that sort of thing. Are you able to go 

beyond correlation? 

Mr Gillham:  The ABS data does show that huge plunge in 1994. The survey series by the ABS did not start 

until 1993, so we are missing the year or two before that, and I would be pretty confident that it would show a 

decline since Victoria introduced the first law. In 1994 the impact hit, and what else can we blame? It took a 

couple of years for people to become aware of and realise that they really would be punished by the police for 

going out on their bicycle, and in 1994 the impact hit. Apart from that, of course, you just listen to people, read 

the submissions, do this inquiry itself, with people saying exactly why they gave up cycling. And I think to say 

that it might be other things, such as bicycle theft, versus what very large numbers of people have been saying for 

25 years, is to turn a blind eye to the obvious. I find it very difficult to find any other reason that there would be 

that correlation or that coincidence between the decline in numbers and the introduction of the helmet laws. It is 

also the case in New Zealand and in other countries, where child helmet laws have been introduced. They have 

also recorded strong declines in participation once the law is in place. And, as I said, I think it is difficult to blame 

anything apart from the legislation itself. 

CHAIR:  Mr Clarke, you have made some points in relation to young cyclists and female cyclists in your 

submission. Do your views correspond to Mr Gillham's? 

Mr Clarke:  Yes. Regarding teenagers, in Melbourne surveys from 1991, the first survey showed 30 more 

teenagers wearing helmets and 623 fewer riding. You can see the effects of the legislation from those figures—a 

dramatic drop in the number riding compared with the lower number wearing helmets. It was a similar proportion 

for New South Wales—a 44 per cent drop in teenagers. I think the number went down from some 6,700 to some 

3,700. So, there was a massive reduction coinciding with the helmet legislation. Similar results appeared in New 

Zealand, with a large drop in cycling levels. For rural New South Wales, the adult figures went down from 2,650 

to 1,660 from 1990 to 1993. So, you have this large drop coinciding with the high level of fines being imposed. In 

Victoria they imposed 19,000-plus fines in the first 12 months. 

Individuals I know have mentioned that they have stopped cycling, and some have been very upset by the 

helmet legislation at a personal level. When people you know have told you that they have reduced their cycling 

because of the helmet law, and the numbers all coincide with the helmet law, it is quite clear. The helmet law here 

is having a very negative effect. 

CHAIR:  In your submission, Mr Clarke, you have a couple of statements that you have referenced: 

Approximately six times more pedestrians and 20 times more motor vehicle occupants suffer lethal head injuries than 

cyclists. 

I am just wondering: if the logic of the risk of head injuries is applied equally, would it make equal sense for 

motor vehicle occupants and pedestrians to wear helmets? 

Mr Clarke:  On paper it may do, but in practice I do not think either would appreciate the imposition. You 

could compare the car drivers to racing car drivers and say that they wear helmets, but the general population 

would not wish that imposition to be imposed on them. A cyclist and a pedestrian are both using their own steam, 

so to speak, to get around, and they have similar risks, in proportion, of head injuries. Cyclists may be more at a 

disadvantage: they have to ride up hills and get hot. If you were just walking with a helmet on it would not be so 

bad. 

CHAIR:  Professor Rissel, your submission includes a bit around the health benefits of cycling and how 

people who are deterred from cycling are missing out on these. If you were to develop an equation, if you like, for 

net health effects as a consequence of the helmet legislation and the impact it has had on behaviour, how would 

you develop such an equation? 

Prof. Rissel:  There are a number of international studies that have looked at the health benefits versus the 

injury risk associated with cycling. I have a table and a new book chapter coming out, and I can tell you that there 

are eight such studies. Each of them has concluded that the ratio of benefits from the activity relative to risk is in 
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the order of—the lowest is nine to one, and they go up as high as 24 to one. The health benefits of cycling relative 

to risk are many times that of injury risk. A couple of studies have specifically looked at the introduction of 

helmet legislation, applying that same sort of metric of the prevalence of cycling relative to the benefits from the 

vigour associated with that level of cycling—the cost of introducing helmet legislation. And even conservatively 

they concluded very clearly that there was a net negative effect—through them effectively modelling—from the 

introduction of helmet legislation. It is a fairly clear association about the deterrent effects on participation. You 

only have to drop participation by about 10 to 15 per cent for it to be net public health loss. And in New South 

Wales, as we have heard already, the drops are in the order of magnitude of 30 to 40 per cent. So, even 

conservatively, the introduction of helmet legislation is a net public health loss. 

Mr Gillham:  If I could add to that, I think it is important to note that if my estimate of a million fewer cyclists 

is correct then at any given time a large number of those million people would instead be driving their car to the 

shops, to the beach, to a mate's place or whatever the case might be. That is an awful lot of vehicles to be putting 

on the road, and those vehicles pose a risk to everybody—pedestrians, other motorists and, of course, cyclists. So 

the impact of the legislation is not just on cycling, in my opinion; it also has flow-on effects and affects road 

safety overall in this country. 

Prof. Rissel:  I will just extend on Chris's comment, in that we did a survey of Sydney residents and asked 

them whether they would cycle more if they did not have to wear a helmet. That was an interesting study, because 

about a quarter of them said they would. Some said it would make no difference, but about a quarter of people 

said they would ride more. It was really the occasional riders who would make the biggest difference. So, you are 

getting a health increase there by getting more occasional riders riding more, not just the one or two per cent of 

the hardcore riders who will ride all the time. That calculation of about 25 per cent across the entire Sydney adult 

population translates, as Chris said, into potentially hundreds of thousands more riders, which has significant 

health and community benefits. 

CHAIR:  I am still quite keen to develop up this public health equation, if you like. If we were to list the 

benefits, there would presumably be no argument that some cases of traumatic brain injury would be avoided by 

helmets. Would we agree with that? 

Mr Gillham:  That is a contested issue, because, as Bill was saying before, there is a potential increased risk of 

some brain trauma associated with helmets. Helmets protect the superficial scrapes and lacerations and broken 

skin, but the brain damage is the really serious thing, and it is still quite contested. 

CHAIR:  On the positive side, we can say a reduction in superficial scrapes and lacerations. 

Mr Gillham:  Yes, I think that is reasonable. 

CHAIR:  Anything else? 

Mr Gillham:  In terms of the protective value of helmets? 

CHAIR:  Yes. 

Mr Gillham:  No, I think that is about it. Don't forget: it covers only a small proportion of your whole body, 

so, in terms of injury prevention, helmets do not really provide that much protection. 

Prof. Rissel:  If I could just give a quick little statistic, over here in WA the number of Western Australians 

who cycled at least once a week in 1982—that was 10 years before the law—was 220,000. That was the official 

estimate by Main Roads WA at that time. In 1989, it had increased to 400,000. That is a 10 per cent per annum 

increase in cycling. That was, in fact, pretty well a national observation, as well. Cycling was increasing in the 

decade prior to the law, contrary to what the pro-law academics would argue. If you look at the cyclist hospital 

admissions in 1982, in WA there were 636. In 1989, there were 602. So the number of cyclists went from 220,000 

to 400,000. The number of hospital cases went from 636 to 682—a reduction. It gives a hint as to what happens 

with the numbers on the road. The more cyclists, the safer they are; the less cyclists, the more dangerous it is on 

the road for them. 

CHAIR:  This is a safety-in-numbers argument that a couple of you have referred to. 

Mr Gillham:  That is an important metric because there is actually a formula that is applied. It is kind of an 

exponential pattern. That has been documented in a number of different countries now. If you are going to 

calculate it—I cannot remember exactly what it is—if you double the number of cyclists, you reduce the rates of 

injuries by about a third. It is sort of a half-third ratio. So if you reduce the number of cyclists by half, you are 

increase the rate of injury by about a third. 

Prof. Rissel:  My observation of it has long been that you do reduce the proportion of head injuries, maybe by 

about 10 per cent, but the problem is: you increase the pool of overall injuries. If it was 30 per cent of 600 or 700 
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cyclists that had head injuries in the old days, it seems we have got it down to 20 per cent. But with 20 per cent of 

1,200 injuries per year—which, incidentally, is now the number of hospital of cases in WA—you end up with 

roughly the same number of head injuries but an awful lot more broken legs and broken arms, in particular. Upper 

limb injuries, in most cases, increased dramatically when the helmet law was introduced. So you do slightly 

reduce the proportion of head injuries but as a proportion of a bigger number of overall injuries, probably 

resulting from more crashes on the road. That, in turn, ties in with risk compensation, et cetera. 

CHAIR:  Mr Clarke, you have hinted at various other factors that contribute to injuries among cyclists, 

including alcohol. Would you like to expand on that or explain it to the committee in relation to the overall risks 

involved in cycling? 

Mr Clarke:  The overall risks in cycling are relatively low, provided that multi-step care and reasonable 

provision is provided on the road system. Cyclist behaviour becomes a key issue with accident involvement, 

especially for the younger cyclists. In the Netherlands, where they have a very good safety record, it is not only 

due to providing cycle tracks and cycle paths, it is due to the behaviour and children learning how to ride from 

their parents mainly. Riding to school in groups, they also learn to ride in a group. When they are doing 

something wrong, the parents or grandparents probably put them right straight away on how to ride. So that 

community level of cycling results in a good level of safety. It is mainly due to good training, in my view. The 

accidents occur due to people misbehaving or not knowing the issue involved—not anticipating it having not had 

the experience. That is where cycle training and things like Bikeability in the UK come in. They do half a dozen 

courses, or half a dozen lessons, on road training for the above to improve the cycling skills and the knowledge of 

road safety. 

CHAIR:  In your ideal world, would you suggest that cycling training be part of the school curriculum? 

Mr Clarke:  Yes, I think I would have to suggest that. In the UK, the cycle training developed into what they 

call Bikeability, run by the Department of Transport. That can also be extended to pedestrian training of a similar 

young age, of course. If you are crossing a road, you stand in a position where vehicles can see you and you can 

see the vehicle. That applies to riding a bike or as a pedestrian, so you are educating young people in how to be 

safer on the roads. 

CHAIR:  Mr Curnow, you made some comments earlier that, I think, cast doubt on the merits of bike helmets 

for kids as well as adults in terms of the potential traumatic injury. 

Mr Curnow:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  Could you just explain that. A lot of people will argue that adults can make up their own minds 

whether to take a risk in relation to their heads but that children cannot, and therefore a helmet is justified. You 

would argue, for different reasons, that that is not appropriate. Is that right? 

Mr Curnow:  Yes. We would argue, as you rightly said, that adults should be able to make up their own 

minds. With children, the responsibility rightly belongs to the parent or guardian. 

CHAIR:  Yes. I was thinking of the traumatic injury risk that you were referring to earlier—what benefit those 

helmets have on the head. 

Mr Curnow:  Could you just state that question again, please. 

CHAIR:  I am familiar with the argument that parents are responsible for kids. What I am asking about is your 

argument, I think—if I understand it correctly—that helmets do not necessarily protect children, as well as adults. 

Mr Curnow:  Yes. I think the criticism we make of helmets is for any person, really. It does not particularly 

discriminate between adults and children as far as the efficacy of helmets against brain injury is concerned. One 

factor, perhaps, is that putting a comparatively heavy helmet on a child's head is more disadvantageous than 

putting it on an adult's head, because the child's neck muscles are much weaker and therefore cannot resist any 

force or turning motion that might make for rotation. That is an element there, but that is not fundamental. 

CHAIR:  So in a philosophical sense you would say that this is perhaps a matter for a parent to decide. I do not 

think I personally would argue with that, but I guess the question is: what advice would you give to a parent as to 

whether or not to put a bicycle helmet on their youngsters while they are riding a bicycle? Somebody—I think Mr 

Gillham—was referring to superficial scrapes and lacerations rather than traumatic brain injury. In your advice to 

a parent, would you say, 'Use a helmet,' or, 'Don't use a helmet'? 

Mr Curnow:  That is a very important point. Parents should be properly informed, but governments have 

failed badly in that respect, because they continually tell us, 'Helmets save lives,' but once you ask detailed 
questions they have nothing to say. Governments, who have a responsibility to give the public advice on the 

efficacy of helmets according to scientific studies, just ignore all the evidence that indicates helmets can 
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aggravate severe brain injury, and they just trumpet the message that helmets save lives, and you cannot get 

beyond that. 

Mr Gillham:  I would like to interject there: it is also possibly relevant that one of the submissions received by 

this committee was, from recollection, a nurse at Royal Perth Hospital Emergency Department who does not wear 

a helmet and she recommends to her two teenage daughter that they also do not wear helmets—just a small 

anecdote there. 

CHAIR:  All four of you have spent quite a lot of years on this issue. I am just wondering if you have an 

international perspective to contribute. Why is it that, after 25 years of Australia and New Zealand going down 

the path of mandatory helmets, no other countries in the world have gone this path? Do you have any hard 

evidence or personal experience? 

Mr Curnow:  I have one particular comment and that concerns a study done in the UK in 2007—and it is 

referred to in our submission—that confirmed what Australian research had shown that: adding a helmet to a 

dummy head increased rotation from an oblique impact. That was a report commissioned by the UK government 

to a company called TRL Ltd. The UK government then resisted calls for helmets to be compulsory, which of 

course has gone on in the UK as there are people there who are always pushing for helmet laws. But the UK 

government has resisted that on account of this report by TRL—incidentally, I might mention that that report 

made reference to some of my work for which I feel a certain satisfaction. 

Mr Gillham:  I have got a couple of international examples and I have attended a number of international 

cycling conferences—Velocity, for example—and the next host country is Taiwan. I spoke to the delegates who 

were organising that conference and I asked them about the helmet situation in their country. They told me that 

they were not going to pursue mandatory helmet legislation or requiring helmets on bike-share programs, 

specifically because they reviewed the international evidence and concluded that it was too big a deterrent on 

cycling participation for it to be worthwhile. That is a specific assessment by another country—totally 

independently—who have concluded that it wasn't worth it and was in fact a negative impact. 

We have got colleagues in the European Cyclists' Federation who are opposed to helmet legislation generally 

because of their concerns that it makes cycling seem more dangerous than it is and that, again, it is the negative 

image and effect on cycling participation—that is from a European perspective. There is a fairly clear consensus 

amongst cycling—that is because those are the people who are trying to increase cycling as a public policy—that 

it is a negative. 

Clearly, the overseas researchers look at where the experiment has been conducted—that is, in Australia or 

New Zealand for the past 20 to 25 years—and they take their lessons from that. If I could make a point: Israel did 

have all-age mandatory helmet laws for several years. I was contacted by their advocacy groups several years 

ago—about six or seven years ago. They put to the Knesset in Jerusalem the facts, the data, and the Israeli 

parliament then repealed the law for adults on bicycle paths in Israel—and I note that, within two years of that, 

cycling levels in Tel Aviv had increased, from memory, roughly by 52 or 53 per cent in the following two years. 

CHAIR:  I have not read that in any submissions. What year did that occur, Professor Rissel? 

Prof. Rissel:  That was Chris Gilham who was talking about the Israeli experience, but I am aware of that as 

well. I cannot remember—it was only a few years ago that that happened, wasn't it? 

Mr Gillham:  That is correct. That is linked via my website, which hopefully the senators have had a chance to 

browse through. But there are links to the newspaper and the survey reports on the Tel Aviv cycling participation 

surveys and on the repeal of the adult law over there. 

CHAIR:  That is fascinating; thank you. I suppose another way of looking at it would be whether Australia has 

a different rate of serious head injuries and deaths amongst cyclists than other countries that we might like to 

compare ourselves with and the normal comparisons with the OECD. Do any of you have any data on that? 

Mr Gillham:  I can talk to you about a recent study from the US, which has a very car-dominated culture and, 

in some ways, is not too dissimilar to us. They looked at 10 cities, five of which had the Bike Share program and 

five of which did not—with no requirement for helmet legislation in those places. They found—and this is a 

safety in numbers sort of situation—that the ones that had the Bike Share program actually increased the rates of 

cycling and it decreased the injury rates. As an example of how the pro helmet people viewed that, they basically 

said that Bike Share contributed to increased head injuries, whereas, in fact there was a small absolute increase 

but the rate of injuries went down. So they were in fact caught out distorting the data on that. I think the 
comparable situation is that, for the US, you put in the infrastructure and you encourage people to ride and they 

do and it actually gets safer for most people. 
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Prof. Rissel:  The OECD looked into this a couple of years and issued a report. Again, the details are on my 

website. Their conclusion was not to recommend mandatory helmet laws. 

CHAIR:  You have made some comments about other submissions. We received a joint submission from 

Australian Injury Prevention Network, the Australian College of Road Safety and the Royal Australasian College 

of Surgeons in which they report some survey data that lists under the heading 'Reasons for not riding a bike for 

transport more frequently' things such as unsafe road conditions, speed, volumes of traffic, lack of bicycle lanes, 

weather conditions, do not feel safe and that sort of stuff. There were also comments about survey results, 

reporting that a very high proportion of people approve of government mandated bike helmets while only one per 

cent strongly disapprove. There was another one regarding women headed, 'Reasons that prevent women from 

cycling', which listed lack of confidence in cycling ability, lack of time, lack of fitness and speed/volume of 

traffic. Those are their top ones. The closest we get to a helmet would be 'Getting hot and sweaty/having to wear 

special clothes'—at 7.6 per cent. I am just wondering whether you think those are representative. Do you have any 

comments on their reliability? 

Prof. Rissel:  In March 2001, a survey by Bikewest—the government agency for cycling promotion here in 

Western Australia—found that compulsory helmets were among the reasons that 11 per cent of respondents in 

Perth had not cycled in the previous six months. In 2008, 30.3 per cent of survey respondents said that their 

dislike of helmets contributed to whether or not they would cycle in the next six months. A 2014 survey, last year, 

found that 61 per cent said helmet issues were their main barrier to bike share participation in Australia. There are 

also media opinion polls. I referenced in my submission that several weeks ago there was on the Sunday Times 
website over here a reader opinion poll on whether readers thought that the laws should be repealed or partially 

repealed—that is, adult repealed—in Western Australia, and 64.2 per cent agreed that it should be repealed. The 

cherry-picking of the one per cent or two per cent in mixed response surveys goes against an awful low of other 

evidence that helmets are indeed a very strong disincentive to cycling among Australians. 

Mr Gillham:  There are other Heart Foundation surveys that have been done on reasons that people do not 

cycle and there are a number of New South Wales ones where consistently around one in five people have 

mentioned it as a barrier. Those other factors are important too. Being holistic about why people do not cycle: 

those factors contribute. If we are just focusing on helmets, you cannot ignore that there is a significant proportion 

of the population—20 or 25 per cent, one in five—who will give it as a barrier. We should be doing things to 

remove barriers to cycling. 

Prof. Rissel:  Since the early 1990s, there has been close to 1,000 kilometres of cycle paths built in Perth. The 

cyclist numbers in this city are still pretty well what they were in mid-1980s. The infrastructure is there—1,000 

kilometres is a fair bit of infrastructure—but it does not seem to have made cycling particularly popular in WA. 

CHAIR:  The Northern Territory has loosened its helmet laws. This is a question for any one of you: can you 

tell me what occurred and what the consequences have been?  

Mr Gillham:  I will respond first, but Chris might like to add to it. The injury data for the Northern Territory 

for pedal cyclists suggest that the injury rates in the Northern Territory are no different from the rest of the 

country. It does not appear to have led to a big increase in injuries, but it does have the highest level of commute 

to work and it has very high levels of female cycling. So you have got a lot of positive factors going on in the 

Northern Territory that are good things for cycling. 

Prof. Rissel:  If I could add to that, an ABS study for March 2006 showed that the average proportion of 

people among all Australian states using a bicycle as their day-to-day recreation or transport was 4.8 per cent. The 

same survey showed that in the Northern Territory it was 16 per cent, heading towards four times the percentage 

of people cycling for day-to-day recreation or transport. 

Senator CANAVAN:  We have been speaking a lot about the evidence of the impact of mandatory laws on 

cycling participation. I note that in the Queensland parliament they did a committee inquiry on this a couple of 

years ago, and they said in their report that there does not appear to be any conclusive statistical evidence of the 

impact of mandatory helmet laws on cycling participation. They had a long discussion in their report along the 

lines of what we have been talking about. Do you agree with that statement? What is the quality of the data we are 

using here? They have a quote here from an organisation called CARRS-Q, saying that there is a lack of long-

term participation data that covers all types of riding. What is your view on the quality of the evidence that you 

have presented here today? 

Mr Gillham:  The data on cycling in Australia is generally not great, compared to some other countries where 

they have a better monitoring and management system for cycling infrastructure and participation. It is getting 

better, but historically it has not been good. There are some contested things around the data. The CARRS-Q 
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group are a known safety-focused organisation, and they have been fairly clear in their personal attacks against 

me for having suggested that helmet legislation may not have been a good thing for Australia. They are not 

necessarily independent of the issue. That report in the Queensland parliament did actually recommend a trial to 

test the effect of relaxing helmet legislation. Despite those comments, their conclusion was, 'We should try it out,' 

but their parliament chose not to do that at that time. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Given you have also just indicated the data is not necessarily complete, would the best 

approach be to do some trials of a relaxation of the laws, rather than a holus-bolus removal? I know the Northern 

Territory did that some time ago, but in these other states would that be an appropriate first step in your view? 

Mr Gillham:  I have always suggested that. I have always said that that would be the best way to look at it—a 

proper assessment of participation and injury rates in a particular jurisdiction, so that we can actually have real 

evidence and real data to talk about the situation sensibly and without getting all worked up and impassionate 

about it. As a step forward, I would say that is good sort of political compromise, although it is a conservative, 

small steps approach. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Just to be clear—and anyone can comment on this, as I am not asking it of any 

individual—what would be your preferred set of relaxations? I suppose there are a lot of things we can do in 

terms of ages and areas and roads below a certain speed. Do you have a particular preference for what you think 

would be the best way to relax laws to start with? 

Mr Gillham:  It depends on if you are meaning it in a political context. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I suppose it is up to us to do the politics. I am more interested in terms of a trial 

generating useful and comparable data to look at its impact—what would be the set of relaxations needed to drive 

an evidence-based policy decision? 

Mr Gillham:  Queensland recommended it be like in the Norther Territory, with low speed road conditions 

and on bike paths that it not be required for adults. That is an easy step because that is a totally safe scenario. You 

are not likely to have any problems there. The roadies who like to go fast can still wear their helmets on the road. 

It keeps people happy. I think the statement is that people will basically choose to wear a helmet or not, 

depending on their riding context, skill, experience and speed. Repealing it for adults would be reasonable, given 

that some people will wear them anyway, so it is not really going to compromise safety on that level either. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Does anyone else want to comment to wrap it up? 

Mr Clarke:  I would rescind the law for everyone simply because the most damaging effect of the law has 

been on children— 

Mr Gillham:  The trial has, I would say, over a period of time— 

Senator CANAVAN:  Hang on, could we just pause for a second. Who else wanted to contribute there? I think 

it was Professor Rissel. We might start with Mr Clarke and then we will go to Professor Rissel. 

Mr Clarke:  I would personally rescind the law for everyone because the main damaging effect of the law has 

been on children. It discourages them more and they require the most exercise—about 60 minutes a day. To make 

one point, they have tested helmets for children and the results have not quite been as good as they were for adult 

helmets. So the most damaging effect has been on children, discouraging them. Their accident rate—if you look 

at the Dorothy Robinson report and data from New Zealand it shows that they are the most disadvantaged. So I 

would just completely scrap the law. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Professor Rissel? 

Prof. Rissel:  I spoke earlier. I have no issue at all with repealing the legislation for children and adults, 

although I am aware that there are softer options to begin with that might be more palatable for the community 

more generally. I think I have said my piece. 

CHAIR:  Mr Gillham, I think you might have been speaking there for a minute. Do you want to continue your 

remarks? 

Mr Gillham:  Yes, it is Chris Gillham at this end, rather than Chris Rissel. I also agree with Colin Clarke. It 

would be better to have an all-age trial repeal because of the damage being caused to young people. However, I 

do accept—and I therefore agree with Chris—that, politically, that would be difficult to get through. My 

guesswork would be that a trial run of about five years gives a good, solid length of time to check what the actual 

impact is on participation and on injury levels. If the results are not good, we will go back to an all-age mandatory 

law. But I am pretty confident that the results would show—like in the rest of the world—that it is better to let the 

public voluntarily choose whether to wear a helmet. 
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CHAIR:  Thank you very much, gentlemen. We now have some more witnesses to hear from. I do appreciate 

you appearing here today. 
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De JONG, Professor Piet, Professor of Actuarial Studies, Macquarie University 

ROBINSON, Dr Dorothy L, Researcher, CycleSafe 

[10:20] 

Evidence from Professor de Jong was taken via teleconference. 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Do you have any comment to make on the capacity in which you appear? 

Dr Robinson:  I am basically a professional statistician who has studied the effect of bicycle helmet laws and 

written several articles in international journals, including the British Medical Journal. 

CHAIR:  Thank you for appearing before the committee today. Do you wish to make a brief opening 

statement before we proceed to questions? 

Dr Robinson:  Thank you for inviting me. My statement really summarises the fact that there is no evidence 

really that bicycle helmet laws have a net benefit. In fact, most evaluations suggest that the cost of discouraging a 

healthy, environmentally-friendly form of transport is much greater than any plausible reduction in injuries from 

increased helmet wearing. It is really important to note this is very, very different from other road safety 

initiatives. In particular, what stands out is the other initiatives that were happening in Victoria at the same time as 

the bicycle helmet law. There was a wonderful campaign against drink driving and speeding, and after that 

happened we got a 42 per cent reduction in pedestrian injuries. It is really a big contrast with what happened with 

the bicycle helmet laws.  

I do not know if you have got my submission handy, but in section D I show the proportion of cyclist injuries 

that involve the head. If the increased wearing of helmets had worked, we would have a big reduction in head 

injuries. In fact, you really cannot see anything at all. If you had to guess, just looking at the change in head 

injuries, when the helmet law had been brought into effect, you would either guess about 1983 to 1985 or 1978. 

You would never guess, from the change in head injuries, that the law happened when it actually did. 

But there is one way of looking and telling what the effect on head injuries of the helmet law is. That is if you 

look at the total number of injuries, both the head injuries and the non-head injuries. In my submission, in section 

E, I show that. What we see there is a big effect, not on the proportion of injuries involved with the head but just 

the total number of head injuries and the total number of non-head injuries. If the number of non-head injuries is 

reducing—because helmets do not reduce non-head injuries—the only plausible response to that is that there is a 

big decrease in cycling. 

Another way of looking at that is in my section B, where I look at the census data on cycling to work. It 

showed that, before helmet laws, cycling to work was becoming more and more popular, especially in regional 

areas, which is where I live. I live in a town with wide streets and not much traffic. Before helmet laws, safety 

was not an issue at all. It was safe and it was popular. The thing to note is the big reductions in cycling where 

cycling was the most safe and the most popular. The other thing to note is that they happened exactly when the 

helmet laws happened. In other words, for the states that had enforced laws in 1991 that was when the reduction 

happened. For that states that did not have enforced laws until after the 1991 census, it occurred in the 1996 

census. It is pretty clear and damming evidence of the reduction in cycling because of helmet laws. 

It is also worth noting that there was a big reduction in adult cycling but the reduction in teenage cycling was 

even worse, and that came out from the surveys in Melbourne. In the first survey after the helmet law, they found 

that only 30 more teenage cyclists were wearing helmets but there were 670 less teenage cyclists counted. For 

every one cyclist wearing a helmet, 20 gave up cycling, or those would appear to be the results from the survey. 

Discouraging cycling in this way is a real tragedy because, as is shown from several references in my submission, 

the health benefits of cycling—even without a helmet—are far greater than the cost of injuries. One of the studies 

cited in my submission suggests that the benefits could be up to 20 times greater than the risks, and perhaps the 

benefit for every kilometre cycled is 75 cents. It seems madness to discourage cycling when it can be so beneficial 

for health. 

The other important point that I make, because I have looked time and time at the injury data, is that when you 

add everything up—when you add all the other road safety initiatives that were happening at the same time as the 

helmet law and when you add in the reduction in cyclists—what you find is that actually the injury rates per 

cyclist increased after helmet laws. We had more injuries and even more head injuries than there were before the 

helmet law. This might seem paradoxical until you think about the possible explanations for that. We mentioned 

one before, which is risk compensation. We have mentioned that cyclists themselves have been shown to take 
more risks when they wear a helmet. We have also found that drivers pass closer to a cyclist when they are 

wearing a helmet. And before anybody asks, I am a long-haired female and this is something that I have noticed 
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particularly—the biggest effect is for female cyclists. When drivers pass when I am wearing a helmet they pass a 

lot closer than when I am not wearing a helmet, and it is pretty obvious. If you have a driver passing very close to 

you when you are wearing a helmet, it is very scary. In other words, helmet laws have made cycling more scary 

for female cyclists. 

The other issue, of course, is reduced safety in numbers, which I think is also something that makes more 

dangers on the road. When there are lots of cyclists, drivers look out for them. They know to look out for them 

and they give them right of way. They do not pull out of side streets as often when you are cycling along with 

right of way along a main road. I noticed that before the helmet laws when I had right of way on a road I was 

given right of way by drivers. When the helmet laws came in my rights were less respected. Motorists tended to 

ignore me an awful lot more. 

The third reason for the increasing injury rates, which is possibly very interesting, is the fact that helmet laws 

tend to discourage the safer cyclists. I think that is, again, obvious from the census data. The areas where cycling 

was safe and relatively popular—cycling to work in regional towns—is where you saw the big reductions in 

cycling coinciding exactly with the helmet law. In capital cities, where you have more traffic and it is difficult, 

you might feel it is dangerous anyway. This was where cyclists before the law were more likely to want to wear 

helmets. It was not so much a deterrent as in the areas where you have good infrastructure and where you have 

safe cycling. The idea that infrastructure will actually encourage cycling is wrong. It will only encourage cycling 

if, at the same time, you repeal the helmet law, because both are important and good infrastructure will still be put 

off by helmets if you have a helmet law. 

The final thing is that, as well as discouraging cycling and reducing safety numbers, what has happened in 

Australia—unlike wonderful schemes in Paris, London, New York and Barcelona—is that the public bike 

schemes in Melbourne and Brisbane have been abject failures because of helmet laws. It is a real shame because 

successful city bike schemes make cities more attractive places to live and they also make cycling safer. As was 

mentioned in the previous session, there was a comparison of five cities that introduced city bike schemes with 

five cities that did not. They found that cycling increased but head injuries decreased in the five cities with city 

bike schemes. The decrease of 14 per cent, plus the increase in cycling, is far better than VicRoads' estimate of a 

16 per cent reduction in head injuries from helmet laws. So a city bike scheme can do far more to reduce head 

injuries than a helmet law. 

All of these arguments were reviewed by the Queensland parliamentary committee, which concluded that there 

was not enough evidence to justify helmet laws, and that relaxing helmet laws, as happened in the Northern 

Territory, would not make cycling less safe. In fact, it would generate increased cycling and generate a range of 

economic and health benefits, and help to normalise cycling. So, personal choice should be respected, unless there 

is compelling evidence to the contrary, and there is no compelling evidence for bicycle helmet laws. If anything, 

the evidence is that they have done far more harm than good. Given the strength of this evidence I hope that this 

Senate inquiry will come to the same conclusions as the Queensland parliamentary inquiry, and end up repealing 

this unfortunate, counterproductive law, so that many more Australians will take part in the healthy environment 

of this increasingly safe activity. 

Prof. de Jong:  My contribution to this debate is based on an article I wrote for the international journal Risk 
Analysis, which is a fairly prestigious journal. In that article I try to come to grips with the net health impact of 

bicycling and mandatory helmet laws. The thing about mandatory helmet laws is that they have the unintended 

consequence of reducing cycling. 

Everybody agrees that cycling is good for our health. Many doctors quote a figure of 20-to-1 as the benefit/cost 

ratio of cycling. Hence, when you have reductions in cycling you have reductions in population health. My article 

is trying to quantify what this reduction is and set it off against the benefits of having people wear helmets. In the 

article I look at four things. First, how good are helmets? Generally, in the article I take the view that helmets, in 

the case of accidents involving the head, are fairly effective. Then you have to factor in what fraction of the health 

costs associated with an accident are head injuries. Thirdly, you have to factor in how healthy bicycling is. 

Fourthly, what has been the reduction in cycling? In this article I put all of these things together and try to come 

to grips with the net health impact of mandatory helmet laws. 

I looked at a range of parameters to try to figure out what the net health impact is. You find in almost all 

scenarios, no matter how efficient you think helmets are in avoiding head injuries, that it has a net health impact 

because of the unintended consequence of reduced cycling. This is not even looking at some of the issues that 

were raised by Dr Robinson. It only looks at head injuries and forgone health due to lack of things like cycling. 
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Mandatory helmet laws appear to be one of these laws that have the best of intentions, but the unintended 

consequences swamp the beneficial effects of the helmet. So it appears that helmet laws deliver a net health cost 

in terms of population or community health. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Dr Robinson, I want to ask about the effectiveness of helmets. Is there something 

inherently wrong in the design of helmets which contributes to head injuries? Or is it the risk compensation that 

the mandatory helmet laws have on people's behaviour? 

Dr Robinson:  I am not 100 per cent sure. There is evidence that under some circumstances helmets do 

increase the risk of brain injury and that is because of rotational injuries, as Bill Curnow said. There is some 

neurological research on monkeys where they have rotated the heads quite fast without impacting in any way the 

heads of the monkeys. These monkeys have had very serious brain injuries—far more serious than from blows to 

the head. Some studies have shown that because helmets have a soft shell they tend to stick on the tarmac. If you 

are unlucky and you get a glancing blow and your head sticks to the tarmac or is embedded in a windscreen of a 

car and your head rotates as a result, you are probably going to have more brain injury than you would without a 

helmet. A lot of this is hospital data, and all the official studies have tended not to separate out the minor scrapes 

and bumps from serious head injuries. It is very difficult to tell. My honest answer is that I do not know. Certainly 

I do know of cases where it does increase the risk of brain injury, but there may be others when it decreases the 

risk, but the overall effect is so much the effect of helmet laws. Many cyclists are going to wear helmets anyway, 

and many cyclists can judge the risk of when it is dangerous and when to wear a helmet and when they are pretty 

safe. Helmet laws, I am pretty certain, increase the risk of head injury; whether helmets do or not is an open 

question. I really do not have the expertise to tell you. 

Senator CANAVAN:  But you do suggest that an average rider who wears a helmet is likely to act in a less 

risk averse way than otherwise. Is that your evidence? 

Dr Robinson:  Risk compensation is a complicated issue, but they have done several experiments with cyclists 

wearing helmets—when they are used to helmets and it is not a novel thing—and, if you tell them not to wear a 

helmet, they will ride faster and ride with greater risk. A recent study did the same thing with people wearing 

helmets while playing a computer game. You would not think that that would make any difference—the 

psychology is so complicated—but when the participant wore a helmet, rather than a hat, they took more risks on 

the computer game. It is human nature, just as it is with ABS brakes—if you think you are protected, you take 

more risks. The same with drivers passing, as I know from my own observations. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I will undertake those tests with my kids at home—they certainly play computer games 

a lot. The data you have presented is very useful and thank you for putting it together for us. We had a discussion 

with previous witnesses that some of the data is not complete—and that was on cycling use, although you have a 

graph on that here in section B. Could you explain your understanding of the accuracy and completeness of the 

data? I see that you have used census data here, but there seem to be some gaps in that data. What is good about 

the data? Where are the gaps? How accurate is it for drawing policy conclusions? 

Dr Robinson:  I believe that census data is pretty accurate. It is a survey of the whole population and how they 

get to work. I would say it is basically 100 per cent accurate. The only difficulty with census day is that it occurs 

on one day of the year. There is no reason to believe it would be different on any other day of the year. Perhaps at 

times when it is more conducive to cycling you would see a bigger effect. So it is 100 per cent accurate and it 

simply shows that when you have helmet laws—in this case, two different states had helmet laws at different 

times so we can see the effect of the helmet law. Particularly in regional areas, cycling increased in the 1991 

census in states that did not have helmet laws, and it dramatically dropped off a cliff in the other states. That is a 

pretty good indication that helmet laws discourage adult cycling. The Monash University surveys are very clear. 

The official estimate was a 46 per cent reduction in teenage cycling. So we know from census data that transport 

cycling in general is reduced by helmet laws, and we know from the Monash surveys that there are really 

phenomenal reductions in children cycling. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Just to be clear, those dash lines in this graph in section b of your submission—  

Dr Robinson:  That is just to indicate  

Senator CANAVAN:  when the laws came in; not to indicate some kind of break in the series of questions 

being asked?  

Dr Robinson:  No, it is just indicating where the laws came in. 

Senator CANAVAN:  So the questions were consistent across those different censuses? 

Dr Robinson:  Pretty much.  
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Senator CANAVAN:  This is to do with riding to work.  

Dr Robinson:  Yes. 

Senator CANAVAN:  The previous witness said there was limited data. Is that just more general data on the 

use of cycles to go to the shops et cetera, rather than just work itself? You have good data here, and I agree the 

census data is pretty good.  

Dr Robinson:  There is very good data in Western Australia on transport cycling in general. And that showed 

even more declines in cycling. Community cycling was one of the smaller effects. They had big declines in 

shopping and cycling to school. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Did you provide that? I think you might have mentioned it. 

Dr Robinson:  I have provided it. I am just trying to find the reference to it.  

Senator CANAVAN:  Okay. Maybe you could take that on notice. I think you have a reference to it here in 

your submission so we might have the link anyway. If you want to have a look at your submission in regard to 

that, there is an opportunity to provide further information to us. That would be useful.  

Dr Robinson:  Yes. 

Senator CANAVAN:  You have other data, hospital admissions data, on percentage of cyclists presenting with 

head injuries and then other injuries as well. What is the accuracy of that data? Are they fairly comprehensive and 

consistent? Sorry—that is Western Australia, is it? 

Dr Robinson:  That is Western Australia. The data is very consistent and comprehensive for Western 

Australia. Different states have different sets of data. Roughly the trends are all coming out the same way; before 

helmet laws, head injury rates were decreasing in every state, more or less. There is not a good explanation as to 

why this was happening but it was happening.  

CHAIR:  Dr Robinson, can you explain what the difference is between the red and the blue there on your 

graph (e)? I cannot— 

Dr Robinson:  The red line is the number of non-head injuries, and that is on the right-hand scale. The blue 

line is the number of head injuries, which is on the left-hand scale. So I put them on different scales and 

superimposed them so you could see that there was a big reduction in both of them when helmet laws came in. 

The fact that there was a big reduction, or a similar proportionate reduction, shows that in fact the helmet laws 

reduced both, and the only reason it could possibly have done that is because it was discouraging cycling—as of 

course the survey data shows.  

Senator CANAVAN:  The conclusion of that is that you are saying the reduction of those injuries is more to 

do with the reduction in cycling rates, rather than— 

Dr Robinson:  If you had no cyclists, you would have no head injuries. I have just found the data for Western 

Australia that was in my submission. Before the helmet law, 5.7 per cent of transport trips were by bicycle. A few 

years later, in 2003 to 2006, it had plummeted to 1.6 per cent. So it is a really big reduction in transport cycling 

because of helmets. We cannot entirely say it is due to helmet laws, but it seems to be one of the big culprits 

because of the timing.  

Senator CANAVAN:  Your evidence is fairly compelling here in terms of the timing of the reductions. What 

has happened to cycling use in other countries without mandatory helmet laws? Has there been a secular decline 

as well.  

Dr Robinson:  Some have seen increases, and I think the big reason for the increases have been the city bike 

schemes. When Velib was introduced in Paris, the city is said to have gone cycling mad. In other words, there has 

been a real surge in popularity when city bikes schemes have been introduced—everywhere except Australia. In 

London, again, we have had millions and millions of trips on their city bike schemes, and they are extremely safe. 

They are as safe as cycling in Holland—the city bikes schemes in London. I have been to London a few times and 

I am not sure I would have wanted to cycle there before the city bike schemes, but now they have the schemes 

and everybody cycles. I am sure that safety in numbers is operating, and it is so much safer and so much nicer on 

the environment than it would have been before. It is also less polluted obviously, which is good if you are either 

a pedestrian or a tourist in the city.  

Senator CANAVAN:  Turning to Professor de Jong. Your paper on the net health impacts—I believe you 

have also included a response to Professor Newbould commenting on your article. Can you explain it to us? He 

seemed to do some sensitivity analysis or made some other assumptions about fatality rates. Could you explain 

what he commented about on your article and your response? 
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Prof. de Jong:  The first thing he did was to denominate health costs in terms of fatalities. He basically 

reconfirmed my conclusions—rederived them—and looked at them in a different light in terms of fatalities. 

Fatality costs are of course not the only health costs associated with bicycling. But he basically reconfirmed my 

figures.  

The other thing he did was point out that these are all population average statistics and that it may be the case 

that, for subgroups of the population, such as children, a mandatory helmet law may make sense. And I agree with 

that, not that it makes sense necessarily for children, but I agree that we should look at subcategories of 

bicyclists—for example, those that hurtle down highways on Saturday mornings. Maybe that is a good idea.  

The point is that overall it seems—and he reconfirmed this—that bicycle helmet laws or mandatory helmet 

laws have a net negative health impact on community health; although, it may have some positive net health 

impact on certain subgroups of the population. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Can I just confirm what your modelling is showing. Is it that, overall, taking into 

account the potential or estimated reductions in cycling, there has been a net negative social impact from 

mandatory laws? It is not saying that any individual cyclist should or should not wear a helmet for their own 

individual purposes? You are talking about the overall behavioural impacts, post laws, on what has happened, not 

necessarily the health benefits to any individual of wearing a helmet or not wearing a helmet. Is that correct? 

Prof. de Jong:  Yes, I think you are dead right. There is no attempt to state that individual cyclists should or 

should not wear helmets. It is just looking at two things, and two things alone. One is the possibly beneficial 

effect of helmets in case you have an accident involving the head; and the second thing is the impact of helmet 

laws in reducing population cycling. If you set off those two effects, then the net health impacts of a mandatory 

helmet law appears to be, under almost every scenario, negative. That is not to say that individuals should not 

wear helmets nor that parents should not require their kids to wear helmets. It just says that there is a large 

unintended consequence of mandatory helmet laws that tends to swamp the possibly good effects of people 

wearing helmets.  

I must stress that in my article I assume the most optimistic scenarios for the beneficial effects of helmets. 

There are many figures bandied about on how good helmets are—anywhere from those people who do not believe 

they do much good to people who believe that they do a hell of a lot of good. In the article, I generally err on the 

side of those who believe that helmets are very good and have an effectiveness of up to two-thirds or whatever. 

But, even with those highly optimistic assumptions about the efficacy of helmets, you will find that the 

unintended consequence of less cycling swamps the beneficial effects. So it is not saying anything about what 

individual riders should or should not do. It just looks at the overall effects.  

Senator CANAVAN:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Dr Robinson, you discussed the concept of the safest cyclists. Who are they? 

Dr Robinson:  I believe, in general, that they are transport cyclists—people who cycle to get from A to B. 

Quite often, in regional areas, they are people going on short trips, down to the corner shop for milk or to get to 

work, where they know the route and can find the back streets. So they can find a quiet, pleasant route to get to 

work. So these are the people who probably are risk averse and probably do not like wearing helmets, and these 

seem to be the people who have seen the biggest reduction in cycling. On the other hand, sports cyclists tended to 

wear helmets before the law anyway. You would probably find that these people, in general, have a higher risk 

rate, because they are going so much faster. I gather there is a study that came out not long ago that found the 

faster you go the more likely you are to have a head injury. So somebody who is going along at 15 to 20 

kilometres per hour are quite safe whether or not they wear a helmet, and they are probably still far safer and less 

likely to have a head injury than the sports cyclists tearing along at 30 or 35 to 40 kilometres an hour, because the 

speed makes a big difference.  

There is the same thing with mountain biking. The sport of mountain biking is also now more popular, so I 

think we are finding that instead of relatively safe transport cycling we are having sports cyclists and mountain 

bikers. One good evidence of this is that if you go to a shop now to buy a bike, you cannot get the equipment that 

you need to commute to work; you cannot get one with lights, with paniers and with mudguards—all things you 

can buy for a Dutch cyclist, where Dutch cyclists are very, very safe. You will find the same in Holland. The 

cyclists in Holland who wear the helmets are 13 times more likely to get injured than the cyclists who go from A 

to B just to get to work or to get round Amsterdam or Copenhagen. 

CHAIR:  Say that again. In the Netherlands? 

Dr Robinson:  In the Netherlands, cyclists who wear helmets are much more likely to end up in hospital than 

the cyclists— 
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CHAIR:  Cyclists who wear helmets are much more likely to end up in hospital than the ones who do not wear 

helmets? 

Dr Robinson:  That is correct. 

CHAIR:  The reason for that is?  

Dr Robinson:  The ones who wear helmets are the risk-takers—the sports cyclists and the mountain bikers. At 

least, that is what we believe is the reason for it. This is a plausible explanation. The paper that showed that has 

not actually pointed out where the risk comes; it has not been able to attribute the reason, but it just presented the 

fact that the helmet wearers are much more likely to end up in hospital. I think that has happened in Australia. 

There was a similar study in New Zealand, where they have pretty good information on the amount of cycling and 

contrasted before the laws with after the laws. What we know is that from 1989 to 2011 cycling by children—and 

this is the period when we had the helmet law—fell by 79 per cent and cycling by teenagers fell by 81 per cent. At 

the same time, the risks per million hours of cycling increased dramatically, by 86 per cent for children and by 

181 per cent for teenagers. They are now three times more likely to be injured per million hours of cycling with 

helmets than they were before the helmet law in New Zealand. That is a pretty damning statistic—but it is a 

combination of things. It is not just the helmet; it is the risk compensation with the difference in cycling, where 

now sport cycling is more popular than it used to be. 

CHAIR:  There is more sport cycling and less transport cycling. 

Dr Robinson:  Yes—and fewer city bike schemes, which are also safe. 

CHAIR:  There was an Australian government review in 2013, which found that the net health benefit, 

adjusted for injury, for each kilometre cycled is 75c, about half of the total economic benefits of the typical 

bikeway project. Are you aware of that? 

Dr Robinson:  Yes, I am aware of it. 

CHAIR:  What are its implications? 

Dr Robinson:  I think the implication is that we need to do a lot more to encourage cycling because the health 

benefits are so great. I can talk from a personal point of view as well. I am sure I am an awful lot fitter and 

healthier than I would have been if I had not been a regular cyclist. Helmet laws are probably one of the major 

barriers, especially for female cycling. As I have mentioned, I really do not think that infrastructure on its own 

will get enough people cycling. We need to do both: we need to repeal the helmet laws and consult better with 

cyclists about infrastructure. Another problem is that, when you have more cyclists—and you will get more by 

repealing the helmet law—they will be able to tell governments a lot better about what sort of infrastructure they 

need and how to make cycling even more popular. When all we have is sport cyclists and mountain bikers, it is 

difficult to know what sort of infrastructure would be required to get people back on their bikes. Certainly, where 

I live it is almost a cyclist's paradise, but there is nobody cycling. Before the helmet law, if I wanted to contact 

other cyclists, all I had to do was leaflet all the bikes that were around and that would get all the cyclists, but now 

there are no bikes there to leaflet. There is just a big difference. There are few bikes at the university and few 

transport cyclists, despite wonderful conditions for cycling. 

CHAIR:  Professor de Jong, we have received submissions and we know that much of the support for 

mandatory bicycle helmets comes from the medical profession. The medical profession observes injuries at their 

tail end rather than at the beginning, at the causative end. What do you think about this type of assessment that the 

medical profession provides on this issue? 

Prof. de Jong:  The surgeons and the doctors only look at one side of the equation, and that is the head 

injuries. They never look at the big picture. They advocate public policy on the basis of one narrow look at the 

whole problem or the whole issue. Somebody once made the remark that it is like asking lottery winners whether 

buying lottery tickets is a good idea. You are getting a very biased view of it. These people—the surgeons and the 

doctors—on the whole are not equipped to look at the whole public health picture. 

CHAIR:  In your submission, you point out that the analogy drawn between mandatory bicycle helmets and 

mandatory seatbelts is false. Can you explain this? 

Prof. de Jong:  That is another issue that is sometimes introduced into the discussion. People say, 'Helmets are 

just like seatbelts.' The thing about seatbelts is that there are no unintended health consequences. With bicycling, 

there are unintended health consequences. As Dr Robinson has pointed out, there has been a substantial reduction 

in cycling. Cycling is a very healthy activity. Seatbelts did not discourage a healthy activity. Requiring everybody 
to wear helmets does discourage a fundamentally healthy activity, as is obvious in many countries in Europe. The 

health benefits from cycling far outweigh the costs, so the analogy with seatbelts is a furphy. 
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CHAIR:  Dr Robinson, you commented in your submission on the Australian Medical Association argument 

and that of the ARRB—which is the other doctors' group, I think—that cycling numbers returned to long-term 

trends relatively quickly after the introduction of mandatory helmets. This is a recurring theme through a number 

of submissions. What is your response to that? 

Dr Robinson:  I simply do not believe it. The reason I do not believe it is the numbers of cyclists that were 

counted in that survey. It is simply not possible to count fewer. First of all, remember that everybody agrees there 

were 46 per cent fewer teenage cyclists. If there were 46 per cent fewer teenage cyclists, then five years later 

these teenagers will become adults and they will not be cycling as adults either. So that is obviously one reason 

why cycling will have reduced. But, at the same time, the surveys that they are talking about actually counted 

fewer adult cyclists, and we are talking about substantially fewer—29 per cent in the first survey. Although there 

was only five per cent in the second survey, there was a huge bicycle rally passing through the survey site. If you 

discount the site with the bicycle rally, you find that there is also a big reduction in adult cycling. So if they 

counted fewer adult cyclists than before the law, then it cannot possible be true. I think what has happened is that 

somebody has been doing some wishful thinking because, as I said in my submission, we are finding that cycling 

was increasing until the law. So instead of comparing the data immediately before the law—the numbers counted 

immediately before the law—in 1990, they took the comparison from a survey 2½ years earlier at a different time 

of year in 1987 and 1988. For all I know it could have been a stinking hot day or a stinking hot week and they had 

no cyclists on that stinking hot day because it was just too hot.  

Certainly, I am a statistician, and one of the fundamental things I say is you cannot compare cycling at different 

times of year. It is not valid. What I would say is those comparisons and those claims are simply not valid. We 

have seen the same effect in New South Wales. Again, the only data on adults is at different times of year, so you 

cannot really compare them validly, because we know that at the time of year that they did the pre-law survey it 

was raining and pretty poor weather, and in some of the surveys they could not even count and they had to 

abandon them. So there were fewer cyclists counted because of the time of the year and because some of the 

surveys could not be completed. Basically, all we have is the information on child cycling, and child cycling 

reduced by 48 per cent, which is almost identical to the 46 per cent reduction in Melbourne.  

I think it is just something where there is wishful thinking, saying, 'We would have liked the helmet laws not to 

reduce cycling,' but in fact they did. They have tried to manipulate the data and present it in the most favourable 

light, and I think that has really confused an awful lot of people. Whereas, if it had been better presented and at 

least more understood, then it would have been obvious that helmet laws reduce cycling—as, of course, many 

people were saying at the time. We had surveys saying that the equivalent to 64 per cent of adult cyclists in Perth 

said they would ride more without a helmet. That is a big effect, and yet I think it is really just wishful thinking, 

sadly. 

Prof. de Jong:  Could I just perhaps add something. Melbourne has the bicycle share scheme. It is one of the 

few, if not the only—other than Brisbane—that has been a flop. Every other bicycle scheme in the world has been 

a success. I think the reason why the Melbourne one is a flop is the mandatory helmet laws. There is a perfect 

experiment to observe the effects of mandatory helmet laws on cycling, and it has been more or less the death 

knell for the Melbourne bicycle share scheme. 

CHAIR:  Those are interesting comments. I might get you to expand on that for a moment, although we are 

close to when we need to hear from our next witnesses. The scheme in Melbourne—and I have not seen the 

Brisbane one for some years now, but I presume it is the same—has helmets attached to the bike, so you can 

actually put a helmet on if you want to. I walked past one of the racks this morning and I noticed that some of the 

bikes were missing helmets, but most of them had a helmet attached to them. What do you think it is about that 

bike scheme that means it is a failure, notwithstanding the fact that there are helmets provided? 

Prof. de Jong:  There are two things. A lot of people do not like wearing helmets, or some people do not like 

wearing helmets. The other thing is that helmets convey this message that this is a really risky activity, and people 

on the whole do not want to participate in risky activities. It is working these two channels. On the whole, people 

think twice about taking one of these bikes out. Keep in mind that Melbourne has a perfect climate for cycling, it 

is relatively flat and the streets are relatively wide, so by all other accounts it should be a roaring success. I do not 

think anybody else has come up with good reasons to suggest why it is not the mandatory helmet law that is 

making this scheme one of the only flops in the world.  

CHAIR:  Thank you, Dr Robinson and Professor de Jong. I appreciate your evidence this morning. 

Prof. de Jong:  Thank you. 

Proceedings suspended from 11:07 to 11:19  
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COOPER, Mr Jai, Private capacity  

FRANCIS, Ms Katherine, Private capacity  

[11:19] 

CHAIR:  Thank you for appearing today. Do you want to make a brief opening statement before we proceed 

to questions? 

Ms Francis:  No, thank you. 

Mr Cooper:  I will. Thanks for the opportunity to attend. While I am here to speak on the issue of the 

mandatory helmet laws, as this came up, a lot of other people raised the issue, in general, of state intrusion into 

personal freedoms, and my fellow Australians started sharing their feelings about wider range of things. 

Promoting cycling, however, is an area of personal interest and expertise and that is why I am here. Firstly, I 

would like to emphasise that I am not anti-helmet; it is the net effects of the law which I question. I formerly 

supported the mandatory helmet laws because I thought they were for the common good, yet, over time, I have 

changed my mind for a number of reasons. 

Firstly, there is an undeniable loss of liberty and an inconvenience to cycling, which is an inherent good for 

health, reducing emissions and alleviating traffic congestion. Individually, as someone who wore a helmet prior to 

the laws, my safety has since been at greater risk due to the safety-in-numbers effect. From a public health 

perspective, the MHLs are arguably a net health loss, due to a range of factors, and, further, when this law is 

applied in marginalised communities it is a recipe for abuse. Without discounting the individual trauma, this 

remains an issue of public health concern. 

I find many of the assertions of MHL supporters imbalanced and erring towards denialism. There are structural 

constraints in Australia which continue to influence objectivity, and we are affected by the discursive production 

of the fear of cycling—that is, how Australians are made scared to ride—which raises the wider question of the 

effects of ideology on the type of society we are constructing. Law reform and social change are difficult and 

controversial. The debate is still somewhat naive in Australia, but I see that it is maturing, which is promising. I 

see support for reform increasing amongst the cycling community and elsewhere, and this is thanks to increased 

exposure to global conversations about mobility, space and sustainability. Australian cycling culture is changing 

and with it is a turn away from the MHLs. 

I believe that this law was well-intentioned, yet it has side effects. Those side effects—for example, prejudicial 

policing or risk compensation—are in the field of the behavioural sciences. What I have raised so far and in my 

submission are some of the insights into my perspective. I offer a depth of experience as a cyclist, an advocate 

and a sociologist of cycling and I welcome the members' questions and comments. 

CHAIR:  Do you wear a helmet, Mr Cooper? 

Mr Cooper:  Yes, I do in a lot of situations and I wore it before the law as well. 

CHAIR:  What are those circumstances? Why do you wear it some times and not other times? 

Mr Cooper:  I consider myself a high-risk cyclist. I concur with what Dorothy Robinson was saying just 

before. I ride fast, I am a mountain biker, I am a road cyclist and I am also a commuter, and for pretty much all of 

those reasons I know that at some stage—I have taken a couple of hits and I am glad I was wearing a helmet at 

those times. 

CHAIR:  At the times when you have not been wearing a helmet, can you describe how ordinary members of 

the public have treated you? 

Mr Cooper:  A mix at times. I could confirm some of the driver behaviour, in terms of wider passing 

distances. I also have examples like quite a young child yelling at me, 'Where's your helmet?' You have people in 

the street harassing you for that, as if there is something wrong with it. There are behaviours both beneficial and 

fairly negative. 

CHAIR:  And how have members of the police treated you for not wearing a helmet? 

Mr Cooper:  I have never encountered the police when I have not worn a helmet. I have avoided them at 

times. 

Senator CANAVAN:  What is the penalty here in Victoria? 

Mr Cooper:  I am in New South Wales. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Sorry. 

Ms Francis:  It is $186. 
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Senator CANAVAN:  It is $186 in New South Wales? 

Ms Francis:  No, in Victoria. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Right, you are in Victoria. 

CHAIR:  Actually, I think it is less in New South Wales. 

Senator CANAVAN:  But you are not sure about New South Wales? 

CHAIR:  One of my staff got booked for not wearing a helmet a few of weeks ago, and I do not think it was 

that much. Mr Cooper, I understand that you can describe the situation of personal indebtedness that you have 

seen amongst young people as a consequence of not wearing a helmet. Is that right? 

Mr Cooper:  In terms of repeat encounters with the law, yes; I can think of a couple examples of young 

people. I work with young people a lot, and the helmet law is a primary vector through which they encounter 

authority. It is very easy for the police to see them and so, in some ways, it is a rite of passage for youth at risk to 

taunt the police in that way. If you are aspiring to a position of crime later in life and if that is what is valuable in 

social status—to have a barbwire tattoo like your uncle—then the helmet laws are a very easy way to enter that 

process. 

CHAIR:  Are you referring to Aborigines imprisoned for non-payment of helmet fines? 

Mr Cooper:  Yes, one individual I know, and non-Aboriginal people as well. 

CHAIR:  Can you describe some situations you have witnessed? 

Mr Cooper:  I have had them described to me by individuals. One was a local Aboriginal man in my town, 

and he reported that he had received a number of fines, was not able to pay them and ended up incarcerated. 

Another young man I was talking to recently was in Dubbo, and he explained that he had somehow accrued 

several thousands of dollars in fines. I do not know whether he was incarcerated for that, but it certainly put him 

in—he described himself as effed—such a position, financially behind, that it was difficult for him in other parts 

of his life. 

CHAIR:  You said 'provocation to authority', or words to that effect—how widespread do you think that is? 

Mr Cooper:  I think it would be a substantial percentage of young people. If I go down to my local skate park, 

there are always plenty that are not wearing a helmet and would see it as an opportunity. At times, when I have 

ridden without a helmet, I have seen the police, and there is an adrenaline rush to that. I expect that young people 

who are in that situation are getting a similar kind of experience. In terms of the percentages, I think most folks, 

their parents, say: 'You should wear a helmet; it is a sensible thing to do.' I have worked a lot in mountain-biking 

coaching. We encourage people to wear a helmet because we introduce them to ideas of managed risk, and they 

see wisdom in that. 

CHAIR:  Do you have a view of how Australian cycling, 50 years from now, will compare with the rest of the 

world? 

Mr Cooper:  This would be a fairly pivotal—reform of the helmet laws would make a significant difference. 

At the moment, we are extremely polarised. Our culture is highly geared towards sporting cycling, with mountain 

biking and road cycling. It is highly commodified and, if we continue down that path, the cycling problem, which 

transport ministers often face, would be approached from an increasingly regulated strategy that would be—as 

Duncan Gay has been discussing in the last couple of years—the discussion of licensing and registration. I would 

see that as resulting in the collapse of our cycling culture. That has failed in other countries. I think it would cause 

a much lower participation rate and, obviously, have other side-effects. The helmet laws are fairly pivotal in the 

direction in which our cycling culture is heading. It would enable an expansion of the emerging cycle-chic 

movement— 

CHAIR:  The what? 

Mr Cooper:  Cycle chic. 

Ms Francis:  Stylish cycling. 

CHAIR:  Like MAMILs? 

Ms Francis:  No. 

Mr Cooper:  No, in fact quite an opposite to that. We have indulged our commodity experiences into lycra and 

high-performance racing bikes. The obvious next progression I can see that cycling culture would take in 

Australia is into cycling chic, moving more towards the hipster model. With the absence of the helmet laws, it 

would probably allow for a greater breadth of expression and performance of cycling types. 
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CHAIR:  Before I come to Ms Francis, there is a note in your submission in relation to gender inequity, and 

you said:  

Australia is renowned for a poor gender ratio in cycling ... with women having a comparative low representation. 

You probably heard previous witnesses referring to perceptions that it is dangerous, due to the obligation to wear 

a helmet, but you make an interesting point there about helmet hair and vanity not being a big thing for you, but it 

is to others. What is your experience that helmet hair in particular is a factor in women not wanting to wear a 

helmet and therefore not wanting to ride? 

Ms Francis:  Are you asking me? 

CHAIR:  I was asking Mr Cooper, but you probably have a better understanding. 

Ms Francis:  No, I do not think that is the most significant factor. 

CHAIR:  You don't? 

Ms Francis:  No. If you are talking about style, that may affect women more; it may not be the helmet hair as 

such. 

CHAIR:  It might be the whole helmet! 

Ms Francis:  Other factors are more important to women, like the perception of danger that the helmet 

symbolises. Women are risk averse. If you tell them they need to wear a helmet to ride, they will assume the 

activity is more dangerous. Women are also more likely to be utility cyclists. Utility cyclists find the helmet 

inconvenient. I would say a number of things come before helmet hair. 

Mr Cooper:  Can I elaborate on what Dorothy Robinson said as well? The safest cyclists are women. Our 

gender imbalance in Australia is obvious. 

CHAIR:  Ms Francis, you have been a non-wearer of helmets for some years now, I understand? 

Ms Francis:  Close to 40. 

CHAIR:  Close to 40 years; that is a fairly lengthy record. You have been booked a few times, I understand? 

Ms Francis:  I was booked in the early nineties. I have not been booked recently. 

CHAIR:  You have not been booked more recently. Your submission, and I understand your story, includes 

being arrested for non-payment of fines associated with cycling. Is that right? 

Ms Francis:  That is correct. 

CHAIR:  You were subjected to some undignified treatment as a result of being arrested—was that right? 

Ms Francis:  I was taken to the local lockup and strip-searched, is that what you are referring to? 

CHAIR:  Yes. 

Ms Francis:  I did not put that in my submission. 

CHAIR:  Somebody advised me about it. What was the outcome of that? Did you lodge a complaint? Were 

you convicted? 

Ms Francis:  I believed it was what they did to everyone who was arrested, that it was part of the punishment 

for being a criminal. 

CHAIR:  Were you a criminal? 

Ms Francis:  I had not paid my fines. 

CHAIR:  Does not paying fines make you a criminal? 

Senator CANAVAN:  But you were not convicted of anything. You had been arrested. 

Ms Francis:  No, I had not been to court. I was arrested for not paying my fines. 

CHAIR:  Were they on-the-spot fines? 

Ms Francis:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  So you had never been to a court? 

Ms Francis:  No. 

CHAIR:  For not paying on the spot fines? 

Ms Francis:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  You were arrested? 

Ms Francis:  I was arrested without warning as well. 
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CHAIR:  You were arrested without warning, and you were strip-searched in a police station. Were you held 

for long? 

Ms Francis:  I was transferred from Kyneton to Keilor, because the Kyneton jail was not adequate. I was 

pregnant at the time, and it was not safe enough, so I was transferred to Keilor. I spent 24 hours in Keilor, and I 

was then released on a community service order. I should add that I was supposed to serve the community service 

order from the start, but there was confusion over what they were going to do with me, and that never happened. 

That is why I accidentally ended up in jail. 

CHAIR:  In your submission—and I will refer to your submission now—you talk about mandatory helmet 

laws giving the local police something to do. Can you tell us how the police have treated other cyclists in addition 

to you? 

Ms Francis:  I think they just fined every cyclist without a helmet. They were very zealous about this 

particular law. We were not expecting this. We thought that it was too trivial for the police, and it surprised us. 

Kyneton is a police training centre, and possibly some of the police that were training were training on the cyclists 

because not wearing a helmet is an easy offence for them to spot. We were not badly treated; we were just issued 

with fines. Within a couple of years, all the transport cyclists from Kyneton had stopped riding their bikes. I think 

Dorothy has already said that people in rural areas do not need helmets. They have very safe conditions on their 

suburban streets. We have wide streets with no traffic. So they were not wearing helmets before the law came in, 

and when the law came in they did not put them on. They then received fines, and most of them stopped cycling. 

CHAIR:  Have you cycled since they locked you up? 

Ms Francis:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  In Australia? 

Ms Francis:  Yes. I stopped 99 per cent of my cycling in Australia after I was locked up. I have started cycling 

more carefully now to avoid the police. I do not want to go through that again. I ride on bike tracks in Melbourne, 

and I ride in back areas in the country. I enjoyed riding last year in Byron Bay, where there is no policing of the 

helmet law, and I ride overseas. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I noticed 'velophobia' in your submission. Can you explain velophobia? It is the first 

time I have come across the word. 

Mr Cooper:  It is a term in cycling media circles regarding the fear of cycling, and it comes in two forms. One 

is the physical fear of cycling—that you might be injured while doing it—and there is also the fear of a cyclist 

identity, becoming a cyclist. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Not that there is anything wrong with that, of course! On the fear of being injured, I 

suppose it is your evidence that the introduction of laws has increased people's fears. Is that what you are saying? 

The public health campaign around the introduction of laws helped do that? 

Mr Cooper:  It is a bit of a paradox within cycling advocacy circles that we are our own worst enemies 

sometimes. We talk about all these injuries and things that are happening, and our own education programs to say, 

'Be safe and warn people,' scare people out of cycling as well. There is a point at which we try to maintain an 

objective level of risk and be able to calculate that. It is clear that there is a lot of cycling promotion that is based 

around fear. 

Senator CANAVAN:  If I could play devil's advocate for one second, there is certainly compelling evidence 

that there was a reduction in cycling use surrounding the mandatory helmet laws. However, one interpretation of 

that could be that people became more understanding or observant of what the risks were and made a judgement, 

'Well, I won't cycle; I'll do other things.' How do you counter that potential interpretation that people are still 

making their own minds up, but they have had more in-your-face evidence about what the risks are and decided 

not to ride? 

Mr Cooper:  I think there is a lot more promotion in Australia, if you look at other countries. It is almost like it 

goes hand in hand with the laws, in that we have to validate. The Dutch model is that they leave the promotion of 

helmet use to private enterprise. If you look at other sporting activities—I am a rock climber and a whitewater 

kayaker—at the sale of the products, I wear those. I wear helmets for them. It is really that we look at it 

objectively and say, 'Is that what I need for the activity?' 

Senator CANAVAN:  You mentioned in your opening evidence that there is the safety-in-numbers effect. Can 

you explain that a bit? You could presumably still—and I see plenty of pelotons on the road from time to time. 
What in the mandatory helmet laws has led to a reduction in the safety-in-numbers effect? 
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Mr Cooper:  Professor Rissel probably covered this a little bit. It is not simply the loss of numbers but actually 

the types of cyclists that are removed from the equation as well. Cycling is associated with a morality. It is a 

moral performance of good health and environmental responsibility. If, for example, at an early age you are 

excluded from cycling by the police harassing you for not wearing a helmet, you end up with a different identity, 

and I think that underscores some of the motorist behaviour that underlies the aggression towards cyclists. 

If you look at the surveys that explain the key reason for cyclists not riding, it is fear of motorists. It is fear of 

the danger on the road. A lot of people will not simply admit that it is the helmet laws, but what we have 

generated are these people who otherwise—I can think of my mates when I was young, who, instead of being 

cyclists, when the helmet law came in, found it was easier to perform that type of behaviour in a car, where you 

can be aggressive to others and scare other people. If you are a cyclist, you are on the end of it. I think it is those 

people who we took out of the equation who I would much rather have as cyclists because a bike does not hurt 

anyone else. 

Senator CANAVAN:  In your submission, Mr Cooper, you talk about some of the potential options we have 

for policy changes. You go through some of the alternatives. What would you recommend? What would your 

preferred model be? 

Mr Cooper:  I agree with Professor Chris Rissel on the trialling of the 16-year-olds retention of the law and 

exemptions for adults—that was my understanding of his position—and then observing the results, with 

potentially further reform in future. That sounds like a simple reform. It is not all or nothing, and we do have a 

very blunt instrument. There are a number of other options there in terms of policy strategies which might be 

exemptions for hire bikes or applying it only to road cyclists or specific applications, but I think something a little 

bit more nuanced might be more effective in getting the public health outcome. The age one makes sense to me. A 

kid can see that their parents can drink alcohol, read pornography, vote or serve in the military, but they do not 

have the same capacity. I think that would probably involve more parents in cycling with children as well. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Ms Francis, do you have any particular preferred policy options for us? 

Ms Francis:  Yes. I would go for the full repeal for over-16s, and I would go for a massive investment in 

infrastructure to make it safe for children to ride, commencing with the approaches to schools. When the 

infrastructure is in place for children, I would repeal it for children as well. I should point out that anywhere that it 

is not safe for a child to ride without a helmet is also not safe for a child to ride with a helmet. Putting a helmet on 

a child will not make them safe approaching a school if there are careless drivers in the vicinity of the school. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I know your ideal option would be full repeal. We discussed earlier how the 

Queensland parliament recommended a limited repeal around bike paths and also, I believe, low-speed roads. 

Would a recommendation of that kind still assist your issues around the rural and regional areas? I am just trying 

to think. If there were a push for no need for bike helmets on roads below 60 kilometres an hour, would that cover 

most of the roads in your area? 

Ms Francis:  No. I could not get to work on roads of less than 60 kilometres an hour. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Where do you live? 

Ms Francis:  I live in Kyneton. We are never going to get bike tracks there because we do not have the 

population for them, although I would dearly love to have them. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Is there any alternative restriction? I am just trying to think of how to protect those 

issues you are talking about. How else could you define something to say that regional areas or a road with fewer 

than such and such cars a day could potentially be exempt as well? Has anyone looked at that? 

Ms Francis:  Do you mean a road with a speed limit of 100 kilometres an hour? 

Senator CANAVAN:  I suppose what I am saying is that, if you put the speed limit at 100 kilometres an hour, 

you are obviously going to capture then a lot of roads in urban areas which are very busy. Indeed, a lot of roads of 

60 kays in urban areas will be very busy and potentially quite risky as well. Has anyone in your industry or 

cycling organisations looked at a way to black-list or white-list particular roads or areas based on their riskiness 

apart from speed limits? It is a bit of a blunt instrument. You see what I mean. Is there any way to look at it? 

Ms Francis:  There are safer routes and more dangerous routes, but any route with a 100-kilometre-an-hour 

speed limit is best served by a separated bicycle track, in my opinion. 

Mr Cooper:  One of the European countries has it as out of town, as soon as you exit the city limits. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Particular areas. 
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Mr Cooper:  They have a geographical exemption to it. 

Senator CANAVAN:  So something like that could potentially be something to look at for ours. 

Mr Cooper:  Yes. It makes sense that, as soon as you hit an 80-kay road, you are not going to be going at the 

15 or 20 kays per hour that Dorothy suggested. You are probably not a commuter cyclist, or, if you are a 

commuter cyclist, you are commuting 15, 20 or 50 kays, and if that is the case you are probably on a road bike 

and you want to have a helmet on, so that makes sense on a geographic basis. Something like the 60 or 80—80 

would be an obvious place that you would probably keep the law and for 60 you would not. That is one potential 

model. 

CHAIR:  Mr Cooper, I just want to go through a couple of statements. You are a youth worker; is that right? 

Mr Cooper:  Yes, I work in environmental training, and also I do a bit of part-time teaching in Newcastle 

uni—a lot of work with youth. 

CHAIR:  Does that include Aboriginal youth? 

Mr Cooper:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  There is a page in your submission that has attracted my attention. First of all, what is a 'cyborgian' 

cyclist? Even though you tried to explain, I am still struggling with that. 

Mr Cooper:  The cyborgian cyclists are those of us like me. I have a physical impairment, so I cannot walk 

very long distances. There are quite a lot of ex-trail bikers who have busted knees and shins, so the bike is almost 

like our wheelchair. It is for mobility. It is a mobility aid. 

CHAIR:  I see. I have the page open where you refer to some of the impacts you have observed. You have 

'Introduction of youth to chronic debt'. There is a quote that says: 

I got five thousand dollars in bike helmet fines. I was [expletive] by then. 

And then an Aboriginal male said he received a custodial sentence based upon his inability to pay bicycle helmet 

fines: 

I got sent-up just for not paying helmet fines. 

Are those one-offs, or is there more than one example? 

Mr Cooper:  It is really the last few years that I have started working in this field. The issue of the bike 

helmets, because I discussed the issue of cycling sociology, has come up more. One of the things that I have 

noticed is that people expect me to be a pious, 'healthist' cyclist. Where you are thinking of the reform of this law, 

it is actually people like me that they are worried would shame them for not wearing a helmet. After the discovery 

that I am actually open to considering the reform, the stories start coming out. Since making an effort, I am 

starting to get these kinds of accounts far more often. I think that is one of the things about those cycling 

advocates who remain in Australia. People simply do not talk to them about those issues, because they are scared 

of the shame: 'Oh, you're not wearing a helmet? Oh, horrible!' 

CHAIR:  Another one that attracted my attention was a paragraph that begins 'Suspicion of police motivation': 

… one Aboriginal youth in a NSW country town explained to me, "you see that car, that's their unmarked one, we know it, 

when the cops want to give us some grief, they just do a helmet run … " 

Mr Cooper:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  Does this mean the cops want to give them grief? What do you think they mean by that? What does 

'giving them grief' mean? 

Mr Cooper:  That was an example from a country town in New South Wales. If there are a lot of young people 

who are truants or there has been a spate of house robberies or a house fire—that young person was suspecting 

that they would want to give them grief. Basically, it is to get them off the streets and back into school or 

wherever. So it is strategic policing and the helmets are an easy way of doing that. The kids for the most part 

believe that they can ride around without a helmet and it is only at certain times that they are experiencing that. 

CHAIR:  Then you report on a distinction between Aborigines and non-Aborigines, as to whether or not they 

get fined. 

Mr Cooper:  That was an account from a non-Aboriginal male near Moree. He was speculating that the police 

would not fine the Aboriginal people because they would not be able to pay the fines anyway. 

CHAIR:  So they do not bother, although the other example was they do bother and then they get jailed for it. 

Mr Cooper:  Yes. Part of the problem with any of this data is there has been no research done into what is 

actually going on within the police service. It is obviously going to be problematic data to gather. So it is all 
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speculation by other members of the community. Hence, it is questioning the motivations of the state as to why 

the helmet laws exist: for revenue raising or for selective policing? All of these are speculation by other members 

of the public on what is going on within the police. I have spoken to two police about it and the impression I got 

was more about what is not being said, rather than what is being said. It is a case of I think we know but it would 

not be the sort of thing you would expect police to own up to. 

CHAIR:  It seems you are implying that the enforcement of helmet laws is occurring in certain circumstances 

at least for other reasons than just simply that people are not wearing helmets. Is that right? 

Mr Cooper:  It is certainly a suspicion among the community. 

CHAIR:  But concerning revenue raising, the fines for not wearing a helmet in New South Wales are not huge. 

Mr Cooper:  No. I do not think that is the significant one; I think probably the one would be the selective 

policing, trying to manage truants. In some ways, if you retain the law for under 16s, at least the police still have 

the power to do that. 

CHAIR:  The idea would be the police would pursue truants on the grounds of not wearing a helmet and that 

would then give them leverage in terms of getting back into school. 

Mr Cooper:  Yes. I guess you would have to talk to the police about their strategies. As I said, all of this is 

speculation on what the police behaviour is and it is really detailed data that would be very difficult to get hold of. 

They are conversations I have had were with two police officers who were off duty, fellow mountain bikers. 

There appears to me to be a reluctance about the helmet laws and I get the impression it is because of those 

reasons. They do not want to be implicated. They have more important things to do. It is also police resources. 

There is a paper that some of the critics did of the statistical areas in anti-helmet arguments, that UNSW did. They 

deny the cost-shifting exercises within government. I think it is absolutely true that there is cost shifting within 

government from the use of funds which could go into bike paths or safety infrastructure. I have seen budget line 

items that say 'cycling promotion', which is actually cycling regulation activity. It would otherwise go into things 

that would really benefit cyclists' safety. 

CHAIR:  Finally, I want to talk about civil disobedience, which you raise. I will be interested also in the views 

of Ms Francis, since she is an enthusiastic non-helmet wearer too. Your suggestion, Mr Cooper, is that 

disobedience continues on a large scale and that revoking the mandatory helmet laws would not have a significant 

negative effect on helmet usage, basically because not many people are wearing them now anyway, or a lot of 

people— 

Mr Cooper:  In certain areas. Byron Bay is a good example of where there is quite a lot of nonobservance of 

the law. The cyclist's reputation as a scofflaw gets formed, predominantly, through the helmet laws. In the recent 

Operation Pedro in New South Wales, once you subtracted helmet offences from the numbers, they ended up   

issuing more traffic infringement notices to motorists than to cyclists, so it appears that there is still a significant 

amount of disobedience to the law. I am aware that there are social media networks that notify cyclists of helmet 

cop activities, so people are sharing police locations to avoid the law. 

CHAIR:  What you are saying, I suppose, is that not wearing a helmet is being orchestrated now to ensure that 

it does not actually end up in people paying fines? 

Mr Cooper:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  Ms Francis, in the time since you ran afoul of the police on this issue, what is your impression of the 

rate of enforcement of the helmet laws? Do you think it has altered over the period you have been interested in 

this issue? 

Ms Francis:  I think it varies enormously around different parts of Australia. What is emerging is there are a 

very large range of cycling cultures in different places, depending on the amount of the fine, the risk of the riding 

situation, the level of enforcement and the size of the fine. In Melbourne, we have got almost complete 

compliance with the law, because nobody can afford to break it. In areas where it is not enforced, I think it often 

comes down to about 50 per cent noncompliance. 

CHAIR:  That, essentially, suggests that the only reason people are complying with it is that they do not want 

to be fined, not because they believe it is— 

Ms Francis:  In a situation where they believe they are at a high risk of being injured, they may be wearing 

helmets, but there are a number of situations where they are at no risk and, in those situations, they will be 

complying with the law to avoid a fine. 

CHAIR:  Isn't it amazing what adults do when they have the opportunity to be rational and act in their own 

interests? It is quite remarkable! Are there any more questions? 
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Mr Cooper:  Thank you, Senator. 

CHAIR:  Thank you very much.  

Proceedings suspended from 11:58 to 12:50 

  



Page 28 Senate Monday, 16 November 2015 

 

ECONOMICS REFERENCES COMMITTEE 

BROWN, Dr Julie, Senior Research Fellow, NeuRA Injury Prevention Research Centre  

GRZEBIETA, Professor Raphael, Past President, Australasian College of Road Safety 

HEALY, Mr David John, Co Vice-President, Australasian College of Road Safety  

IVERS, Professor Rebecca Quentin, Member Executive Council, Australian Injury Prevention Network 

KENFIELD, Dr Christian Benjamin, Chairman, Victorian Trauma Committee, Royal Australasian 

College of Surgeons 

OLIVIER, Associate Professor Jake, Member, Australasian College of Road Safety 

ROSENFELD, Professor Jeffrey Victor AM, OBE, Member, Neurosurgical Society of Australasia 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Do you have any additional comments to make about the capacity in which you appear?  

Prof. Olivier:  I am also representing the Australian Injury Prevention Network. 

CHAIR:  Thank you for appearing before the committee today. I will now invite each of you, if you wish, to 

make a brief opening statement before we proceed to questions. We will begin with Dr Brown. 

Dr Brown:  I am representing our injury prevention teams at NeuRA. NeuRA is an independent medical 

research organisation, and our overall strategic aim is to reduce the burden of disorders of the nervous system, 

including the brain. The best approach for reducing the burden of traumatic brain injury is prevention or 

mitigation of the risk of brain injury. 

So we see bicycle helmet laws as having a positive impact on health and welfare, because helmets work to 

mitigate this risk of head injury. Helmet laws also work to encourage the use of helmets, particularly amongst 

children, since we know that helmet-wearing behaviour of children depends a lot on what they see other people 

doing, particularly their parents. 

The consequences of traumatic brain injury are great, particularly amongst children, since a traumatic brain 

injury can really change the course of someone's life. It also disrupts families and reduces opportunities for 

education and participation in the workforce. Over a lifetime, it can really reduce earning potential not just for the 

person with the brain injury but also their family and carers. 

It also carries an enormous cost to the healthcare system over the lifetime of the individual. From an economic 

perspective, I think the debate we should be having is not really about whether helmet laws should be mandatory; 

it should be about how we get more people to use helmets, particularly how we get more children to use helmets. 

Mandating helmet-use laws is one strategy, and a very important one, in increasing the use of helmets but what 

we should be talking about is how we might enhance the impact of legislation on helmet use. Thanks. 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  Thank you, Senators, for the opportunity. I treat brain injuries every day from minor to the 

most severe. My aim is to reduce injuries and their severity, and the outcomes that we have just heard about; the 

costs to the community—monetary and societal; family disruption; and individual health issues as a result of brain 

injury. Anything that we can do to reduce brain injury we should do as a society. This is not a matter of human 

rights; this is a matter of human safety and protecting people, and helmets protect people. 

The evidence is stark, and it is very clear that wearing bicycle helmets prevents severe injuries—sorry, reduces 

the number of severe injuries that we see, reduces the severity of the injuries and particularly reduces injuries to 

the superficial aspects of the scalp, skull and brain. There is no doubt about that one. For instance, if you get a 

depressed fracture of the skull cutting into the brain, the person can be disabled for life with epilepsy and other 

neurological problems. The helmet no doubt protects against and prevents that type of injury. As far as the more 

diffuse, severe injuries go, there is very good, strong epidemiological evidence that wearing the helmets reduces 

the risk of injury quite dramatically. There is just no doubt about that from all the Australian studies and the 

overseas studies. 

I wish to table this afternoon two documents. One is on the cost of brain injury to Australia, from the Access 

Economics report of 2009, just to give you an idea of what the cost is to the community, to the taxpayer and to the 

government in terms of money costs. The second document I wish to table is an editorial that I did with Professor 

Frank McDermott and Professor Peter Cameron—we are all experts in trauma—in The Medical Journal of 

Australia back in 2013, also pointing out that helmets make a stark difference to the number and severity of head 

injury. There is just no question in our mind that we should retain helmets in the legislation. It should not be 
changed. 

CHAIR:  You have some documents to table? 
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Prof. Rosenfeld:  Yes. 

Mr Healy:  Thanks for the opportunity to present very briefly. The Australasian College of Road Safety 

submission is a joint submission with our partners, and I commend the submission to you for more detailed 

consideration. The Australasian College of Road Safety is a peak regional body which involves and entails a 

network of road safety professionals and stakeholders, and it is very much concerned with making a difference. 

We understand collectively that to make a difference you have to work with strong, scientifically based evidence 

to ensure that we are going to get the result that we would like in terms of reduced death and injury. 

It is instructive to look very briefly at the history of road safety in Australia. Back in 1970, some 3,800 persons 

were killed on our roads. Last year it was of the order of 1,200, so it is less than one-third of what it was, which 

represents a magnificent save in terms of burden of injury and cost to our community more generally. But one of 

the reasons that we have moved in that direction is that there have been a number of interventions introduced 

which we call population based interventions. Essentially that means that for a particular population, for a minor 

inconvenience to many, you really save lives and reduce serious injuries for a significant minority. It is for these 

reasons that we have shown such progress. Random breath testing and compulsory seatbelt wearing are examples, 

and, of course, mandatory wearing of bicycle helmets by cyclists is an excellent example. 

I was involved in the public education and support system surrounding its introduction in Victoria, and at that 

time a parliamentary road safety committee inquiry strongly recommended that mandatory bike helmet wearing 

be introduced, off the back of the research that was available at that time. Since that time, between then and now, 

the research has only grown stronger and more substantial to support the fact that bicycle helmet wearing really 

does work. 

I will refer you before closing to three aspects of a report to draw your attention to, and I am sure my 

colleagues will provide greater detail. First of all, helmets reduce risk of serious injury or death by about 60 per 

cent—in the case of death by about 74 per cent. For cyclist admissions to hospitals, where a cyclist was wearing a 

helmet, it is one-third the cost of a cyclist who was not wearing a helmet being admitted. In other words, not 

wearing a helmet represents a burden three times the amount to the system, to the health resources available to us 

nationally, than for a cyclist being admitted to a hospital who was wearing a helmet. These are very compelling 

figures. 

Finally, there is a reference in our submission to a survey, which indicates that in a democratic society, such as 

ours, there is very strong community support for mandatory wearing of helmets. Continuation of that law is an 

expression of the will of the Australian society. I refer you to our submission and, in particular, page 21, which 

has seven recommendations. Central to that is the maintenance of compulsory bicycle-helmet wearing by all 

cyclists in Australia. Thank you. 

Prof. Ivers:  I am Professor of Public Health at the University of Sydney. I am also Director of the Injury 

Division at The George Institute. As I said, I am here representing the Australian Injury Prevention Network, 

which is the peak body for researchers, practitioners and policymakers around injury prevention in Australia, 

representing 22 organisations. We contributed to the submission. We also have a position paper on our website 

from which part of that submission was based.  

The Australian Injury Prevention Network is very supportive of helmet legislation. There is no question that 

increasing cycling participation and other forms of active transportation is going to be critical to the future, as our 

cities urbanise, for both environmental and health reasons. I am on the record as having written an opinion piece, 

very recently, in The Sydney Morning Herald, encouraging better infrastructure in New South Wales on that 

point. However, helmet legislation is not the barrier to increasing cycling participation that others have promoted 

it to be. There is very clear evidence that bicycle helmets are effective in reducing head injury in the event of a 

crash. That is undeniable. There is very clear, strong and consistent evidence. There is also evidence that cycling 

participation does not decline with the introduction of helmet legislation. Over time, cycling participation has 

been increasing. Increasing cycling participation with helmet legislation and with helmet-wearing rates is what we 

should be looking for. 

In jurisdictions without helmet legislation, helmet-wearing rates are low. There is also evidence that it is very 

difficult to increase helmet-wearing rates without legislation. As you have heard, we have a very proud tradition 

of legislation and enforcement in improving road safety and in other forms of health and safety across Australia. 

It is very well known that it is very hard to change people's behaviour without legislation and enforcement in the 

area of road safety. That is why we have such high seatbelt-wearing rates and why we have low drink-driving 

rates. It comes back to that combination of legislation not on its own but with enforcement and effective public 

campaigns. Helmet legislation is not the enemy. We should be increasing cycling participation with helmet 

wearing and helmet legislation and finding ways that we can better increase that.  
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On a second note, I note the other discussions about the impact on young Aboriginal people. I run Aboriginal 

support programs for driver licensing across New South Wales. I run a large-scale trial and we deal, significantly, 

with the issue of bicycle-helmet fines and unpaid fines for Aboriginal youth, and I have seen the impact that has. I 

am prepared to talk about that as well. That is an issue of institutional racism and a lack of support for young 

Aboriginal people in rural areas. It is a much bigger more complex issue than just helmet laws and helmet fines. 

Thank you. 

Dr Kenfield:  Thank you for the opportunity to be a part of this submission. I am a trauma surgeon at the 

Royal Melbourne Hospital and I see bicycle accidents on a near-daily basis. The Royal Australasian College of 

Surgeons is the leading advocate for surgical standards, professionalism and surgical education in Australia and 

New Zealand, representing 7,000 surgeons and approximately 1,300 surgical trainees and international medical 

graduates. We also have a public health contribution to the community and feel that regarding anything that can 

deter injury and improve health we agree with all of the policies that have been forwarded, to date.  

On a personal level, something that is not borne out in all of the papers that have been presented is the degree 

of brain injury that we see being reduced in those patients who have had bicycle helmets correctly fitted. Many of 

the papers talk about brain injuries as a binary—either they have a brain injury or they do not have a brain 

injury—and the spectrum is quite large when it comes to brain injuries. Quite often in the emergency department 

we will see patients who have damaged their helmet who might have a very mild concussion and they are deemed 

fit to return home and fit to return to work, and they return to work quite quickly, as opposed to those patients we 

have in hospital for weeks or even months at a time who go to a neurological rehabilitation centre and many of 

them never return to work and require full-time care. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Thank you all for your evidence and your work in this area. I want to start with 

Professor Rosenfeld. Professor, you said words to the effect that we should do everything we can to reduce brain 

injury. If that is true, though, why wouldn't we just ban cycling altogether, because that would get rid of all brain 

injury, at least for cycling? 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  You cannot ban something that is part of normal life. People are not going to stop cycling. I 

do not think it is a practical proposition. What you have to try do for people who are cycling is to make it as safe 

as possible for them when they do ride their bikes. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I approach this from the position that there should be some level of cost-benefit 

analysis about whether this particular intervention is best for the community rather than targeting just one 

particular metric, which is brain injury. The evidence we have heard this morning is that, yes, it might reduce 

brain injuries but it might also reduce exercise and have consequent effects of people's health and potentially 

cardiovascular illnesses. Are you saying we should not weigh that up, that we should just target brain injury? Or 

do we need to look at the holistic impacts? 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  We need to look at the holistic impact but the head injury aspect is the most expensive for 

society and, as I said, for the individuals and the families who are affected in terms of their health and wellbeing. 

But the monetary cost is enormous. If we can reduce all of that, it is well worth doing, and it is our mission as 

neurosurgeons to do that. I did not say that I represent a large society of all the neurosurgeons in Australia, and 

we are all of one mind: we need to have helmets to protect people's brains. That is our mission.  

I think the argument you are getting onto about obesity and more people would ride their bikes if they did not 

have to wear a helmet, and they might lose some weight, we all do not accept that argument. There is no evidence 

for that at the moment. Mind you, there have not been any large studies of that, but actually we feel that the 

people who are obese do not necessarily look at cycling to reduce their obesity. They might look at other things, 

like diet, but cycling is not necessarily high on their list. So we do not see that as a major argument to say, 'Let's 

get rid of helmets and more people are going to ride bikes', because the evidence is not there for that. 

Senator CANAVAN:  With all due respect, I think it is perhaps a little bit strong to say there is no evidence. I 

do not know if you have seen the other submissions, and I am not picking on you, Professor Rosenfeld; I am 

happy for anybody to answer this question. There was some quite compelling evidence presented by Dr Robinson 

on census data. It is just an indicator, and like all data it could have other reasons—and I am happy for that to be 

brought to bear. But it quite clearly showed that at the time these laws were introduced in Australia there was a 

substantial reduction in the percentage of people cycling to work. Do you have other data to say that is wrong, or 

incorrect, or there is another way to interpret that?  

Prof. Olivier:  The negative health impacts are around people not cycling because of legislation, because there 

is not really much evidence that there is any other potentially negative impact. 
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The census is taken on a day, five years apart. There are over 1,300 days between those. It is not a very 

accurate representation as to what is happening in day-to-day changes in cycling. Between Monday, Tuesday, 

Wednesday, Thursday and Friday there are going to be fluctuations in the amounts of cycling. We do not know, 

because it is only taken every five years, if that difference is just caught up in the random variation. 

In addition to that, if you look at the proportion cycling to work in Australian cities, where most of the cycling 

is occurring, from 1986 to 1991 the proportions for cycling went from 1.14 per cent to 1.13 per cent and— 

Senator CANAVAN:  What were those years? I just missed that— 

Prof. Olivier:  From 1986 to 1991. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Right. That is census data then? 

Prof. Olivier:  That is census data. 

Senator CANAVAN:  You said 1.1— 

Prof. Olivier:  It was 1.14 per cent to 1.13 per cent. And in 1991 when the census data— 

Senator CANAVAN:  So we are still looking at about a fifth—a 20 per cent reduction—something like that? 

Prof. Olivier:  No, 1.14 per cent to 1.13 per cent. The difference is in the hundredths of a per cent. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Yes, but in terms of a percentage of people cycling it would be about a 20 per cent 

reduction. 

Prof. Olivier:  But the number went up. This is the proportion of people who were taken on the census day for 

those days. The actual count of cyclists went up in that one. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Sorry—went up or down? I have 1986 at 1.4 per cent— 

Prof. Olivier:  It was 1.14 per cent— 

Senator CANAVAN:  Right—sorry—okay. And in 1991? 

Prof. Olivier:  It was 1.13 per cent. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Okay—sorry—I had 1.4. I misheard you. That does not seem the same as the data here. 

Oh, I see—okay. But then in regional areas there was a massive reduction. I am not sure what that was. So there 

was a slight increase in some capital cities, but they were not the states which introduced the mandatory helmet 

laws. I suppose one of the issues here is that the introduction of some of these helmet laws was after 1991, weren't 

they? 

Prof. Olivier:  Sure. 

Senator CANAVAN:  A couple of states did them before they— 

Prof. Olivier:  They were coming in from 1991 to 1996. The last states to have legislation in Australia came in 

in 1992. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Yes, and there was a reduction between 1991 and— 

Prof. Olivier:  And so there is a lot of time between 1991 and 1996. It is hard to make a causal argument that 

helmet legislation caused that. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Obviously, there is going to be a lot of uncertainty in this field. I suppose— 

Prof. Olivier:  Sure. 

Senator CANAVAN:  The previous witnesses—again, Professor de Jong—presented a detailed study of the 

net benefit costs. Again, there were a lot of assumptions made in all of these assessments. I have been involved in 

them before. You have tabled some evidence on the total costs of brain injury, but do you know of any cost-

benefit study about the marginal impact of the laws—not the overall impact of brain injury? 

Prof. Olivier:  To be honest, there is not enough Australian data to make that assessment. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Okay. 

Prof. Olivier:  Professor de Jong is using numbers based on UK data for the benefits of cycling, and using 

assumptions from all sorts of other sources. He is also assuming that everyone will cycle less with legislation, and 

there is actually evidence against that as well. 

Senator CANAVAN:  They are laws that came in in Australia that would have predated the regulatory impact 

assessment processes which are now in place as a result of National Competition Policy. Do you know of any 

state that has done a regulatory impact statement since the introduction? A sort of post-evaluation assessment? 

Prof. Olivier:  No. 
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Senator CANAVAN:  Okay. I suppose that we do have some degree of competitive federalism in Australia, 

where the Northern Territory have relaxed their laws. I am not sure if you are familiar with this but the evidence 

to us is that apparently they have allowed bicycle use without a helmet on footpaths, and I think on low-speed 

roads as well. Do you have evidence that that has led to an increase? They did that in 1994 or some such—in the 

mid-1990s, so it was some time ago. Has that led to a marked difference in the quantum or severity of brain 

injuries in the Northern Territory as a result of cycling, relative to the rest of the country? Is there any evidence 

there? 

Prof. Ivers:  I am not aware of the specific details about head injury, but I think it is worth noting that the 

fatality rate for the Northern Territory is three times that of the rest of the country. The fatal— 

CHAIR:  On bicycles? 

Prof. Ivers:  No, overall. 

CHAIR:  Overall? 

Prof. Ivers:  Yes, that is right. 

CHAIR:  Not specific to bicycles? 

Prof. Ivers:  No, that is right. It is not specific to bicycles. As I said— 

CHAIR:  There might be a few other reasons for that. 

Prof. Ivers:  There are, but I think Northern Territory laws are not necessarily best-practice across the country, 

either. 

Senator CANAVAN:  The whole thing I am coming at here is that whether or not it is best-practice is an 

evidence-based question. I am not asking you to do that evidence, because it is not your job. I was just wondering 

if there is any. 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  The thing is that what you are talking about in Darwin—and I am not familiar with the 

situation there—is riding at low speed on footpaths. That is not the same as riding on urban streets in Melbourne. 

You just cannot compare them. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Absolutely. But that is a very relevant question for us. I am not sure if you were here 

before when we were told that the Queensland parliament last year recommended implementing the Northern 

Territory situation in Queensland. Are you saying, then, that in relation to relaxation of laws on footpaths and 

possibly low-speed roads you would support that it is a relevant thing to look at—the relative risk on different 

roads of wearing a helmet or not wearing one? 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  It can be looked at, but the problem with introducing a law like that is that it allows creep 

and people stretch it and it ends up with people not wearing their helmets when they should. I would not support 

that type of partial legislation. 

Prof. Ivers:  Helmets are most effective in low-speed crashes, of course. So in fact people who are out cycling 

on cycle pathways are at risk of head injury, as well. Helmets are going to be very effective, so actually having 

helmet legislation that applies to cycle paths is critical, especially as we have increasingly separated 

infrastructure. There is as high risk of head injury on cycle paths as there is elsewhere. 

Prof. Olivier:  In the Northern Territory the number of fatalities per year, prior to legislation, would have been 

around zero, one or two, or maybe even three in some years. After that, it would have been just a bit less than that. 

You are not talking about big numbers to begin with, so if you want to make the argument that things are just as 

safe before and after the legislation in the Northern Territory you are really not talking about big numbers to 

begin with. Any sort of big variation is just one extra case. There is really not enough data to make that 

assumption one way or the other. 

Senator CANAVAN:  That is what I continue to hear—that there is not enough data. In your opening 

statements and submissions you have made some fairly strong conclusions and assertions, but if there is not the 

data there to judge these matters how do you make those strong assertions and judgments? Apart from just 

anecdotes, if the data is not there how do we— 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  I am basing what I said—the strong words I used—on the epidemiological data on injury 

severity and rates before and after helmet introduction, and also comparing us with, say, Holland—the paper that 

came out, which I have here. There are multiple papers showing that the injury severity and rates are reduced by 

helmet wearing. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I am not contesting that. But I thought we established that we had to look at everything 

in a holistic way and not at individual areas. If there is a lack of data on exercise and its influence on how people 
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react to the laws—the information we have is incomplete—potentially the conclusions we can draw should 

perhaps be suitably qualified. Is your opinion here so strident that you would not even want to entertain the 

potential for some relaxation, even if it is just in a randomised trial where we see what happens if we slightly 

relax the laws and judge the evidence of it. A randomised trial would seem to be something the medical 

profession, particularly, would potentially support. 

Dr Brown:  I would like to point out that it is great to look at epidemical studies and look for good data, but 

the effectiveness of helmets basically comes down to laws of physics. Helmets work by slowing down the head or 

giving a greater distance over which the head comes to a stop, and distributing the load over a greater area. It 

manages the forces that are applied to the head through the laws of physics. So, trying to get ethical approval to 

have a randomised, controlled trial where you expose somebody to risk is impossible. There is no way that you 

would put a participant at risk by putting them in a situation where they are going to be exposed to a head injury 

risk, when you know that your other group is going to be protected. 

Senator CANAVAN:  People are exposed to risk all the time. Bikes in general and driving a car—all of these 

things potentially cause injury. It has to be a question about the overall impact of the law and not just on head 

injuries themselves. I understand that you have experiences that I do not have and I understand how that would 

affect what you want to see done, but as legislators we have to look at the whole impact of the laws that we put in 

place, rather than on one metric or outcome. Is the evidence you are providing heavily weighted towards the way 

these laws impact on head injuries—and that is fine if that is where your evidence is coming from—or are you 

saying that even if you look at it from a benefit cost, economy-wide process that it would still be a net benefit? Do 

you have any studies or evidence to back that up? 

Dr Brown:  My submission is based on the fact that we need to encourage activity and encourage cycling. 

From a holistic public health perspective cycling is a really good thing, but we do not want to exchange one 

public health problem for another public health problem. We want to increase activity and we want to do that in 

the safest way we can. The most expensive diagnosis in the healthcare system is for traumatic brain injury, and 

we know we have an effective way to prevent that. 

CHAIR:  The national cycling strategy has an aspiration to increase cycling as well, and that has been in effect 

for some years now. Why do you think it is a dismal failure? The numbers are simply not being achieved—why 

do you think that is? 

Dr Brown:  Some of my colleagues here are probably better placed to speak to that than I. My understanding 

is that what we really need is a lot more attention to better infrastructure. 

CHAIR:  Just on infrastructure, the Australian government review in 2013 found that the net health benefit, 

adjusted for injury, for each kilometre cycled was 75 cents—about half of the total economic benefits of a typical 

bikeway project. If it is true that helmet laws discourage people from cycling—and I will refer to some evidence 

in that respect in due course and we have a lot of submissions to that effect—isn't it counterproductive to 

discourage people from participating in an activity that generates 75 cents of health benefit for every kilometre 

cycled? 

Dr Brown:  I have not made up my mind that cycling does go down with helmet wearing. I think there are 

some studies, but I am not on top of— 

CHAIR:  We have had a lot of evidence to suggest that that is the case. It is survey evidence that has not been 

contradicted by anybody else's submission. Some of the submissions have contradicted the evidence in 

submissions made by organisations represented at the table here. One says: 'The effect of helmet laws was most 

noticeable in areas with high and increasing levels of cycling, for example, cycling to work in small cities in 

regional which have lower traffic volumes and shorter travel distances. In 1991, just before WA's helmet law, an 

estimated 5.7 per cent of trips in Perth were by bike. Despite valiant efforts to increase cycling post-law, cycling 

plummeted to 1.6 per cent of trips by 2003-2006.' 

Dr Brown:  I am not on top of the cycling surveys. We did have some data. 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  One comment that I would make in answer to that, and I am not familiar with the surveys 

you are talking about, but my own observation is that people are not riding bikes because they do not want to 

wear a helmet. They are frightened to ride because of the safety issues on the road today—there is not enough 

safe infrastructure for them to ride on. The number of accidents that are reported or they see or their friends are 

having is the reason I am not riding a bike. I would love to ride a bike and I would ride it with a helmet but I am 

not going to ride it when I feel it is unsafe to do so. That is why most people are not riding. They are worried 

about the roads and the cars on the roads are not bike friendly—they will run over the bikes. 
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CHAIR:  I acknowledge that is a concern. I am not really disagreeing with you on that. The point is, though: 

the roads were not any safer 25 years ago when helmets were not obligatory— 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  There were a lot less cars on the road. 

CHAIR:  Rates of cycling as a proportion of the population, based on the submissions we have received, have, 

in fact, declined over those 25 years. If that is a factor, if perceptions of danger are a reality—and, as I said, I am 

not disagreeing with that—you would think it would pretty much apply then and now. Yet the evidence would 

suggest that we have seen a fairly substantial reduction in cycling, especially, for example, transport cycling—

kids going to school, people going to the shops or workers commuting to work. That does not include sport 

cycling—mountain bikes, road racing and that sort of stuff. That seems to be doing quite well. 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  If I had a kid at cycling age—they have all grown up now—there is no way that I would let 

them ride on the roads. There are a lot more cars on the road. It is much more dangerous environment than maybe 

it was 25 years ago. That is the way I would look at it. 

CHAIR:  One of the submissions earlier today suggested that, if that is true, one of the reasons might be due to 

the fact that drivers are less conscious of cyclists than they used to be because there are fewer of them. 'Safety in 

numbers' was the statement used. If there were more cyclists, drivers would be more used the seeing them and 

would drive more appropriately. 

Prof. Ivers:  That is a really good point. Having more cyclists on the road is certainly going to increase safety 

as cars become more used to them. It is long though to think that actually reducing cycling helmet legislation and 

allowing people to ride without helmets is significantly going to increase cycling participation. In almost all of 

those surveys that you are referring to—where people are asked about whether cycle helmets stop them from 

cycling—if people cite cycle helmets it is a long way down the list. Even if they cite cycle helmets as being 

important, it is still a stretch to actually say, 'If we reduce helmet legislation, all of those people would cycle and 

would become regular transport cyclists.' You need to be very careful about assumptions that you are making as 

well. That is not something based on evidence. It is actually conjecture based on a thought that if people say they 

are going to ride more without a helmet they will, in fact, do so. So we need to be very careful about what the 

evidence actually says. 

CHAIR:  I agree. Prospective indications of intention are risky under any circumstances. But this committee 

has received evidence showing a correlation—not necessarily causation; that is what we are trying to establish—

between introduction of mandatory helmets and a substantive decline in cycling as an activity, particularly 

transport cycling. On the one hand, we have evidence, data; on the other hand, we are speculating about what 

might happen if we undo that situation. There are also other indicators that would suggest that if people feel that it 

is dangerous—and this has been suggested to us—then the obligation to wear a helmet reinforces that perception 

of danger. 

Prof. Ivers:  Again, that is something that is not well based in science. It is a theory, and it is not well 

supported by evidence. 

CHAIR:  Is there contrary evidence though? 

Prof. Ivers:  I will let Jake comment on that. 

Prof. Olivier:  There was a report that came out a couple of years ago that estimated the proportions of 

Australians going to work by different travel modes, starting in 1900. Cycling to work peaked around World War 

II at about eight to nine per cent. Afterwards, cycling and other active transport modes, like walking and public 

transportation, declined. It declined all the while motor vehicle travel increased. It dropped around one per cent—

which is what we are seeing in census data—long before helmet legislation ever came around. 

Senator CANAVAN:  My question goes back to the data we were talking about before. I might ask you to 

have a look at this on notice, given that evidence. And I presume that that would absolutely be the case. However, 

the evidence on the first page of Dr Robinson's submission is that from 1976 to 1991 there had been an increase in 

the number of people cycling to work, particularly in the states with no helmet laws until 1991—in regional areas, 

in particular, outside the capital cities—and then these laws were introduced, of course, and there was a decline. 

Could you perhaps look at that on notice for us. The data here only starts at 1976. So I reckon you are probably 

right. But you said there was basically a decline from World War II through to the introduction of the laws. I 

might just ask you to have a look at that and see if that is actually the case or whether there was a bit of a bump up 

in the seventies or eighties or it bottomed out perhaps sometime in between. 

Prof. Olivier:  It was from a BITRE—Bureau of Infrastructure, Transport and Regional Economics—report. 

Senator CANAVAN:  That would perhaps be useful for us. 
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Prof. Olivier:  Just to be clear about that: the census started in 1976. This is using other historical data. It goes 

beyond that. 

Senator CANAVAN:  That would be useful then. 

Prof. Olivier:  The other thing I would say about Dr Robinson's report is that it looks like there is a lot of 

variability because she has narrowed the focus of the percentages down. When you have actually boosted them up 

to around eight to nine per cent, which they were historically, you do not see much variability— 

Senator CANAVAN:  You are saying this question started in 1976 census? 

Prof. Olivier:  The census did, yes. 

Senator CANAVAN:  The census did not start in 1976, but this particular question— 

Prof. Olivier:  The data they used to estimate that actually goes back to 1900. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I am not accusing Dr Robinson of anything, just to be clear; it is a fairly comprehensive 

set of data, in my view. She has 15 years of data before the introduction of the laws, so that seems reasonable 

enough. But I take your point and, if there is other data that we should look at, that would be very useful. 

Prof. Olivier:  To be clear, that is three days pre-law not 15 years pre-law. That is three days pre-law. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I do not want to get into an argument about the accuracy. I take your point that data is 

not perfect—although I sort of think that census data is probably as close to perfection as we can get. I just want 

to ask about the regional areas. In this data, again, the drop-off in regional areas was much, much greater. There 

has been some talk about the relative risks of different roads. In your experience—obviously I do not know where 

you all practice or work—are the risks lower in regional areas, where there are roads with fewer cars and lower 

numbers of people, as we were saying, than in the cities? And therefore should we perhaps have more flexible 

laws in those areas, relative to our urban areas? 

Mr Healy:  In relation to the safety of cyclists: quite apart from the wearing of helmets, the issues are really 

about mixing traffic—so mixing motorised vehicles with cyclists. Ideally, you have separation, or, if they are 

together, you make sure that the speeds are sufficiently low such that any collision does not lead to death or 

serious injury—including the fact that they are wearing a protective helmet. So, in the regional areas where, 

clearly, you have higher speeds on the open road, it is a very poor mix between any cyclist who chooses to ride on 

the sides of those roads versus the very high speeds of cars. The perspective in road safety now is, and will be into 

the future, very much about: we are human beings and we make mistakes. Potentially a driver could be distracted 

by a child in the back; if they are travelling at 100 kays and there is a cyclist on their left and they veer slightly 

and collect that cyclist, then clearly the outcome is going to be horrific. 

So speed is a key determinant of the outcome. Most of the evidence suggests that, at speeds in excess of 30 

kays or so, in terms of the impact speeds, for a cyclist wearing a protective helmet, the chances of death or injury 

may begin to escalate quite rapidly. So you can imagine that, in rural environments, particularly outside the 

towns, where you may well have lower speeds in some of those streets, similar to cities such as Melbourne, in fact 

it represents a very risky environment. That is what I think you would have to say. 

CHAIR:  I want to look at this more broadly. We have now had 25 years of mandatory helmets in Australia, 

and yet Australia, New Zealand and the United Arab Emirates are the only countries in the world which have 

mandatory helmet laws for cyclists. Why do you think that is? Are we smarter than the rest of the world and know 

something that the rest of the world does not know or vice versa? 

Mr Healy:  I think Australia has been—rightly so—historically recognised as being a leader in relation to road 

safety. That is in relation to a number of measures, some of which are still struggling to be introduced in many 

other jurisdictions. It goes right back to December 1970 in Victoria with mandatory seatbelt wearing. Random 

breath testing was introduced in Victoria in 1976 as a trial. That has certainly been used elsewhere, but still some 

countries are struggling with that notion. And certainly mandatory bicycle helmet wearing on 1 July 1990 was the 

first of its kind. All those were introduced because the evidence was sufficiently strong to embark on those. 

Subsequent to that, as I tried to indicate earlier, the outcome evidence in terms of reduced levels of head injury—

and we have perspectives from a whole range of different players, including surgeons here today—is that it is a 

lay-down misere. They work. They reduce head injury significantly. Not only that; head injuries are the most 

expensive and costly. 

CHAIR:  That is in dispute. Just saying it does not help. The point is, of course, that with seatbelts and random 

breath testing there was no dispute amongst drivers or anybody else. There was a direct cause-and-effect 
relationship in terms of their implementation and the reduction in road accidents. 

Prof. Grzebieta:  That is not true. 
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CHAIR:  What is not true? 

Prof. Grzebieta:  There was dispute over the seatbelts. There was dispute over the random breath testing. 

There was significant resistance. 

CHAIR:  What you are suggesting, if I understand, Mr Healy, is that the rest of the world is just slow to catch 

up and we are leading the world. 

Mr Healy:  I cannot comment on every jurisdiction in terms of their decision making. I can say that those three 

measures that I referenced have all been very effective in terms of reducing serious trauma. Each jurisdiction must 

make up its own mind. I believe that, in other areas and in particular in relation to protecting cyclists by way of 

infrastructure and speed management, we have a lot to learn from other jurisdictions such as the Netherlands, 

Denmark and the like. 

CHAIR:  Does Australia have a significantly lower rate of serious head injuries and deaths amongst cyclists 

than other countries in the OECD? 

Mr Healy:  We would have to take that question on notice. 

CHAIR:  If you would. The information we have is that it does not, but, if you have evidence to the contrary, I 

would like to hear it. 

Prof. Olivier:  You can look at deaths per population, but in Australia we do not have exposure data. We do 

not have any idea how often people cycle—how much they cycle. In countries like the Netherlands they collect 

that data routinely. Australia does not. 

CHAIR:  We do have some evidence. We have evidence relating to participation in cycling. We have evidence 

in relation to cycling accidents. One of you—I cannot recall which—said that cycling participation has not 

declined following introduction of mandatory helmet laws, and yet even here in Victoria 679 fewer teenage 

cyclists were counted in identical pre- and post-law surveys, but the number of teenage cyclists wearing helmets 

increased by only 30. Doesn't this suggest that the main effect of the law was to discourage cycling rather than 

encourage helmet wearing? 

Prof. Olivier:  No. 

CHAIR:  Fewer cyclists, only 30 more helmets over pre and post? What does that suggest to you? 

Prof. Olivier:  If you are trying to estimate the prevalence of people cycling, you do not do it by standing on 

the street corner and counting. That is not a proper statistical method for estimating prevalence. We would not do 

that with infectious diseases. We would not do it with other diseases or any other health related thing. We would 

not just stand on a street corner and ask people: 'Do you have HIV? Yes or no?' and then do that over several 

years and count the number of times someone says yes. That is not how it is done. It is very weak data and, from 

other stuff that we have done and I have done with colleagues here, we know that, as the data has got stronger—

there is not any ideal data around the time of the helmet legislations across the Australian states—and better in 

terms of quality, we do not find big drops in cycling. We do not find any significant changes in cycling. 

CHAIR:  But others do, so I am struggling to understand how you can be so positive. 

Prof. Olivier:  Because, as the data is better— 

CHAIR:  What data? Which data set are you relying on? 

Prof. Olivier:  The census data of hospitalisations in New South Wales. 

CHAIR:  Okay. We have data based on that as well. One of their submissions this morning incorporated 

injuries. I will pass to Senator Canavan while I find the graphs. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Have you seen the evidence that was in the Queensland parliamentary committee report 

two years ago? I think it was in a submission as well. It is data about comparing the use of bikes and ride share 

schemes in different cities in the world. Brisbane and Melbourne have both consistently recorded use of bikes at 

less than a trip a day per bike, whereas other cities of the world have two, three and sometimes higher usages of 

bikes. My understanding is that those other cities do not have mandatory helmet laws. I remember being in DC, 

grabbing a bike and riding over to Arlington National Cemetery. It was great. Isn't that at least pretty good 

evidence that the mandatory laws are deterring bike use in that environment? It does not necessarily say it stops 

commuters using bikes. It certainly stops tourists and maybe people commuting or getting from one place to 

another in town. What is your response to that data? 

Dr Kenfield:  Having just returned from Geneva—this is anecdotal—I say the bicycle culture over there is 

completely different. Many of the European cities have an infrastructure that really supports the bicycle riders. 
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They are separated from car drivers. The Senator mentioned before that the danger of being on the road over the 

last 10 years has not increased. I think that is false. I think we are all-time fourth— 

Senator CANAVAN:  You can come back to that, but this is slightly different from this point. This is a point 

in time, not over time. 

Dr Kenfield:  Indeed. I think that all that statement says is that, yes, our bicycles are not being used as 

frequently as they are in schemes in Europe, but that does not mean that it is because of bicycle helmets. 

Senator CANAVAN:  There are also Boston, DC and Miami Beach on this as well. 

Dr Kenfield:  Okay, sure. 

Senator CANAVAN:  It is anecdotal, but I do not necessarily think the bike lane infrastructure in DC is any 

better or worse—probably worse, actually, from memory—than our cities. But that data is very stark. It seemingly 

had a fairly strong influence on the Queensland parliament to make a recommendation— 

Dr Kenfield:  Is that because of the compulsory bicycle helmets or is it because of the perceived danger of 

looking at the roads? If we look downstairs here at Spring Street, it does not look very dangerous, because the 

traffic there is not bad, but certainly the other roads throughout the CBD and also in the other suburbs are very 

dangerous places to ride. There are more people. There is more traffic on the road. Visitors from overseas note 

how aggressive drivers are in Australian cities and that there is no look-out for bike riders. Potentially that is due 

to the small number of bike riders on our roads compared to elsewhere, but I do not think that it is because of 

compulsory bicycle helmets but rather because of the perceived danger. I certainly do not ride because of that. I 

have a very nice bike at home and it has not been ridden. 

Prof. Olivier:  The Australian bike-sharing schemes have been set up very poorly. A lot of us were at the Gold 

Coast a month ago for a conference. My hotel was a bit away from the conference centre and my hotel had some 

bike share bikes. It would have cost me $99 to use them over three days, or I could have spent $5 a day and ridden 

the tram. The hotel had bike helmets they could give me to borrow and also a lock to lock the bike up. None of 

that had anything to do with helmets. It had everything to do with cost and how it was set up. 

Prof. Grzebieta:  If you go to Gothenburg, they will give you the bike for free to ride around. 

CHAIR:  I found the numbers. They were in one of the submissions. It is an interesting plot. It plots the 

number of non-head injuries with the number of head injuries based on admissions in Victoria. They pretty much 

parallel each other—in fact, they are really very close. If you were to assert that helmets had reduced head 

injuries, you would have thought that they would have fallen below non-head injuries and yet they have followed 

the same pattern almost exactly for three years prior to the helmet laws and for four years after the helmet laws 

came into place in Victoria. We just have not seen the evidence that helmets had a substantial effect. 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  On what, Senator? Are you talking about head injury or general injury? 

CHAIR:  Head injuries. 

Dr Kenfield:  As I mentioned before, 'head injuries' is a huge spectrum. It would be counted as a head injury if 

someone has a laceration to their forehead or if they are in the intensive care unit for a couple of weeks and in 

hospital for months. 

CHAIR:  I accept that. 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  I would just refer to McDermott's paper from 1993, Journal of trauma, a study of 1,710 

helmeted and unhelmeted cyclists, which found that head injury was reduced by at least 39 per cent by wearing a 

helmet. 

CHAIR:  So, obviously, we have competing data and competing interpretations of data. I can understand that, 

as doctors who deal with head injury, you would regard it as the most important injury, and there is no question 

that people suffering traumatic bone injury suffer badly and it is expensive to taxpayers. If we had a group of 

cardiac specialists sitting here, we might get a different answer about the significant effects that lack of exercise 

has on cardiovascular disease and how cycling should be encouraged for the purpose of reducing the prevalence 

of cardiac disease. So I guess we have a particular point of view represented here. But, allowing for that, to what 

extent do we say, 'Okay; traumatic brain injury is the most serious injury. It is really very bad. It can incapacitate 

people and they do not die'? And if they die, it costs society less money. As Dr Brown said, the question should 

be how we get more people to use helmets. It is not just cycling in which traumatic brain injury can occur. Would 

you advocate mandatory helmets for skateboarding, driving a car or anywhere where you could fall and bash your 

head? Where do we draw the line? 

Dr Brown:  We have done a lot to reduce the risk of head injury for car drivers. We do regulate our cars. We 

have laws that regulate the occupant protection level that our cars need to provide. But when you want to 
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introduce some legislation that requires somebody to pick up the helmet and put it on their head, you have to be 

able to enforce it—there is no use in just having legislation. So there are some activities where legislation would 

not work. With Kids on Wheels, for example, a lot of effort goes into public education and public awareness 

campaigns to try to encourage the use of helmets. If there was a way to ensure that all children did wear helmets, I 

think that would be a good idea. 

CHAIR:  At all times—well, not in bed! 

Dr Brown:  When they are out having fun, taking part in physical activity and enjoying life. That is what we 

want to encourage. But when we know there are ways to mitigate risk then we should take those actions. 

CHAIR:  One of the witnesses this morning suggested that bicycle helmets are actually not all that effective at 

preventing head injury because of the way they are designed—very lightweight and various aspects—and that 

they can in fact contribute to more serious injuries of the neck, I think it was. I raised the question of whether or 

not a motorcycle helmet might be a better option for children, and I think the comment was that they are a bit 

heavy. Leaving that aside—presumably they can be made lighter—do you think that is a reasonable option? What 

I am looking for here is whether it is worth doing these sorts of things to prevent head injury. 

Dr Brown:  With the performance of bicycle helmets we have mandatory standards that set a minimum level 

of performance that all helmets that are on the market must meet. It sets performance requirements in terms of the 

energy the helmet needs to attenuate as well as how the energy is distributed. But they are minimum 

requirements, and there is always room to encourage manufacturers and encourage people to design beyond those 

minimum requirements. So yes, it would be a good idea to work towards improved performance, in particular 

improved coverage provided by helmets—coverage of the head. But, as I said at the start, really what we want to 

do is try to find ways to encourage increased use of helmets. So, other aspects of design are important as well—

fit, comfort and weight. It would make good sense to put attention on ways to improve designs to do that without 

necessarily saying, 'Move straight to a motorcycle helmet.' But yes: improving performance is a good thing. 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  Also, Senator, to pick you up on that point you made about neck injuries being increased by 

helmets, I do not accept that evidence. I do not know where it came from, but if you look at Yilmaz's 2013 paper 

on injury, where he compared Melbourne patients with Holland's patients, neck injuries were less common in the 

Melbourne group, among helmet wearers. So, there is evidence that neck injury are actually reduced by the 

helmets, and the severity of the head injuries is reduced by the helmets as well. That was found in that study. 

Prof. Ivers:  There is a vast body of evidence about the effectiveness of bicycle helmets. If you look across the 

evidence, it is very compelling, and there are many people who are opposed to helmet legislation who will accept 

the effectiveness of bicycle helmets. I think actually starting to comment about the effectiveness of helmets is like 

talking about people who smoked until they were 100 and did not get lung cancer. It is sort of verging into 

anecdote and very small, one-off studies. There is very clear evidence. And I think it is worth commenting also on 

what Julie was saying about starting to look at motorcycle helmets. Bicycle helmets are designed for purpose as 

well as for safety, so of course the effectiveness of bicycle helmets in reducing injury is important, but so is that 

they are fit for purpose and that they are light enough for people to wear when they are sweating and engaging in 

physical activity. Obviously once you start looking at motorcycle helmets, they are heavy. There is also an issue 

with heat and exchange of air within the helmet which deems them inappropriate for use for cyclists. That is the 

reason we do not have them, and clearly you need to be practical about what people can wear and what is going to 

be effective and what is actually practical in terms of what people are doing when they are wearing them. That is 

why helmets are designed the way they are, with airflow. 

CHAIR:  I guess that is what the dispute is about: what is appropriate and what is practical. Some people have 

presented evidence to this committee that says it is neither practical nor appropriate to wear a helmet, because the 

risk is so small, and that the deterrent effect on cycling is real. Some witnesses have said they accept that they 

may incur an increased risk of head injury by not cycling but they incur an increased risk of cardiovascular 

disease—and of obesity, presumably, and associated diseases arising from obesity. I guess the question is, who 

decides what is appropriate? That is really what we are looking into here. 

Prof. Ivers:  Absolutely. 

Prof. Grzebieta:  We are questioning that evidence that was presented to you this morning, and we suggest to 

you that it is not appropriately peer reviewed and rigorous scientific evidence. 

CHAIR:  That raises an interesting question. At least two of you are surgeons and physicians. Does that make 

you epidemiologists? 
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Prof. Grzebieta:  I am a road safety person. Actually, my qualifications are in crashworthiness. And I work in 

a similar field to Dr Brown, in crashworthiness. Senator, imagine if you were about to be hit in the head with a 

hammer. What would you rather: not have a helmet on, or have a helmet on? 

CHAIR:  Well, the evidence we heard was that that is not likely to be the most typical injury incurred when 

you fall off your bike—that you are more likely to have a twisting injury. That was the suggestion. 

Prof. Grzebieta:  Yes, that is the Curnow hypothesis. Curnow put together evidence on the basis of other 

people's work that was not substantiated through appropriate testing. McIntosh and a number of others at the 

University of New South Wales did some tests using Hybrid III head and neck form with and without a helmet. 

They dropped the headform from 0.5 metres, from one metre and from 1.5 metres at a speed of zero, 15 and 25 

kilometres per hour—effectively 66 tests, 29 helmeted and 37 unhelmeted—testing the hypothesis of Curnow. At 

15 kilometres per hour at a half-metre drop height the rate of rotation in the helmeted group was 2.14 kiloradians 

per second squared. In the unhelmeted group it was 12.8—that is 10 times more. The head injury criterion, which 

we use for all of our safety for vehicles and crashworthiness et cetera, was 110 for the helmeted. For the 

unhelmeted it was 367. At 25 kilometres per hour, you are comparing 1.19 kiloradians per second for the 

helmeted with 10.53—that is 10 times—for the unhelmeted. The head injury criterion was 88 for the helmeted 

and for the unhelmeted was 836. At 15 kilometres per hour from a one-metre drop height it was 2.2 kiloradians 

per second squared for the helmeted and 16 for the unhelmeted. The head injury criterion was 288 for the 

helmeted and 1,427 for the unhelmeted. There is no dispute. 

CHAIR:  No dispute about what? 

Prof. Grzebieta:  About the evidence that wearing a helmet not only reduces the acceleration that is imparted 

to your brain but also reduces the rotation. I heard what Mr Curnow said this morning, and we dispute his results. 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  Senator, if I could pick you up on another point you made, you talked about the two 

physicians or surgeons who were on the panel this morning and you said we were not epidemiologists. I think by 

that you mean that we probably are not qualified to interpret the scientific data— 

CHAIR:  Well, you see the end result of head injury, but you are not there when it is caused. That is the point I 

am making. 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  We are not there when it is caused? 

Dr Kenfield:  Do you mean at the roadside? 

CHAIR:  Well, no. I guess what I am questioning is whether seeing the end result of head injury makes you 

qualified to say what caused that head injury. 

Prof. Ivers:  There are a couple of epidemiologists here on the panel—both me and Jake Olivier. 

CHAIR:  Yes, I acknowledge that. 

Dr Kenfield:  And I agree that I am not an epidemiologist, but I do see these patients on a daily basis. I also 

treat obesity on daily basis. I am an obesity surgeon as well as a trauma surgeon, and there are two problems with 

the Australian obesity epidemic, which is probably one of our biggest health issues at the moment. There are 

those patients who are already overweight and obese and then there are the rest of the population who are at high 

risk of becoming overweight and obese. Those patients who are already overweight and obese tend not to want to 

ride a bike. They do not feel safe on a bike, and I speak to them about this on a regular basis. When they have lost 

weight after the operations that I perform, many of them do take up cycling and it is one of their great joys. I 

dispute though that the people in society who are at risk of becoming obese are not riding bicycles because of 

compulsory bicycle helmet laws. When I was polling the neurosurgeons, the emergency physicians and also some 

other colleagues of mine prior to this meeting today, with all due respect, there was a lot of eye rolling. People 

could not believe we were having this discussion in regard to the potential for the compulsory bicycle helmet laws 

to be implicated with obesity. There was only one surgeon who actually said, 'I think it's a good idea and I don't 

think we should be using bicycle helmets.' And that was one of the liver transplant surgeons from the Austin, who 

feels that our transplant numbers are too low and that this would be a good form of natural selection, which— 

Senator CANAVAN:  With all due respect, Dr Kenfield, we have had reams of evidence about how 

mandatory helmet laws have reduced bicycle use. I will admit I do not know a lot about this topic, but I have 

spent the day googling and I have just found a National Bureau of Economic Research paper, which looks at 20 

US states that have mandatory helmet laws and other states in the US who do not. The US is a great little 

laboratory in that regard for these types of things. It is fairly monocultural across the country and has a proper 
federation, where states do different things. These economists show very clearly that there is a statistically 

significant reduction in bicycle use, particularly among youth, in those states that have introduced these laws. We 
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can completely have different values about weighing those up—whether it is more important to protect brain 

injuries and have mandatory helmet laws, not withstanding the potential downsides of lower bicycle use. But I 

have just not seen any evidence to contradict the weight of evidence on the other side that there is this impact. To 

deny that impact seems to me obstinate, but I completely understand that you have a different value base, and that 

is fine. We all— 

Prof. Rosenfeld:  Why don't you come and visit us in the hospitals? You will see what impact head injuries 

have. 

Senator CANAVAN:  These economists in particular are not saying that the laws should be gotten rid of, they 

are just assessing the evidence, and the evidence seems pretty clear. Whether that necessitates a change to the law 

is a completely different question, which we can all have disputes about, because we have to value the threat of a 

brain injury and someone ending their life in that regard—which is terrible and we all recognise that—relative to 

a lower amount of exercise on bikes. The study does not look at how people might take up other forms of exercise 

et cetera, but to actually deny that there has been this impact—I don't know. The data from across the world and 

in many different forms seems clear, notwithstanding the limits of data. 

Dr Kenfield:  I am certainly not saying that what we are saying is more important than the rising obesity 

epidemic, because I do not believe that either. But I also do not believe that people are not riding bicycles because 

of compulsory bicycle helmet laws. I think is because of the perceived danger on the roads. 

Prof. Grzebieta:  And you have to go back to the source of the data that is being used for those papers which 

you are quoting and citing. Every time we have looked at the source of the data we have found that there is an 

issue with that source in its accuracy and its relevance. 

CHAIR:  That is what other submitters have said about your submissions as well. 

Prof. Grzebieta:  Yes they would say that. 

Prof. Ivers:  I think one of the things you have to be very clear about is that there are issues with the data. 

There are different sources of data and there are going to be different interpretations of the data. You cannot 

actually say that it is very clear. It is actually not very clear. As an epidemiologist, I can tell you that it is not clear 

and that the sources of data are imperfect. So it is very difficult to make very definitive statements when you look 

at it objectively. One of the things you have to say is that it is difficult to understand the impact of legislation on 

cycling participation rates in Australia because we have very poor data. There are studies that have shown that it 

has had an impact, and there are equal numbers of studies that have shown that it has not had an impact and that 

cycling participation is increasing. 

The other issue that you need to be very clear about is that there is not strong— 

CHAIR interjecting— 

Prof. Ivers:  Well, cycling participation is increasing in Australian cities where we have improvements in 

infrastructure. It is also not clear that if you remove the helmet legislation many more people will get on their 

bikes and ride. That is conjecture and that is actually coming from the assumption that when you have a number 

of people saying that cycling helmets stop them from riding, that if you remove helmet legislation they will jump 

on their bikes and ride off into the sunset. That is also conjecture. As policymakers, we understand that often you 

are actually making decisions in the absence of evidence. You need to be very clear that that is actually the 

situation we are looking at. We do know, though, when you have no helmet legislation, helmet-wearing rates are 

low. We also know that cycling helmets are very effective. 

Those two things are not in dispute. We know cycling helmets are effective. We know brain injuries are 

terrible things to happen, and I know you are not disputing that. We do not know that if you remove cycling 

helmet legislation, many more people will jump on their bikes and ride. So you need to be very clear about that.  

Mr Healy:  My observation of the introduction of laws over the years has been that you get a newness effect: 

there is reaction. I do not know the evidence in relation to each jurisdiction, but it is possible that in the very short 

time, and oftentimes the evaluations are in the very short term, that there could be a reduction in cycling. It is a 

reaction. It happens when you introduce any law. It might be a speed limit change. What happens is you might get 

a change but is not what you are after. What happens over time is there is normalisation of what the new law 

represents. In the case of speed limit changes, what happens is there is a gradual change of speed, moving towards 

that as being normality. I would imagine similar trends would happen in relation to bicycle helmet wearing, that 

in fact what was new, what was different and, for some, a reaction against, it becomes normalised behaviour.  

I agree absolutely with what Professor Ivers said. Just because in some instances you can point to the data, and 

people are right to question the veracity of that data, that in the very short term there was a small drop, potentially, 
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in exposure of cyclists does not mean that that will be the case if you withdraw. After normalisation, it is pure 

conjecture that you will get the same outcome. Certainly, the survey results as presented in our joint submission—

and I refer you to figure 5 the table 2—would suggest that for those who cycle occasionally and from the point of 

view of females, as stated before, the reasons they do not choose to cycle or to cycle more relate much more to 

road conditions, speed, volumes of traffic, lack of bicycle lanes and the like, which are all very valid but I suspect 

the most influential in terms of the decision making around whether to cycle or not. The issues surrounding the 

fact that you have to wear a bike helmet fall well down the scale and they are presented quite clearly in our 

submission.  

CHAIR:  We are over time. We have some more witnesses to hear from. 

Senator CANAVAN:  The submission of the Australian Injury Prevention Network says, 'A multicentre study 

found the cost of medical treatment was triple for cyclists not wearing a helmet when they crashed' and it has the 

data. However, Dr Robinson's submission says that the source you have quoted actually compares costs for 

cyclists and motorcyclists together with the data you have used, that when you use just the cyclist data there is a 

different result. The link you have provided does not seem to be working, and it is probably not your fault, but I 

cannot independently assess that. Could you have a look at that? 

Prof. Ivers:  I will have a look at that. 

CHAIR:  I would be interested in that too. I am also aware of that difference. Thank you, ladies and 

gentlemen. For everybody who has been asked to get back to us with answers, could you please do that by 30 

November. If there is any problem with that, could you let the secretariat know. Thank you very much. 
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DOW, Mr Nicholas, National Committee, Australian Cyclists Party 

WOODALL, Mr Daniel, Private capacity 

[14:11] 

CHAIR:  I welcome Mr Daniel Woodall, not representing anyone, and Mr Nick Dow from the Australian 

Cyclists Party. Do you have anything to say about the capacity in which you appear? 

Mr Woodall:  I am a private individual. I have done a fair amount of private research into bicycle helmets and 

bicycling generally, and I write a blog on which I discuss cycling matters. 

CHAIR:  Thank you for appearing today. Would you like to make an opening statement before we proceed to 

questions? 

Mr Woodall:  I would, yes, please. 

CHAIR:  Go ahead. 

Mr Woodall:  I have some supplementary materials I would like to table if that is possible. It might be helpful 

to have them to refer to during the session.  

CHAIR:  I am sure it will not be a problem. 

Mr Woodall:  They are very brief. They are just to illustrate some points. 

Senator CANAVAN:  It is fine. 

Mr Woodall:  As a society we demand to be protected, even in some cases from our own poor choices, but we 

are also conscious of the case of overreach. The term 'nanny state laws' encapsulates that concern, that things are 

not meant to be taken too far. In my submission, I propose a framework to navigate this kind of area to ensure this 

type of legislation is framed appropriately and is equitable. I want to expand on one point from my submission 

that is specific to bicycle helmets, and that is a comparison point, in this case with driving. In the 1980s there was 

growing concern over the head injury rates for car occupants. If you turn to page 2 of the submission, which I 

have just given to you, this product was launched, and it is the Davies Craig motoring helmet. At the time, the 

Victoria police supported compulsory head helmet wearing for car occupants. No legislation eventuated from that 

sort of petty low-level police report, but nevertheless this was a real product, which you could buy in the 1980s. 

Research continued. This was not the end where it stopped. As recently as 2000, a new design was proposed. If 

you turn to page 3 of that submission, you will see this was developed at the Centre for Automotive Safety 

Research as part of the University of Adelaide. It was estimated this type of head protection for car occupants 

could lead to a reduction of harm of over a third of a billion dollars. I am sure nobody on the committee would 

object to wearing such stylish headgear to reduce this heavy burden on the taxpayer, which actually far outweighs 

the costs of treating injured cyclists for head injury. 

You may have noted these burdens are a common theme. These burdens of head injury rates on society are a 

common theme in commentary and submissions from medical groups and associations. Such associations tend to 

suggest widespread support. They also suggest there is clear evidence that mandatory helmet laws have been a 

great success. This is, actually, far from the case.  

If we turn to the last page of the submission I have just given you, there are a significant number of doctors and 

health professionals who are interested in this area, who ride bicycles, in many cases, and on either equity or 

public-health grounds support the reduction or review of bicycle-helmet laws. I note there were at least two or 

three submissions to this inquiry from doctors or health professionals and Dr Paul Martin, who is very active in 

this area and who appears in this paper. 

One wonders if the doctors who appeared earlier who so vehemently support mandatory helmet legislation for 

cyclists were also very carefully donning their motoring helmets, when they drove here today, to make sure their 

burden on society and risk to themselves was being suitably reduced. 

Mr Dow:  I also have supplementary materials that I would like to table. They are just three references, which 

I will refer to, and their abstracts.  

CHAIR:  Thank you. 

Mr Dow:  This one is a very recent paper. It hit the press about a week ago. Canada is also a useful laboratory 

because four provinces have all-ages helmet law. Four, I think, from memory, do not have any helmet laws and 

some jurisdictions have a mixture. This particular study also used exposure data. Canada had quite good exposure 

data—in other words, how much cycling is done. They looked at different age groups. They looked at head and 

non-head injuries, based on hospital-admission data.  
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In summary, the report found that the predictive factors for injury rates were gender—women have fewer 

injuries—and the level of cycling participation—the mode share or the number of cycling trips as a proportion—

with provinces that have more cycling having lower injury rates.  

CHAIR:  Please speak more slowly and clearly. I missed all of that. 

Mr Dow:  Sorry. They found an association between gender—women have fewer injuries across Canada. In 

the provinces with more cycling, with higher levels of cycling, there were lower injury rates. There was no 

association between helmet law and injury rates, including head injury rates. They looked at different categories 

of head injury. 

CHAIR:  States—provinces—with helmets had what? 

Mr Dow:  They could not find any association. There was no difference in injury between the helmeted and 

non-helmeted states, which seems paradoxical, and people have speculated about the reasons for that. It is very 

close to what we have been talking about today. People have talked about risk compensation and safety in 

numbers, which may well be there.  

The fact that is not talked about enough, and I was very pleased to hear it mentioned today, is that there are 

different ways of using a bicycle. One of the other references I have here is a Norwegian study, in which standard 

psychological techniques were used. They asked people who own bicycles a whole lot of questions. What 

emerged from that was two main groups of cyclists, and you will be familiar with them, here, and anywhere else 

in the world. They were the fast-and-furious cyclists, with racing bikes and all the gear, including helmets, and the 

everyday cyclists, who were wearing their everyday clothes going about their business on bicycles and not 

wearing helmets. The conclusion of this study was that a helmet law would disproportionately remove the safest 

cyclists, which we have heard today. I believe that is largely what has happened in Canada. 

Individuals who are cycling with helmets may have a slightly lower rate of head injury but the population 

average is unchanged, because there are more high-risk individuals cycling. So the effect of removing a helmet 

law would be to bring back the lower-risk cyclists with, therefore, the best cost-benefit ratio, in terms of health 

benefits versus risk. 

The other paper I have cited is a Victorian study, done jointly by the Monash University Accident Research 

Centre and the Alfred Hospital. That was a slightly better quality case-control study that looked at cycling 

accidents. It was not focused on helmets, particularly. They were able to obtain data from the patients, 

subsequently, and asked them a whole lot of questions. They found a strong association, of the big effect size, 

between the speed of the cyclist and the propensity to have a head injury. They did not find any association 

between helmet wearing and head injuries but, to be fair, there were not many unhelmeted cyclists in the survey. 

That is a piece of standard research, which goes to the question of the cyclist's speed, the type of cycling and the 

likelihood of having an injury. This is given that you have turned up in hospital, so you have been in a crash and 

you have injured yourself. If you are going fast you are more likely to have a head injury. 

I submit that as humans we have evolved to move at speeds of up to about 15 kilometres an hour—that is about 

as fast as I can run. And we have protected ourselves against head injuries for a few million years by knowing 

how to fall over. If you go much faster than that it gets harder to protect yourself; things happen so quickly. I have 

done plenty of falling over. I have been riding a bike on the streets of Melbourne for 50 years. I have fallen off 

my bike many times. I have broken an arm. I have dislocated fingers. I have never hit my head. I do not ride very 

fast. That was what I wanted to say about those three studies. 

I have a few brief remarks to make about some of the things that the preceding speakers said and a few other 

remarks. I would have liked to have asked those doctors if they had ever gone next door to the cardiac ward, the 

stroke ward or the diabetes ward. One in six Australians will have a stroke. A friend of mine, recently, had a 

stroke and he will never return to work. I believe that is far more common than people who do not return to work 

after a head injury on a bicycle. They do not have an answer to that. There is no class 1 evidence for population-

level intervention on bicycle helmets at all. Class 1 evidence is required for the release of drugs, vaccines and 

population-level interventions. We do not have it for bicycle helmets. 

They mentioned that helmet law raises helmet-wearing rates, which is true. The North American city with the 

highest cycling rate is Portland, Oregon. There is about an 80 per cent helmet-wearing rate. There is no helmet 

law. Just to the north is Seattle where the county has a helmet law. They have a lower rate of helmet wearing. So 

helmet-wearing rates depend on other factors. 

None of the preceding speakers mentioned obesity. Obesity is not the issue. About 20 years ago the 

epidemiologists started to look at exercise levels and they found that exercise levels explained what had 



Page 44 Senate Monday, 16 November 2015 

 

ECONOMICS REFERENCES COMMITTEE 

previously been associated with overweight levels. Obesity is a minor factor. Exercise levels have much more 

explanatory power, in terms of health outcomes. So it is about exercise not about obesity. 

You asked about the Northern Territory rates and you were told that the rates are three times higher. That was 

very perceptive of you to point out that that is all road-accident victims. Despite that higher rate of road accidents, 

the injury rate of cyclists is comparable between the Northern Territory and the rest of Australia. Despite that less 

safe environment, and despite the fact that cycling levels in the Northern Territory are higher, in the— 

Senator CANAVAN:  Can we have clarification of that? 

Mr Dow:  I will back that up. As for the census data being once every five years, that is very true and that is 

why it is much more useful to look across Australia and across a number of years. And if you see a clear pattern 

repeating itself over those timescales, as has been demonstrated by Dorothy's papers, you are entitled to draw 

conclusions. In the Northern Territory census data they, consistently, have the highest rate of trips to work by 

bicycle of all Australian jurisdictions. Darwin has the highest rate of any capital city. Alice Springs has the 

highest rate of trips to work by bicycle of any regional city of comparable size—it is about five per cent of trips. 

That is the answer in the case of the Northern Territory. Injuries rates are not worse but the exercise rates are 

higher. 

I was living in a regional town in Victoria when helmet law was introduced. I want to explain to you how rural 

policing works. There is one policeman in the town, and it is a blot on their reputation if their area is seen to have 

a worse crime rate or law-breakers. My local policeman gave me one warning and told me he would fine me after 

that. So, basically, if you are living in a country town you are pretty heavily policed. That is how it works. 

Whereas in Victoria you will never see the same policeman twice if they pull you up for not wearing a helmet, 

except for the bike police— 

Senator CANAVAN:  For helmet offences. 

Mr Dow:  Helmet offences, yes. So that is how regional policing works. 

The doctors mentioned the 1993 McDermott study, and I will just say a brief word about case-control studies. 

A case-control study, if it is going to have any validity at all, rests on matching the cases and controls. They have 

to be identical in all respects except for the thing that you are measuring—in this case, helmet wearing. These 

studies, which Dr Grabita has published a few of, take hospital admissions and they assume that the patients who 

were not wearing a helmet are identical in all respects to the patients who arrived after having been wearing a 

helmet. This is clearly an assumption that you cannot justify yet the whole basis of their methodology depends on 

it. Case-control studies are not a class of evidence; in fact, they are the lowest level of evidence in the pyramid of 

evidence for health outcomes. 

The other type of evidence that the University of New South Wales team has produced has been time series 

data based on head injury rates. Again, they have used leg and arm injuries as the denominator to try and measure 

changes in head injuries, which assumes that the population behaves the same—rides their bikes in the same 

way—in other words, the way that people ride bikes or the mix of the population was not changed when helmet 

laws were introduced. Pretty clearly, we have heard a lot of evidence that the safer cyclists were removed so you 

are going to change the ratio of head to leg-and-arm injuries, and you would have to speculate as to what direction 

that is going to work in. By the way, that particular study also found a significant effect in improving pedestrian 

safety when helmet laws were introduced for cyclists but they were unable to explain that and still published the 

model. 

There has been no mandatory helmet law introduced in any jurisdiction in the world where there is an active 

cyclist lobby group. Effectively, cycle groups do not want helmet law. Those are voluntary groups that exist to 

promote cycling and represent their own interests. And I would just like to finish by turning the tables, if I can, 

and asking you a question. As senators, you make laws for Australia: can you give me another example of a law 

which criminalises an activity that benefits the individual and benefits society? 

Senator CANAVAN:  We ask the questions, not answer them! 

CHAIR:  Some people would argue that smoking marijuana for medical reasons does some good and it is 

criminal—so, yes, I think there are other examples. Mr Woodall, I understand you participated in an inquiry on 

this issue, on bicycle helmets, in Queensland. Can you tell us what happened, what the committee's 

recommendations were and what the government's response was? 

Mr Woodall:  I did not participate in the Queensland inquiry. 

CHAIR:  You didn't? 
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Mr Woodall:  No, not directly. I may have made a submission, possibly, but I certainly did not attend the 

committee hearings. 

CHAIR:  Okay. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I might ask: what did you think? Have you seen the final report of that committee? 

Mr Woodall:  Yes, from what I remember of it from reading it a while ago, it was a reasonably balanced 

report. It made a recommendation that helmet laws should be relaxed, particularly in low-speed areas—perhaps a 

little bit similar to what has happened in the Northern Territory. It seems to me this is a reasonable approach—to 

take some steps to see whether a relaxation of helmet laws will actually change cycling behaviour and indeed then 

whether there will be any change in injury rates or cycle acceptance. As I understand it, that was then overruled. 

The then transport minister in Queensland more or less said: 'No, that's not going to happen. I believe bicycle 

helmets save lives.' 

I think that this is one of the difficulties with the debate around this topic—the sort of dogma and the 

established, entrenched positions of intuition often overrule rational discussion. It is a very complex area. I spent 

so much time digging into this, reading thousands of research papers and reading the statistics and mathematics 

endlessly—my poor wife has to sit while I do all this stuff. One thing that is very clear is it is a very complex 

area; it is almost impossible to comprehend the whole amount of it. I guess what is always disappointing is how 

low-quality the debate is on this topic. It is often the case that the people who are talking about this do not have all 

the evidence, they are not aware of all the positions and the limitations of evidence are not always made clear. So 

I think that Queensland inquiry was a good one. I think they did take a balanced view and I think it was a pity that 

those recommendations were so summarily rejected. 

CHAIR:  I had some questions that assumed that you were a little more involved, so perhaps I will skip those 

and invite you to comment on the issues of enforcement and policing with respect to helmet laws. 

Mr Woodall:  Yes, I have some personal experience of this. I have been stopped by police on maybe 20 

occasions for riding a bicycle without a helmet. I have appeared in court on three different occasions and probably 

received maybe 12 tickets for riding a bike without a helmet. 

It has been very interesting. The course of those interactions with the police—and I have to say that this has all 

been in New South Wales—have all been very professional and very positive. But what is very clear is of course 

that you get to know some of the same police officers because you keep bumping into them in the same place in 

Sydney day after day when you are not wearing a helmet. It became quite apparent they had sympathy for me. 

There is a bit of a disconnect in some regards between what, particularly, some of the bicycle cops—the 

policeman who ride bikes themselves as part of their duties—have on this issue versus what they know they have 

to do: what the law requires them to do and what their senior command requires them to do. 

The police are in a difficult position; they have to uphold the law. If they do not, it creates all kinds of issues. 

You cannot just ignore a law. What would that mean for the rule of law that we have? But it is also very clear that 

some of the police doing this can really see this is not an especially productive use of their time and they can also 

see that it probably is not an especially useful law in terms of actually helping to reduce the kinds of societal 

impacts, injuries and all the wider things that police deal with day to day. 

I did indeed get one response from a police officer I engaged with when I was stopped. I talked about this issue 

and he invited me to send in some more information—he was quite interested in the topic and in some of the 

evidence that Nick provided and in some other things as well. I sent him a fair few things. He then emailed me 

back from his police account telling me he actually thought the helmet law should be repealed for adults. 

Similarly, when I have been to court, most of my helmet fines have been waived by magistrates on the basis that 

they can see these laws are just unhelpful. The magistrate in my case said this law is very unhelpful due to the 

amount of time it was taking up through the judicial system for such a trivial offence that had no real benefit to 

society. 

Sue Abbott, who is another campaigner on this issue and who has been to court many times, went to the 

District Court on appeal on a bicycle matter and the judge in that case actually said—after reviewing much of the 

same evidence that has been submitted to this committee—that he felt that there was no evidence that wearing a 

bicycle helmet would actually help in the event of the injury you were going to get and that bicycle helmet laws 

should be a matter of choice. So when we are in a situation where the police and the judicial system are flagging 

that this is not a helpful law, this is not an easy thing to do and this is a waste of time then I think we have to ask 

questions about whether this is a law that should be sustained. 

CHAIR:  The Brisbane bicycle hire scheme, I understand it is popularly referred to as 'Newman's folly'. Is that 

true? Can you explain why if that is the case? 
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Mr Dow:  I can think of some other things that are called 'Newman's folly' now. 

CHAIR:  We are only on bicycle helmets here. 

Mr Woodall:  I do not agree with that. I am a big supporter of public bicycle schemes. I think it was great that 

Brisbane took that first step. I am not a great admirer of Newman's politics more generally but I think he was on 

the right track with the bike scheme. But, unfortunately, as many people said prior to the introduction of that 

scheme, and sadly it was kind of shown afterwards and similarly when the scheme in Melbourne was launched—

Senator Canavan, you already pointed out the data—that the usage levels of these schemes is very low. You have 

to look at them and say they have been a failure. One of the reasons why it got called 'Newman's folly' was 

because nobody is using it. But I do not see that as the fault of the then Premier; I think the problem actually is 

helmet laws. 

When we look at surveys that have been done into why those schemes are not used, 60 per cent of respondents, 

when asked why do they not use those bicycle share schemes, refer to helmets as the reason—either they do not 

want to wear one or they could not find one. So to say that helmets are not a significant barrier to use of those 

types of schemes is wrong. It is a very significant reason why those bicycle share schemes in Australia are not 

succeeding. 

CHAIR:  When I have discussed that, including with journalists, I have said that people do not want to wear 

helmets that other people have been wearing. There is a perception of lice and that sort of stuff, which actually is 

not real but there is a perception of it. Is that the reason or is it just that they look ugly or they do not want to get 

helmet hair because they get sweaty in them or what is it that they do not like about them? 

Mr Woodall:  I think it actually has a lot to do with convenience. The whole principle of a bike share scheme 

is that you jump on it without having to think. It is not something that requires consideration. It is not something 

that requires planning. I walked up from Flinders Street Station today. It would have been a great trip to go, 'You 

know what? I need to go up the hill so I will just jump on this bike and ride up there.' But all of a sudden there are 

these issues: is there a helmet, is it dirty, should I go and buy one? The problem with it is not so much the specific 

problem of the size of the helmet or of the lice, it is more that these schemes require spontaneity in order to work. 

If you put a barrier in—it does not have to be a particularly big barrier–all of a sudden you say, 'You know what, I 

will walk, I will take the tram or I will jump in taxi,' because those options are immediate so you are suddenly 

making an option that requires thought and planning versus something that is immediate and of course it then 

drops away as a choice. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Mr Dow, I might be getting the evidence you provided slightly wrong. You mentioned 

something about the humanities of old to know how to fall at slow speeds but when we get faster we are a bit 

more clumsy. Has there ever been thought given to say in urban areas or on bike paths having of some kind of 

speed limits on bikes—if you are not going above a certain speed then you do not have to wear a helmet? I know 

that would be very hard to enforce because you do not have a speedometer necessarily. But presumably there 

could be a rule of thumb that if you are just above jogging or running pace you are fine. Has that ever been given 

some thought to? 

Mr Dow:  I do not believe that has ever been proposed as a reform to the law even though it would make quite 

a lot of sense. I think the evidence on the link between speed and head injuries has not been looked at much in the 

past and it is emerging more of an effect for that. You will notice the doctors did not talk about it, for example. It 

has not been on the radar so it has not been considered but it would make a lot of sense to require helmets if you 

exceed speeds of, say, 20 kilometres an hour. 

CHAIR:  There are speed limits on bicycles paths in parts of Sydney. Are you aware of that? 

Mr Dow:  Do you mean on shared paths? 

CHAIR:  On pedestrian and cycle paths. 

Mr Dow:  Yes, shared paths. It is interesting. There are some in Melbourne but none of them are have any 

legal force. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Are they just sort of indicative? 

Mr Dow:  It is just councils sticking signs up. 

CHAIR:  I have no idea how they would enforce them or how the cyclists would know but they are there. 

Mr Dow:  The issue with cyclists and speed limits is that if you take a cyclist to court for breaking the speed 

limit, the courts will not convict them. 

Senator CANAVAN:  My understanding is that in the Territory, at least in the past, with cars was there was 

no formal speed limit but if you were driving dangerously, you would potentially be penalised. So something 
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potentially could apply to bikes that if you are operating at a moderate pace and reasonably safe that is fine. If you 

are hurtling down a shared path like you are in an Olympic event then you could get picked up. 

Mr Dow:  What the Norwegian paper pointed out was that high-speed cyclists wear helmets as part of the 

uniform—the lycra, the helmet and the fast bike—so that pretty much happens anyway. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Although there is still the risk to the safety of others in those environments as well. 

Mr Dow:  Yes, speed limits on shared paths. 

Senator CANAVAN:  What is your ideal change to the law? Mr Woodall, you did mention the benefits of an 

incremental approach. But what would you like to see? If you were dictator for a day, what would you do? 

Mr Woodall:  From my perspective, I would like to see the repeal of the law. It has been an unmitigated 

disaster in all aspects but I understand that for some people that may seem a challenge or too much. So I think 

either a phased withdrawal or two-year pilot or something is the way to get the legislation to be changed. That is 

possible. Another option would be decriminalisation: so keep the legislation on the rule book but just remove the 

penalty so that it sits there almost as an advisory note in the rules of the road but there is actually no penalty for 

not wearing a helmet. These are all ways of keeping an 'advisory' status, if you like, or a 'you should do this' status 

on a legislative level without actually creating these kinds of difficulties. 

But, no—if I were dictator for the day I would just wipe it all away! 

Senator CANAVAN:  Do you see it as a risk that if you repeal the law there will be some sort of signalling 

effect that helmets are not important and— 

Mr Woodall:  It is not so much that, because I think that, as we have seen from the number of submissions to 

this inquiry, those people who ride bikes actually care quite a lot about this issue. There are actually quite a lot of 

people out there who do care about helmets. I think that a lot of other people probably would not care. 

Where the difficulty comes is that if you repeal helmet laws tomorrow, somebody is going to have a head 

injury on a bike at some point— 

Senator CANAVAN:  Yes. 

Mr Woodall:  It is going to happen. At that point, of course, it is just a lot of backlash and things to deal with. 

So any withdrawal of the law or change to the law has to bear in mind that all the medical professionals who were 

arrayed before you before are going to leap up and down at the point where that happens. So we just need to make 

sure that however the law is changed, that it is just done in a way that accepts and is prepared for that outcome. 

Senator CANAVAN:  What are the current penalties? I have not yet seen in the submissions a comparison. Do 

you know, Mr Woodall? 

Mr Woodall:  It varies state by state. In New South Wales at the moment I believe the penalty is $87 if you 

just pay the ticket. If you go to court, the maximum penalty is $2,000. In Victoria I think it is $287—it is much 

higher. It is the same penalty as for driving through a red light or other similar offences. And again, if you elect to 

go to court, or the police take you directly to court without issuing a fixed penalty notice, then I think the penalty 

that the court can impose is about $3,000 maximum. 

Mr Dow:  The Australian Cyclists Party policy—if we were to form a government tomorrow—would— 

Senator CANAVAN:  What— 

CHAIR:  You can't laugh! 

Senator CANAVAN:  Sorry! 

Mr Dow:  It would be to do a trial of a Northern Territory- or Queensland-style reform of some sort, just to get 

confidence. We look forward to a time when there is no law for bicycle helmets because we have emphasised real 

safety. 

CHAIR:  We are running short of time, but there is an interesting aspect to Mr Woodall's submission, which is 

an evaluation framework for nanny state laws. This whole committee is focusing on nanny state, not just on 

bicycles. I found that interesting, and I am just wondering—for the committee and for Hansard—if you would 

like to explain your evaluation framework? 

Mr Woodall:  Yes, I would be delighted to have the opportunity. I suppose that when I came to this I was 

coming at it from a perspective of trying to understand. As I said in my introduction, there is some societal 

expectation that we are protected—in some cases from ourselves, but there is also this concern that things can be 

overreaching. 
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We have heard a lot of debate today about the comparative of bicycles versus cars and helmets. It is very 

difficult, because these things become very emotive. It is all about vegetables in intensive care wards or about 

freedom of choice and health, and all the rest of it. What I was attempting to do was to create something that was 

a little more objective, to say, 'Well, let's take away some of the emotion.' 

So I proposed five tests or principles for looking at whether a piece of legislation in this area, which is 

specifically about legislation that is designed, if you like, to protect people from themselves, is fair and equitable. 

The first test is the test of comparison, which is to ask, 'Is the proposed legislation applied equally across different 

areas?' The difficulty with this type of legislation is that it is somewhat prone to pressure groups or lobbyists. 

Bicycle helmet manufacturers, for example, sent representation down to the initial hearings done back in the 

1980s. Clearly, there is a huge commercial benefit to them to have bicycle helmet laws, so we need to be careful. 

The whole idea of the test of comparison is to make sure that we are not just picking on random things, that there 

is some sort of benchmark—that we are not just picking on things. 

And then there is the individual assessment risk: are people able to make a clear assessment for themselves? If 

I am able to make a good assessment of risk for myself, surely that is my business then to take that risk? There 

may be some activities where that is difficult to do, where it is difficult to make an assessment of risk for some 

reason. Alcohol might be an example: it seems very easy to determine how much alcohol to drink at the start of 

the night but after three drinks it gets harder and harder to do so. Clearly, things can impair our ability to judge 

risk. This is another test: is this something people need to be protected from because they are unable to make 

these judgements rationally themselves? 

The third principle was the burden-to-society test. This is the idea: are we doing something because we want to 

regulate an activity because it places a burden on society? It is interesting. In this, I want to make the distinction 

between a burden on society in terms of healthcare costs, which I think is an erroneous way to look at this, 

because at the end of the day there is a healthcare cost to everything—we would have to end up outlawing 

anything that had any negative health implication whatsoever, which would mean we would not be able to do 

anything at all, given I notice that air was classified as a carcinogen, so we cannot even breathe, or the hoo-ha 

about bacon—and the reality that the burden needs to be things which offer a more structural problem to 

society—things that will, if you like, impact on our sense of the fabric of society or the way we interact. I used 

hate speech as an example, not because I want to make any particular point about hate speech but to make the 

point that this is the kind of structural hazard that we need to watch out for. Are we regulating something because 

of some impact it has on wider society? 

The fourth principle was the side-effect test: are we sure that the legislation is framed in such a way that we are 

not going to see a side effect? It is all very well regulating activity A to say, 'This is dangerous,' and stop people 

doing it, but if in the course of that regulation you cause everyone to do something else that is equally dangerous, 

or we create some other side effect such as, in the bicycle helmet case, people giving up cycling, we are not 

succeeding. The intervention has not worked, because all we have done is play whack-a-mole; we are creating 

problems elsewhere as fast as we are solving them. 

The fifth principle was the scrutiny test. There was a lot of debate today around the lack of good data as to 

whether mandatory bicycle helmet laws have helped or hindered in Australia. One of the things that should be 

done when this sort of legislation is proposed and set up is to set up a proper before-and-after test, so we know 

what we are trying to do, we have documented the expected result, we introduce this legislation to generate a 

specific result and now we are going to measure whether it is successful. What I would recommend is that this 

type of legislation be introduced with a sunset clause which says that if after six months, two years, 10 years—

whatever the appropriate time frame is, depending on what the legislation is—that post-implementation 

assessment shows that the effects were not achieved, or there are side effects or whatever else, it should lapse. 

That way it forces us to be very rigorous, to make sure that such legislation is working. 

These are the five tests I put together as a way of thinking about it, to try and think, 'Could legislation meet 

these five things?' They are fairly strict, but the other point about this, when I was thinking through, is that there is 

legislation I can imagine that would meet all five criteria. There is always some debate—these are things where 

nothing can be completely black and white—but I think to bring some sort of objectivity into debate, so we can 

talk about what level of protection we require as a society and where the limit of nanny-statism is, would be 

helpful. 

CHAIR:  Very interesting. Thank you, gentlemen. 
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TODD, Mr Alan Stewart, President, Freestyle Cyclists Inc. 

[14:48] 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Thank you for appearing before the committee today. Do you want to make a brief 

opening statement? 

Mr Todd:  That would be a good idea. I am mindful that you may have heard more than you ever wanted to 

hear in a lifetime about bicycle helmets. Could there be any more? So, to some extent, I have modified my 

opening. I know this is not a debate between parties, but to some extent this is a bit of a summing-up of where I 

see the position of those of us who are not enchanted by mandatory helmet laws. Just a couple of clarifications at 

the beginning, which we have touched upon: the sort of cycling that Freestyle Cyclists is interested in is utility or 

transport cycling, the kind of cycling that is not only good for the person who does it but good for the whole of 

society if, by using a bicycle, you are using active transport rather than one of the more passive forms, such as 

driving or public transport. We are interested in the cycling that is good all round. When I say we are not 

interested in sport cycling, we put it in the same category as golf or tennis. It is a really good activity if you want 

to have a pleasurable sport, but it is not a cornerstone of transport and the development of more livable urban 

environments. 

I would also like to mention at the outset that if we were ever able to settle the question of helmet efficacy, or 

whether a helmet is effective in the event of an accident and to what extent—I do not think we ever will settle that 

argument, and I think 25 years of research suggests that we will not, but even if that question were settled and 

found to be in favour of the helmet—it still would not settle the question of law. The question of law is: should 

we force people to undertake this intervention, and, if they choose not to, should we punish them? 

It is often forgotten when we talk about mandatory laws that you do have to deal with dissent. In the case of 

bicycle helmets, dissent in the early days was very, very strong, and I believe it remains strong to this day. There 

was a sort of naive, wishful thinking—I think it was largely based on the fact that children were seen as the target 

audience—that we would just roll adults all up into the whole thing and make everybody wear helmets, and they 

would just go away and be good boys and girls and do it, but that does not always happen. So we have the issue 

of: what do you do with people who do not? That is probably the cornerstone of why this continues to cause so 

much angst 25 years after it was first introduced. 

Looking back over those 25 years, I see the mandatory helmet laws in Australia as being something of an 

experiment. If you like, the whole world has undertaken this experiment, and Australia and New Zealand have 

been the laboratory. It was undertaken without particularly good 'before' data—the collection of data before the 

event was not good—and we have even heard from the supporters of mandatory helmet laws that exposure data is 

woefully lacking, and a great deal of injury and hospitalisation data is not as good as it should have been, but the 

experiment sailed ahead nonetheless. 

After 25 years, the rest of the world has looked at this experiment and judged it a failure. Insofar as an 

experiment can be a failure, it can still lead to useful results. My view of why the rest of the world has judged this 

to be a failure is that the initiative actually failed to do what it set out to do. It did not reduce head injuries relative 

to exposure. I know that is open to dispute, but my best assessment of the evidence is that that is the case. It 

certainly does not appear to have made cycling safer, and it does appear to have significantly reduced 

participation in utility cycling. This view is based on ABS statistics of modal share, which you have heard a fair 

bit about already. 

We had the survey from VicRoads, which of course included numerical counts, including a bicycle rally that 

inflated figures. In my view, that survey is practically worthless. The other reason the Victorian survey is 

particularly unhelpful is that it failed to measure anything in rural areas. Just to clarify on 'rural areas': there is a 

tendency to think we mean farms with high-speed roads, but we should really talk about regional areas. I am 

looking at the regional centres, the towns and the regional cities. Regional cities like Bendigo, Ballarat and the 

major regional cities of Queensland had modal shares of about four per cent prior to helmets being made 

mandatory. That was cut to less than one per cent, where it remains today. I think the pro mandatory helmet lobby 

has failed to take account of what happened throughout Australia and concentrated far too much on the capital 

cities. I am sorry; I do not have the source for this, but my understanding is that more than half the cycling that 

took place in Victoria prior to 1990 actually took place outside Melbourne. 

Even today the effects of this remain. Cycling, despite what people say, is not booming. We have already 

looked at the National Cycling Strategy and the results of the biennial count surveys that are carried out on behalf 

of Austroads. What we have to look at today is whether helmets are still an impediment. Rissel and Wen found 

that, and the National Heart Foundation found that. One survey that has not been quoted yet today—this is new 
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information—is that the Royal Automobile Association of South Australia surveyed its members around the time 

of the VeloCity conference last year in Adelaide and 20 per cent of its members said they would ride more often 

if they did not have to wear a bicycle helmet. It is often trivialised—'only 20 per cent' or 'only 16 per cent'—but 

remember, we are looking at a country where less than one per cent of trips are made by bicycle. Within that 

context, 20 per cent of the population saying that if they did not have to wear a helmet they might ride a bike is 

hugely significant. 

The other thing we have seen in the 25 years is a paradigm shift in cycling. The shift has definitely gone from 

cycling as an everyday means of transport to cycling as a sport or recreation, particularly competitive fitness 

training type of sport where people ride fast. Incidentally, the Austroads survey found that about 75 per cent of 

the cycling in Australia is sport and recreational. We have also seen the popular narrative in relation to bike 

accidents shifting to blaming to the victim. I have really noticed this in press reporting. The first thing they ask is, 

'Was the person wearing a helmet?', with the implication that if they were not then the accident was somehow 

their fault and if they were wearing a helmet they had done all they could. So, we have seen that rather nasty shift 

in narrative towards blaming the vulnerable—because cyclists, like pedestrians, are vulnerable. 

After 25 years, the rest of the world, frankly, has moved on. We do not hear calls for mandatory bicycle 

helmets coming from the European Union or even from North America anymore. The working party on bike 

safety in the European union—I think that was one of the references in my submission—found insufficient 

evidence one way or the other on the effectiveness of bike helmets to make any recommendation. 

I cannot help feeling that the opposition to reform of bike helmet law that we are seeing—and we have seen 

some of it today—is something of a last gasp from a country that really has lost touch with the way cycling is 

developing in the rest of the progressive world. My view is that it is time to call time on this experiment. I have 

been a subject of this experiment for 25 years. I would like to be allowed to go home now. Thank you. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I want to start on one aspect of your evidence. This has come up a bit, but I have not 

really asked about it: you said cycling is not booming. To me, not a very regular cyclist, it seems to be at odds 

with the popular view that people are all in lycra now and go to catch up for coffee on Sunday mornings. Why is 

there this dichotomy between what is out there in terms of this being the new coolest thing to do and the actual 

data? You are saying it is not showing that. Is it just the lifestyle side of things that you are talking about? Or is it 

also just the general use of bikes? 

Mr Todd:  I think what you will find is that there has been a growth in sports cycling—and you mentioned 

coffee and lycra on a Sunday. That is fine, but Austroads, as part of the assessment of the implementation of the 

national strategy, has done biennial reports. They did them in 2011, 2013 and 2015. They found a shift in focus 

from utility to sports—not a big one by then; I think most of the shift had happened by 2011. But the actual 

measured participation through their survey technique showed that there has been a small but significant decline 

in participation in cycling per head of population. I think the notion that cycling is booming is easy to fall for. If 

you live in Melbourne and south of Bell Street in one of the inner suburbs, you will see that there has been 

significant growth in some areas, even in utility cycling. There has certainly been a huge growth in the sort of 

round-the-bay-in-five-minutes sports cycling. But, once you get out into the suburbs, go up the Calder Highway 

to Bendigo or along the Western Highway to Ballarat, it is different. I have driven through Bendigo at rush hour 

on a weekday morning—it is still a city with a rush hour rather than a rush day—and not seen one person across 

the whole city using a bike. In a city like Bendigo you do not need infrastructure. The roads are wide enough to 

turn a cart and horse in and the traffic is not heavy, but cycling in regional areas has really borne the brunt while 

cycling in inner urban areas has shown some recovery. 

Senator CANAVAN:  But, then again, if I were going to make a choice to commute by bike to work in, say, 

Bendigo, having to buy and wear a helmet does not seem a massive barrier to making that choice. I did use to 

commute to work on a bike in Canberra, and I tell you what: the cold and the frost were much more of a barrier 

than wearing a helmet. That is one thing in the evidence that has been presented. How do you explain that issue? 

Is wearing a helmet really such a big hassle? How can it account for this— 

Mr Todd:  It is interesting that you mention Canberra. I live in a place that is almost as cold, and my preferred 

headwear in winter is a woolly beanie and my preferred headwear in summer is a broad-brimmed hat. Why is it a 

barrier? That is a big question that would probably involve a fairly sociological examination or elements of 

psychology. Governments at local, state and federal levels—all levels of government—have active transport 

policies that seek to encourage more people to ride rather than use their cars. If that is what you want to do, you 

just have to accept that, if helmets are a barrier, they are a barrier. You cannot just ignore it and pretend it is not 

there. Personally, I feel like an absolute dill with a bike helmet on. You might say that is trivial, but the way you 

appear in public and what you wear on your head are terribly important. Most people who travel are allowed to 
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make that choice for themselves. The occupants of cars, trains and buses and people on foot can make that choice, 

but cyclists are not allowed to make that choice. Their presentation in public is dictated by the state, and that does 

seem to put an awful lot of people off. There are the practical difficulties. I hesitate to mention helmet hair 

because, again, it seems to trivialise things, but there does seem to be a reluctance amongst women to wear 

helmets. Teenage girls, I believe, are one of the biggest demographics that just about gave up cycling altogether 

when helmets were required. 

In answer to your question, I can see that, in the scheme of things, it is not difficult to pick up a helmet and put 

it on, but, if someone does not want to do it, they will not. I have used this analogy in the past: it would not be 

hard for men to put on a skirt and high heels to go to work, but they are not going to want to do it. Maybe a 

helmet is not quite that extreme, but it does seem to push the wrong buttons for a lot of people. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I will ask you what we have asked others. What would be your preferred policy? I think 

you might have mentioned that you want to go back home with a complete repeal. Do you see a particular 

pathway towards home, in your words, which might involve some other changes first? 

Mr Todd:  My response will be a little complex because my own personal view is that complete repeal is the 

end point and, if we want to get there, the sooner the better. At Freestyle Cyclists, we have largely steered clear of 

the issue of children because it is just incredibly emotive. We have made a decision that that is not an area we are 

looking at at this stage. I would point out, however, that the safest child cyclists in the world are in the 

Netherlands, which wins on all counts, including on children's safety, and they do not wear helmets. So I guess I 

am in the position of having to take a bit of a political punt here. I thought the Queensland model was a very 

sensible compromise with public opinion. I say that carefully because I do not think there is very much evidence 

that a helmet will actually do any good at all in a 60-kilometres-an-hour-plus accident with a vehicle. In some 

ways, they are the very places— 

Senator CANAVAN:  Is that with the car going 60 kilometres an hour? 

Mr Todd:  Yes, the car—I will talk about bike speed later, if I can—but in the highway situation, where you 

might be hit by a car at speed. But I think there is something intuitively appealing to the public in winding back 

by going to the roads under 60 kilometres, certainly the separated bike paths, and the shared paths. For age, I 

would tend to go for 16 as the age, purely based on the fact that it is really good to get adolescents on a bike 

before it is too late. If 16 is too late, I would make it 15. 

CHAIR:  Thank you for you submission. You raised a really interesting question. We have heard a lot of 

evidence plus some arguments about whether or not the introduction of mandatory helmets has reduced cycling 

participation. The statistics seem to suggest that is what occurs, post helmets. But you asked the question: are 

helmets still an impediment? So, in other words, after 25 years maybe the deterrent effect has worn off and they 

are no longer an impediment. You cited a survey by the Royal Automobile Association of South Australia in 

which their members said they would ride more if no helmet was required. Are you aware of any other evidence 

that says helmet laws are still an impediment? 

Mr Todd:  I have read the National Heart Foundation's paper, which I believe they did in conjunction with a 

Cycling Promotion Fund, which found helmet wearing, as a single issue, identified as a deterrent in 16 per cent of 

cases, and Professor Rissel's and Dr Wen's paper on cycling participation, which identified, I think, that it was 

around 20 per cent discouragement. 

CHAIR:  I guess the issue for us is that while there seems to be some evidence that mandatory helmet laws 

caused a reduction in cycling participation that does not prove that if the mandatory helmet laws did not exist 

there would be an increase in participation. What do you think about that? What evidence is there for that? 

Ms Robinson:  We will never find out in Australia if we do not try. I do not have figures, so I am at a bit of a 

loss here. But Israel and Mexico both had national helmet legislation and they both repealed it in the last few 

years, largely in order to get their public bike-share working, because they say quite sensibly that it would not 

work with helmets. I believe their public bike-shares have been very successful. I do not have the figures on that, 

but it would be worth pursuing so as to have a real-world example of the effect of repealing the law. 

CHAIR:  Do you have any data on those two? I don't think we got it in the submissions, did we? 

Mr Todd:  I do not actually have any data on these at my fingertips. 

CHAIR:  What can you tell us about the Northern Territory, then? They have relaxed their helmet laws. 

Mr Todd:  The Northern Territory, I understand, has one of the highest participation rates in cycling in the 
country. Again, the measure of safety against exposure is difficult in Australia. I have done my own back-of-the-

envelope of the number of deaths per year in the Territory as against an estimate of cycling, taking the four per 
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cent modal share. Also, I have had a conversation with a South Australian gentleman who worked for their 

Department of Planning, Transport and Infrastructure, who was fairly au fait with the Territory's figures. I believe 

the bicycle injury and death rate in the Territory is comparable to that of the rest of the country. It is in the same 

ball park. The interesting thing when you are talking about the Territory is that the deaths per 100 million 

kilometres travelled in the Territory for all road users is off the scale. It is the worst figure in the OECD. So you 

have the background in the Territory of incredibly unsafe road conditions, but the cyclists who are not required to 

wear a helmet seem to enjoy similar levels of safety to the rest of Australia. 

Some people talked a little bit before about Australia being a world leader in road safety. That is a little bit 

inaccurate. I looked up the figures on the BITRE website—that is the Bureau of Infrastructure, Transport and 

Regional Economics; they crunch the figures for these things, and Australia sits on the OECD average for vehicle 

safety. The Northern Territory is way off the wall, and the ACT is safer than the Netherlands, so there is variation 

within Australia, but as a country we are average. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I meant to ask earlier: is there evidence on helmet use in the Northern Territory or 

Darwin? Is it much different, notwithstanding the different legal environment? 

Mr Todd:  I have only seen videos of people riding in Darwin, and they do not appear to wear helmets on their 

bike tracks, but I am not aware of the actual evidence. 

CHAIR:  What can you tell us about the public bicycle hire schemes in Brisbane and Melbourne and how well 

they are doing or not doing, and what reasons? 

Mr Todd:  The success of public bike share is generally measured by uses per bicycle per day, which seems a 

reasonable way of comparing because that means you can compare a scheme with a small number of bikes with 

one with a large number of bikes. Melbourne's usage is below one use per bike per day. For CityCycle in 

Brisbane, I think it is around 0.3 uses per bike per day. There is one other new bike scheme in the world, in 

Seattle, where helmets are required, and they are tracking at below one use per bike per day. I think Dublin is one 

of the most successful schemes; it has the number of bikes as Melbourne and it has 10 uses per bike per day—so 

it is 10 times as successful. I do not at my fingertips have the figure— 

Senator CANAVAN:  They do not require helmets? 

Mr Todd:  No. Nowhere in the world requires helmets for public bike share. And helmet wearing rates are 

pretty low on them. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Just to be clear: Seattle requires helmet use, you said? 

Mr Todd:  Seattle does. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Seattle requires helmet use and they are below one, consistent with Melbourne and 

Brisbane. 

CHAIR:  All three, the ones you just cited, are all below one, and they all require helmets. Are there any 

where helmets are not required that are failures as well? 

Mr Todd:  Not that I know of—not of a contemporary style of bike share. They all follow the same model, so 

they are quite comparable. 

CHAIR:  And you said Dublin is 10. I suppose it would be easy to say that the difference between Dublin and 

Brisbane or Dublin and Melbourne would be the helmets. But there is more to it than that, isn't there? 

Mr Todd:  Helmets are the absolute sticking point. There are other differences. We have developed a culture 

in Melbourne that is not particularly favourable to the casual, one-off rider. As we have heard before, that is what 

bike share initially depends upon. It often also gives a bit of a kick-start to a city, in getting the citizens more 

interested in using bikes. A fairly interesting example is New York. There were dire predictions made in the US 

press prior to the New York scheme being launch, that the sidewalks of New York would be slippery of the brains 

of cyclists—shock horror stuff. They have not had one single death, not one single serious injury. I think they are 

approaching 20 million trips. Twenty million is the magic figure with bike share. There is approximately one 

fatality per 20 million trips worldwide. So bike share in New York has not resulted in this terrible increase in 

injuries. In fact, there was a study done in North American cities with bike share, which used as the comparison 

group cities without bike share, and they found that the cities with bike share had reduced accident and injury 

rates—both reduced head injury rates and all injury rates when compared with cities without bike share.  So bike 

share seems to launch a very safe kind of riding. There are some figures emerging for that. An Australian 

academic, Elliot Fishman, working at the University of Utrecht in the Netherlands, jointly with academics there, 
has produced what is at this stage a conference paper, but it is due for publication, measuring the fatality rate 

across bike share schemes in eight cities in North America, Europe, and I think Australia is included—so they are 
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not going to get much participation there—and they have come up with a fatality rate of one fatality per one 

hundred million kilometres. If you put that in context, you could get on your bike 20,000 years ago, ride out of the 

cave and into the Palaeolithic era and ride 15 kays a day—which is quite a bit—day in, day out for 20,000 years 

before you would reach 100 million kilometres. That is an awful lot of cycling per fatality. It is really quite a safe 

thing to do if you do it properly. 

CHAIR:  There is an obvious conclusion. Some people earlier today said that the 'safety in numbers' effect is 

relevant, but you would also have to conclude from what you have just said that the individuals who choose to use 

Bike Share are very cautious riders and therefore safer than, maybe, the middle-aged men in lycra. 

Mr Todd:  I think there is strength in that argument. Obviously the biggest fear for cyclists is being hit by 

motor vehicles, but a lot of cyclists' accidents are single-bike accidents. Some of that is to do with the way people 

ride. What I am going to say is very unpopular with cycling groups, because they do not like to feel that the finger 

is being pointed at their behaviour, but a joint paper was published between the Monash University Accident 

Research Centre and Alfred Health, both organisations that are strongly supportive of mandatory helmets, and in 

2012, in a study of cyclists in the Bayside area of Melbourne, they found: 

Only a single factor, cyclist speed before the crash, proved to be a significant predictor of head injury risk from the modelling 

exercise. A cyclist travelling at 30kph or over prior to the crash was estimated to have nearly 5 times the odds of sustaining a 

head injury in the crash compared to a cyclist travelling below 20kph. 

So there you have me on my bike sitting up, looking where I am going, breaking the law without my helmet, and I 

am passed by, let's say for argument's sake, a neurosurgeon on his weekend training ride, fanging along at 35 

kilometres an hour, with his helmet on but with his head down and his bottom up, not very good visually. He is 

putting himself at five times the risk of head injury that I am putting myself at. So the speed of the cyclist has to 

be part of the equation, because in any crash, if you double the speed, there is four times the energy dissipation. It 

is just physics. 

I think cyclist speed is a really under-researched area of bicycle safety, and it is possibly one of the key reasons 

why Bike Share is relatively safe. I have read that Cadel Evans said he tried to get a Melbourne Bike Share bike 

up to 30 kilometres an hour but could not. These are not fast bikes. 

CHAIR:  Perhaps the law should be changed so that neurosurgeon bike riders should wear helmets but other 

riders should not be obliged to. 

Mr Todd:  I think it would be very hard to enforce, because we do not have speedometers. 

CHAIR:  Neurosurgeons do not have it tattooed on their foreheads. I am joking. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I did ask before this. Yes, speed limits would be very hard to enforce. 

Mr Todd:  I think that would be almost self selecting. If you repealed mandatory helmet laws in Australia 

today, the people who would take their helmets off would be the people who are already going slowly. The people 

who would ride more are people like me, who are deterred, and the people who like speeding or going for high-

speed sports activities would wear helmets. 

The issue is bedevilled with anecdotes, but I was fortunate enough to visit Utrecht earlier this year. When I got 

on the train in Amsterdam and headed off to Utrecht, the first 45 cyclists I saw were wearing lycra and helmets 

and they were travelling at speed. It was a Sunday afternoon, and the Dutch are just the same as us: they have one 

per cent of the population who love riding their bikes fast at the weekend. They were going past a canal. That is 

how they choose to dress and that is how they choose to ride. Once I got to Utrecht itself, the next 50,000 people I 

saw were not wearing helmets, they were sitting up and they were riding about the same speed as me. 

CHAIR:  Mammals versus mammoths, as the saying goes. 

Mr Todd:  Yes. It is not a conflict. They are different activities. 

CHAIR:  Yes, different cultural groups. Bernard Salt has described them well. Thank you very much, Mr 

Todd, for your evidence. 

Proceedings suspended from 15:19 to 15:32 
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PARKER, Mr Stephen, Lawyer, VicRoads 

SEYMOUR, Ms Robyn, Director Vehicle and Road Use Policy, VicRoads 

CHAIR:  I now welcome Ms Robyn Seymour and Mr Stephen Parker from VicRoads. I remind committee 

members and officers that the Senate has resolved that an officer of a department of the Commonwealth or of a 

state shall not be asked to give opinions on matters of policy and shall be given reasonable opportunity to refer 

questions asked of the officer to superior officers or to a minister. This resolution prohibits questions asking for 

opinions on matters of policy and does not preclude questions asking for explanations of policy or factual 

questions about when and how policies were adopted. Thank you for appearing before the committee today. 

Would you like to make an opening statement? 

Ms Seymour:  Yes, I would. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Go ahead. 

Ms Seymour:  I am Director Vehicle and Road Use Policy at VicRoads. In this role I am responsible for 

recommending government policy; developing new initiatives and programs to improve the safety of vehicles and 

protective equipment through the design standards and guidelines; consumer advocacy and registration policy; 

preparing road users of all ages to be able to access the road system safely; ensuring that road users do not use the 

road system until they are capable and motivated to do so safely; managing behaviours that impact the safe 

performance of the road system; and encouraging the safe use of sustainable transport modes and assisting road 

users to take responsibility for making safe choices. 

VicRoads is the lead road safety agency responsible for ensuring the safety of all road users in Victoria. We 

work closely with our road safety partners, including the Transport Accident Commission, Victoria Police, the 

Department of Justice and Regulation and the Department of Health and Human Services, to achieve ongoing 

reductions in the number and severity of road crashes and the resultant cost of road trauma. VicRoads is a 

statutory authority established under the Transport Act 1983. VicRoads has responsibility for the following 

legislation: the Road Safety Management Act 2004, the Road Safety Act 1986, the Road Safety Road Rules 2009 

and all associated regulations. VicRoads also has obligations under the Transport Integration Act 2010. 

Victoria's approach to road safety is informed by the Safe System philosophy, a system adopted by countries 

which lead the way in road safety. The Safe System takes into account the interaction between vehicles, roads, 

speeds and road users. It recognises that humans have a limited tolerance to crash energy levels before being 

injured or killed. The Safe System makes allowances for people making mistakes on the road and mitigates the 

consequences of such mistakes through safer roads, safer road sides, safer vehicles, safer speeds and compliant 

road users. Protective technologies such as seatbelts, vehicle safety systems and bike helmets each form a vital 

part of the overall Safe System approach. 

Cyclists are legitimate road users and are recognised as being more vulnerable to injury or death when 

compared to a driver of a motor vehicle. Wearing a properly fitted Australian standards approved bike helmet 

plays an essential part in the promotion of safe road use by cyclists. The introduction of mandatory helmet laws in 

Victoria followed an almost decade long education and awareness campaign to voluntarily increase helmet 

wearing rates across the population, particularly among children and adolescents. 

In 1990, the average wearing rate was 31 per cent. Concern regarding the proportion of the population using 

helmets is noted in the House of Representatives Standing Committee on Road Safety report 1978 and again in 

the inquiry into child pedestrian and bicycle safety in 1986—the latter report recommending that mandatory 

helmet use by cyclists be introduced as soon as possible. Victoria introduced mandatory helmet laws for cyclists 

in 1990 and a new regulation—regulation 1305—was inserted into the Road Safety Traffic Regulations 1988. In 

March 1991, the average wearing rate of bike helmets had increased to 75 per cent. Recent research suggests that 

the current wearing rate is around 90 per cent. 

In all safety related fields, the basic assessment of risk involves weighing the likelihood of an event occurring 

and the consequences of it occurring. A head injury can have a dire consequence. Access Economics estimates 

that the lifetime cost of a severe brain injury at $4.5 million. This figure includes treatment and care costs, the 

cost of adaptive equipment lost productivity. It does not reflect the personal cost to the individual, their family 

and friends and the community. 

A rider wearing a helmet will be protected from the full force of an impact to the head, as the helmet dissipates 

the transference of kinetic energy. A helmet with meets the Australian standards is one of the few personal 
protections a cyclist can use. Wearing a properly fitted Australian standards approved bike helmet offers 

significant protection to a cyclist's brain in the event of a crash. VicRoads acknowledges that, for some people, 
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the requirement to wear a helmet represents a deterrent to cycling. However, VicRoads' own market research and 

surveys conducted by other agencies have repeatedly identified that concern for safety, including traffic volumes, 

speed and nonavailability of off-road paths represent a greater deterrent to cycling. Through the Safe System 

approach, VicRoads is actively working to address these great deterrents to cycling in ways that are consistent 

with the Safe System approach. An example of the work VicRoads does in this regard is bicycle network 

planning, which identifies and improves bicycling routes throughout Melbourne and regional Victoria. 

Concerns about safety are also frequently raised by parents who are reluctant to allow their children to ride to 

school. In 1988, before the helmet laws were introduced, the Australian Bureau of Statistics identified over 25 

factors that would encourage more cycling in New South Wales. Among the top 10 factors identified were time, 

the availability of bikes, bike paths, cycle ways and less traffic. These factors are similar to issues identified in 

more recent times as deterrents to cycling. Safety rather than mandatory helmet laws is the biggest issue to be 

addressed in lessening identified deterrents to cycling. VicRoads and our road safety partners are committed to 

the Towards Zero strategy, which operates under the ethical proposition that no-one should be killed or seriously 

injured on our roads. Keeping cyclists safe on our roads is a key priority for VicRoads, and mandatory helmet 

laws are a critical component of the VicRoads 'Safe System' approach to road safety. 

CHAIR:  Do you have anything to add, Mr Parker? 

Mr Parker:  No. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I think it would be useful for the committee to get on record what the legal situation is 

in Victoria. I did ask a previous witness, but you would know better. What are the penalties at the moment for not 

wearing a helmet? 

Mr Parker:  It is five penalty units, which equates to $758.35. 

Senator CANAVAN:  So, if you are not wearing a helmet, you get fined $758? 

Mr Parker:  Five penalty units. 

CHAIR:  Seven hundred and fifty-eight dollars for not wearing a helmet? 

Senator CANAVAN:  That is a lot higher than other witnesses said. 

Ms Seymour:  That is the maximum penalty. 

Senator CANAVAN:  So what would a typical— 

Mr Parker:  No; that is the penalty. 

Senator CANAVAN:  There is no discretion? 

Mr Parker:  That is the penalty for not wearing a bike helmet, although the infringement penalty will be less 

than that, if it is dealt with by infringement. But the penalty in the regulations is five penalty units. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Sorry, Mr Parker; I am not overly familiar with state laws. What is the difference 

between the penalty in the regulation and the infringement penalty? 

Mr Parker:  The infringement penalty is when it is sent out by infringement notice, like an on-the-spot fine, 

that type of thing. In that instance, if it is dealt with by infringement, then that is the end of the matter. 

Senator CANAVAN:  And how much is that? 

Ms Seymour:  One hundred and eighty-five dollars. 

Senator CANAVAN:  That is about what we heard earlier. If you get caught multiple times, are you more 

likely to be charged the $758? Is that how it works? 

Mr Parker:  The $758 is the full penalty. If the matter goes to court, that is the full amount that could be 

penalised. 

Senator CANAVAN:  That could potentially be charged. Have they stayed roughly the same over time? 

Mr Parker:  They have in respect of it being five penalty units, but the penalty unit gets increased each year, 

just by the CPI. 

Senator CANAVAN:  By inflation or something. Do you have data on how many people are charged or 

infringe and pay the fine? 

Ms Seymour:  I think that would be best responded to by Victoria Police.  

CHAIR:  I have got a follow-up on that. My information from the VicRoads website is that, in the first year 
following the introduction of mandatory helmets in Victoria, cycling offences leapt by 900 per cent, from 2,000 

per annum to 20,000 per annum in the first year. Even now, failure to wear a helmet accounts for over two-thirds 
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of all infringement notices issued to cyclists. Do you understand that to be correct? Does this suggest a degree of 

community opposition or lack of acceptance of the law? 

Ms Seymour:  The introduction of bicycle helmets in Victoria happened progressively over a very long period 

of time, so in the early 1980s there was a very significant road safety education campaign that was run through 

schools to encourage children in primary and secondary schools to wear helmets, plus there was a mass media 

campaign as well as an opportunity to get a rebate if you bought a bike helmet. Over that period of time, the use 

of helmets moved from about 10 per cent in 1983 to 35 per cent in 1988. There was a decision made that, in order 

to achieve the full potential and the safety benefit of a helmet, it was necessary to mandate helmet wearing. So 

that was then implemented in July 1990. Enforcement is an important part of any regulation, so, in order to 

encourage the uptake and use of a helmet—it then being mandatory—we needed to do good education so there 

was high public awareness that a helmet was required to be worn and what the benefit of that helmet was. There 

needs to be the regulation in place and then there needs to be enforcement. That is how you ensure effective 

implementation of any regulation. 

CHAIR:  The penalty was increased from one penalty unit to five penalty units in 2009, I understand. Do you 

know why this was done? Was it before your time? 

Ms Seymour:  It was before my time. 

CHAIR:  That is fair enough. I do not expect you to provide information if you are not aware of what is going 

on. Do you happen to know if any community consultation was undertaken at that time? 

Ms Seymour:  Given that I was not aware of the change, I am not sure, but we can take that on notice and get 

back to you. 

CHAIR:  That would be good, if you could. Would you also inquire whether a regulatory impact statement 

was prepared at that time? And, finally, could you indicate whether there was any reduction in cyclists' head 

injury rates as a consequence of, presumably, greater compliance, due to the higher penalty? 

Mr Parker:  Yes. 

Ms Seymour:  Yes. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I was also going to ask whether you know if any regulatory impact statements had been 

prepared. 

Ms Seymour:  2009 was when all of our regulation sunsetted, and all of those had to have— 

Senator CANAVAN:  These are road rules generally? 

Mr Parker:  My understanding is that the road rules are exempt from the requirement for a regulatory impact 

statement. 

Senator CANAVAN:  So—notwithstanding that particular exemption—no RIS was prepared? 

Mr Parker:  I do not know, from that time in 2009, but my understanding generally is that the road rules are 

exempt from it. 

CHAIR:  At the risk of stretching the friendship, could we just inquire as to the status of the regulatory impact 

statements relevant to this issue? If you find any, could you let us know. 

Mr Parker:  Certainly. 

CHAIR:  Could we have them, please. If you cannot find any, just let us know that there are not any, and that 

will be fine. 

Senator CANAVAN:  We have taken a fair amount of evidence today about the impacts of mandatory helmet 

laws on the choice to ride a bicycle and its consequent impact, potentially, on health outcomes from reduced 

exercise. Do you consult with colleagues in the department of health or other areas of government in terms of 

providing advice on these laws? 

Ms Seymour:  The Victorian Road Safety Partnership, which is made up of VicRoads, the Department of 

Health and Human Services, the Department of Justice and Regulation, Victoria Police and the Transport 

Accident Commission. So, as we develop new initiatives and new policies, we have a very strong communication 

between our respective agencies in relation to the development of new regulations. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Have you discussed the mandatory helmet laws with the department of health or other 

agencies in the Victorian government? 

Ms Seymour:  Not in my time. 

CHAIR:  What is your time, Ms Seymour? 
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Ms Seymour:  In this role? Eight weeks. 

CHAIR:  This is a bit tough, in that case. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Do you know who is actually responsible for running the bike share program in 

Melbourne? We have had a lot of evidence about that. Is that a Victorian government program? 

Ms Seymour:  It is a Victorian government program. It is PTV—Public Transport Victoria—which is 

responsible for the Melbourne bike share program. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Are they in your department more generally? 

Ms Seymour:  They are, in our broader department. 

Senator CANAVAN:  So it is in your broader portfolio but it is not in your area? 

Ms Seymour:  No. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Keeping in mind that we do not ask you for opinions on public policy, have you looked 

at or been asked to look at any issues around the take-up of that program and provide advice on ways to boost it? 

Ms Seymour:  No, I have not. 

Senator CANAVAN:  And you have only been in for eight weeks, as you say. 

CHAIR:  Have you been in the department for longer than that? 

Ms Seymour:  Yes, I have, and I have been the manager responsible for cycling behavioural issues for the last 

2½ years. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Do you know of any broader approach, schemes or options being considered to boost 

participation in the bike share program—which does seem low, relative to the take-up in other countries? 

Ms Seymour:  I am not aware of any. You would have to ask PTV.  

Senator CANAVAN:  We had a suggestion earlier today that one option would be to maintain the mandatory 

or compulsory nature of wearing a bike helmet but to decriminalise not wearing it. I am not expecting you to 

comment on options, but, to your knowledge, are there any other examples in the road rules where something is 

illegal but not enforced or penalised? 

Mr Parker:  I cannot think of an example off the top of my head, but I could check and also check with 

colleagues and get back to you on that. I cannot think of one. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I do not want to overly burden you, but yes, if that is possible. We have also taken 

some evidence on the fact that a cyclist's speed is a particularly strong determinant of injury in the event of an 

accident. What is the status at the moment in terms of, in Victoria, how fast you can ride on roads or bike paths? 

Is there any particular restriction? Even if it is just dangerous riding and not necessarily speed itself, is there any 

particular prohibition on people on a bicycle acting in a dangerous way, apart from not wearing a helmet? 

Ms Seymour:  The requirements in terms of speed and cycling are that you can ride at the designated speed 

limit. 

Senator CANAVAN:  So you cannot ride above the speed limit. That is for a road, obviously. 

Ms Seymour:  On a road. 

CHAIR:  What about on a bike track? 

Mr Parker:  I am not aware of there being a particular speed, but I expect it is about being safe in accordance 

with the road conditions, but I am not aware of there being any particular speed limit. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Presumably there could be more general laws on public safety and order, but you are 

not aware of that being of any relevance or use in this area in recent times? 

Mr Parker:  Not that I am aware of. 

Senator CANAVAN:  Given this evidence that has been presented to us about the issue of speed, is that 

something, Ms Seymour, that you are looking at, at all, or providing advice on about? Have you looked at that 

evidence yourself? I do not think you were here, but Mr Todd presented a paper to us saying that cyclist speed of 

above 30 kilometres an hour tends to be associated with more severe injuries. Is that something that you are aware 

of or considering? 

Ms Seymour:  That research sounds like it is consistent with the safe system approach, which talks about 

human tolerance. Without seeing it, that would be my assessment. 
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CHAIR:  That leads to a question that I want to ask you. Are you aware, in Victoria, of any systematic public 

review of the helmet legislation? 

Ms Seymour:  No, I am not. 

CHAIR:  Last year, as I understand, VicRoads called for public comment as part of a proposed review of 

cycling road rules. Are you aware of that? 

Ms Seymour:  Yes.  

CHAIR:  I understand that in that survey there were no questions asked relating to helmets? 

Ms Seymour:  That is correct. 

CHAIR:  My information is that helmet legislation is the most heavily policed bicycle road rule, so why were 

there no questions relating to helmets in the survey? 

Ms Seymour:  The survey was developed based on three previous components of that research project, which 

involved looking at the crash data, looking at a literature review and speaking to cycling stakeholders around what 

they thought were the key issues for cyclists in relation to road rules. Those cycling stakeholders did not raise 

helmets as being an issue of concern and so, based on that, we did not include it in the survey. 

CHAIR:  You have not called for public feedback in general on mandatory helmet laws? 

Ms Seymour:  There was an opportunity in the survey to provide any other matters, but it was only in that 

context that the issue of mandatory helmet laws could be raised. 

CHAIR:  Have you ever conducted an internal review of the helmet legislation? 

Ms Seymour:  VicRoads is very comfortable with the philosophy that the mandatory helmet law is really 

important in providing the level of protection to cyclists in relation to head injury. Based on that evidence, we are 

very comfortable that the regulation is justified and sound. 

CHAIR:  The only thing with that is exactly what you said: it is directed at head injuries. Humans are not just 

heads. So there are other aspects of their health and their bodies which you could perhaps take into account. We 

have heard evidence from other witnesses here today that the actual risk to their heads in the absence of a helmet 

is limited. Although, it is not denying the fact that there is a risk, especially as Senator Canavan said, above a 

certain speed. There is also evidence that we have heard that discouraging cycling has adverse health 

consequences in terms of lack of exercise, potential for obesity and those sorts of things, not to mention the 

environmental aspects—for example, most people who do not ride a bike drive a car. Are those things taken into 

account in your thinking in this area, or is it all about the brain injury or the head injury? 

Ms Seymour:  We have asked the community through market research work, 'What are the barriers to the 

uptake of cycling?' because VicRoads is committed to encouraging and supporting cycling in Victoria. The 

responses we have got through our market research, plus looking at the other market research available on the 

topic, does not show helmets as being one of the primary deterrents to cycling. It relates more to the perception of 

safety and infrastructure. 

In terms of Victoria's focus to help support the uptake of cycling, that has been focusing on trying to address 

some of those issues to do with the infrastructure. This government has committed $100 million to improving the 

safe infrastructure for cyclists and pedestrians. Plus there is other work looking at strategic cycling corridors to 

make sure that we are supporting cycling in this state by ensuring that we have linked up paths so that there is that 

separation between cyclists and vehicles, particularly given their vulnerability. 

Senator CANAVAN:  With all due respect, Ms Seymour, saying that other factors are more important is a 

little bit of a red herring, in my view, in terms of this question, because you were here earlier when I said the 

biggest barrier to me riding when I lived in Canberra was not the infrastructure we had around, it was the cold and 

the frost—except you can do anything about that. I recognise the efforts of the Victorian government to invest in 

infrastructure, but we have had a surprisingly disproportionate number of witnesses from regional Victoria 

complaining about the laws. They are unlikely, I would suspect, to receive a lot of investment from that 

infrastructure spending. That is not a criticism. A lot of these towns are not big enough to justify large spends in 

cycle infrastructure. 

I am not asking your opinion, but from a policy perspective, shouldn't we weigh up the costs and benefits of 

mandatory health laws on their own merits, not that there aren't other things we could do, of course, and some of 

those we have progressed. But, surely, we can look at the costs and benefits of these laws on their own. 

Ms Seymour:  One of the things that concerns VicRoads is that cycling in regional and rural communities 

means that cyclists are riding on high-speed rural roads and highways, and often those roads do not necessarily 
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have a sealed shoulder so they are absolutely in the traffic lane riding with very high-speed vehicles. That, from a 

safety perspective, is a concern. Wearing helmets is an important aspect of trying to protect our cyclists. The 

consequences of brain injury to that individual, their family, their friends and their community is significant. 

CHAIR:  If a cyclist is wearing a helmet, it is not going to make much difference if they are impacted by a 

vehicle on a country road travelling at high speed. Is prohibiting cycling on those roads under consideration? 

Ms Seymour:  No, it is not. 

CHAIR:  What difference does it make whether they are wearing a helmet or not? They are cactus either way. 

Senator CANAVAN:  That is a matter of opinion. I live in a regional town. Ms Seymour, presumably you live 

in Melbourne. 

Ms Seymour:  I live in Melbourne, but my family live in regional Victoria. 

Senator CANAVAN:  I take your point about some regional areas, but there is actually usually a town in a 

regional area as well. It is not 100-kilometre roads and it is not necessarily without guttering and shoulders. I am 

not from regional Victoria; I am from regional Queensland. Certainly in my town there are very wide streets in 

some areas, and it would be perfectly safe. Of course, there are not a lot of bike paths in my town and there never 

will be. In the context of wanting to keep Victorians safe—and that is an admirable goal—there seem to be very 

different issues for regional Victoria if you are only looking, particularly, at investment in infrastructure and bike 

paths. It is going to leave a lot of people without that option—and you can take that as a comment. 

CHAIR:  On VicRoads website there is a statement which reads: 

Even though bicycle helmets are mandatory, the number of people cycling is increasing each year. 

We have heard evidence to suggest that that may be incorrect. The Austroads surveys carried out as part of the 

ongoing assessment of the National Cycling Strategy shows that the rate of bicycle use in Victoria is actually in 

decline. Do you accept that? 

Ms Seymour:  I would need to check that evidence. 

CHAIR:  Would you like to take that one on notice? I do not want to put you on the spot too much today. 

Ms Seymour:  Sure. 

Senator CANAVAN:  We have received a fair amount of evidence. I am not sure if you are aware that the 

Northern Territory relaxed their laws some 20-odd years ago now to allow non-helmet bike riding on bike paths, 

shared paths and, I believe, roads with low speed limits—although, for a long time I do not think they had speed 

limits in the Northern Territory, did they? Have you looked at the experience of that area of our country with 

those laws and what impact they have had? 

Ms Seymour:  No, we have not. 

Senator CANAVAN:  You can take this as a comment, but I would advise you to do that because there was 

some interesting evidence presented to this committee about the impact of a set of laws that are different from 

those in rest of the country on cyclists' use and also on injuries and trauma from cycling. 

Ms Seymour:  One of the things that I have read is that 75 per cent of cycling crashes actually do not involve 

another road user. That means a cyclist has fallen or hit something, in which case from a safe system perspective, 

a helmet is really important to protect a very vulnerable part of your body and ensure that you are not seriously 

injured in that crash. From our perspective on bike paths and shared paths, helmet wearing is really important, and 

the basis of it still stands. 

Senator CANAVAN:  As I have said previously—you were not here—I think we should base all laws on 

evidence, particularly laws like this which restrict freedom. Certainly, the evidence from the Territory seems a bit 

at odds with that statement. 

CHAIR:  There are ABS figures which only count trips to work, but they give us some sort of a guide to 

cycling participation. They show a consistent drop in regional centres like Geelong, Bendigo and Ballarat from 

around four per cent of trips to work being by cycling to less than one per cent. This occurred after the 

introduction of mandatory helmet laws, and I am led to believe that that fall has remained the case to today. Some 

people have suggested, and I think you have agreed with them, that the number of bike riders has approached pre-

legislation levels. Is that your view? Doesn't this decline suggest that that is not the case? 

Ms Seymour:  That is my view. After the introduction of mandatory helmets we did see a decline for a couple 
of years, but then, according to the reports I have read, the cycling rates regained to the same position as prior to 

the law, and have increased since then. 
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CHAIR:  Can you tell me what you base that on—that is, your view that they have returned to pre-legislation 

levels? 

Ms Seymour:  I will need to provide you with the research. 

CHAIR:  There is a statement on VicRoads website saying: 

There was also an immediate reduction in bike riders, however by 1992 the numbers of bike riders had approached pre-

legislation levels. 

Would that be the one? 

Ms Seymour:  Yes, that is right. 

CHAIR:  If you go to the original report this is based on, it involved a count of cyclists in 1992 that included a 

one-off cycling rally passing through one of the observation sites, which inflated the count for 1992, and no 

correction was made for that. Had that site been excluded from all three annual counts, due to its distortion, no 

recovery would have been recorded. Are you aware of that? 

Ms Seymour:  No, I am not. 

CHAIR:  What I am suggesting to you is that perhaps your reliance on that information cited on your website 

may be erroneously based. Have you actually ever carried out a survey or anything similar on the effect of 

mandatory helmet laws on cycling participation outside Melbourne? 

Ms Seymour:  Not in the time that I have been in this role. 

CHAIR:  The National Cycling Strategy has some noble aspirations in it, in terms of cycling participation, but 

the evidence we have heard suggests that it does not have a snowball's hope of being achieved. There have been 

several witnesses who have said they place great faith in infrastructure being the solution to that. Yet, the biggest 

reductions in cycling participation after mandatory helmets came in were in regional areas. Also, as Senator 

Canavan has pointed out, the likelihood of regional areas getting infrastructure upgrades to the standard of 

connected pathways to get them off roads, to increase safety, is not very great. Are we really talking about 

infrastructure being the solution? The National Cycling Strategy is going to struggle for a long time, isn't it, if we 

are just going to rely on infrastructure? 

Ms Seymour:  In terms of encouraging the uptake of cycling, I think there is a range of things we need to do. 

A large part of that is infrastructure. Also, I am aware that organisations like Bicycle Network run programs to 

encourage children to ride to school. That is a really important part of encouraging the long-term uptake of 

cycling. We have a bike-ed program that we have available. It is those kinds of initiatives, in combination with 

infrastructure, the requirement to wear helmets, and supporting cyclists, that will see the future uptake of cycling 

in Victoria. Regional infrastructure is important as part of that mix. 

CHAIR:  All of that depends on taxpayers having enough money to pay for all this infrastructure. Taxpayer 

spending on infrastructure is always under serious challenge. I am just wondering whether it is not a forlorn hope 

that cycling's future depends on all this spending on infrastructure. 

Ms Seymour:  Part of it is being really deliberate about the choices we make around where we improve the 

infrastructure. Strategic Cycling Corridors, for example, is really looking at where the main areas and routes are 

that cyclists are using to get to the key locations they want to cycle to and is prioritising the infrastructure 

upgrades in those sites to maximise both the safety and the participation in cycling in those high-use areas. 

CHAIR:  It is hard to avoid the feeling that Australia is going its own route on this. Australia, New Zealand 

and the United Arab Emirates are the only countries in the world with enforced mandatory helmet laws. Even 

after 25 years no other countries have chosen to go down this path. Do you think we know something they do not 

or that they know something we do not? 

Ms Seymour:  VicRoads is very proud of its performance in the road safety sphere. We have led the world 

with a number of regulations, seatbelts being one and bicycle helmets being another. They form really important 

parts of the safety features available to road users, to help protect them in the event of a crash. VicRoads is very 

committed to ensuring that we do protect our vulnerable road users and our other road users, which sits well with 

the premise under Safe System and the Towards Zero strategy that no-one should be killed or seriously injured in 

the event of a crash. 

CHAIR:  The effect of mandatory seatbelts was not to deter people from driving their cars. After 25 years 

there is not a lobby group, nor even a political party now, committed to ending seatbelts. There now is in relation 
to mandatory helmets. No other countries have taken up mandatory helmets, and yet nearly every country in the 

world has seatbelt legislation. There is quite a big difference there, don't you think? 
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Ms Seymour:  VicRoads is really comfortable with the evidence that supports the mandating of bike helmets 

in Victoria. 

CHAIR:  What a loyal servant. Thank you for your evidence. We appreciate it. Thank you to all the witnesses 

who have appeared today. Thanks also to Hansard and broadcasting. 

Committee adjourned at 16:12 


